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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
Item 1.  Financial Statements 
 
                    TREDEGAR INDUSTRIES, INC. 
                   CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
                         (In thousands) 
                           (Unaudited) 
 
 
                                     September 30     December 31 
ASSETS                                   1994             1993    
                                                 
Cash and cash equivalents              $  10,449      $        -  
Accounts and notes receivable             76,617          70,173  
Inventories                               29,561          34,211  
Deferred income taxes                     11,016          11,555  
Prepaid expenses and other                 1,274             881  
   Total current assets                  128,917         116,820  
 
Property, plant and equipment            319,607         323,933  
   Less accumulated depreciation 
      and amortization                   192,919         188,531  
   Net property, plant and equipment     126,688         135,402  
 
Other assets and deferred charges         27,773          24,456  
Goodwill and other intangibles            30,884          45,729  
Cash and cash equivalents designated 
   for tender offer                       22,500               -  



Net assets of discontinued operations          -          30,976  
   Total assets                        $ 336,762      $  353,383  
 
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 
 
Accounts payable                       $  24,194      $   19,376  
Accrued expenses                          42,467          35,380  
Income taxes payable                       6,657               -  
   Total current liabilities              73,318          54,756  
 
Long-term debt                            35,500          97,000  
Deferred income taxes                     14,326          23,108  
Other noncurrent liabilities              15,339           9,431  
   Total liabilities                     138,483         184,295  
 
Shareholders' equity: 
   Common stock, no par value            165,817         170,140  
   Foreign currency translation 
      adjustment                             236            (283) 
   Retained earnings (deficit)            32,226            (769) 
 
   Total shareholders' equity            198,279         169,088  
   Total liabilities and  
      shareholders' equity             $ 336,762      $  353,383  
 
         See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
 



 
 
                         TREDEGAR INDUSTRIES, INC. 
                     CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 
                 (In thousands, except per-share amounts) 
                                (Unaudited) 
 
 
                                 Three Months Ended  Nine Months Ended   
                                   September 30         September 30     
                                    1994     1993     1994        1993   
                                                    
Net sales                        $132,191 $113,922   $376,098  $333,162  
Other (expense) income, net          (199)      39       (270)     (423) 
                                  131,992  113,961    375,828   332,739  
Cost of goods sold                110,463   95,827    315,397   281,309  
Selling, general & administrative 
  expenses                         11,783   11,659     35,337    36,365  
Research & development expenses     2,178    2,476      5,944     6,651  
Interest expense                      939    1,227      3,282     3,782  
Unusual items                       6,973        -     16,494    (2,263) 
                                  132,336  111,189    376,454   325,844  
Income (loss) from continuing 
  operations before income taxes     (344)   2,772       (626)    6,895  
Income taxes                          (66)   1,627      1,671     3,366  
Income (loss) from continuing 
  operations                         (278)   1,145     (2,297)    3,529  
Discontinued operations:                            
  Income from energy segment operations1,013 1,162      4,220     5,157  
  Gain on disposition of interest in 
    The Elk Horn Coal Corporation 
    (net of income tax of $16,224) 25,740        -     25,740         -  
  Gain on sale of remaining oil & gas 
    properties (net of income tax of 
    $2,121)                             -        -      3,938         -  
  Deferred tax benefit on the difference 
    between the financial reporting and 
    income tax basis of The Elk Horn 
    Coal Corporation                    -        -      3,320         -  
Net income before extraordinary item 
  and cumulative effect of changes 
  in accounting principles         26,475    2,307     34,921     8,686  
Extraordinary item - prepayment 
  premium on extinguishment of 
  debt (net of income tax benefits 
  of $685)                              -        -          -    (1,115) 
Cumulative effect of changes in 
  accounting for postretirement benefits 
  other than pensions (net of tax) and 
  income taxes                          -        -          -       150  
Net income                       $ 26,475 $  2,307   $ 34,921  $  7,721  
 
Earnings (loss) per share: 
  Continuing operations          $   (.02)$    .10   $   (.21) $    .32  
  Discontinued operations            2.52      .11       3.47       .48  
  Before extraordinary item and 
    cumulative effect of changes 
    in accounting principles         2.50      .21       3.26       .80  
  Extraordinary item                    -        -          -      (.10) 
  Cumulative effect of changes 
    in accounting principles            -        -          -       .01  
  Net income                     $   2.50 $    .21   $   3.26  $    .71  
 
 
            See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
 



 
 
                       TREDEGAR INDUSTRIES, INC. 
                 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
                            (In thousands) 
                              (Unaudited) 
 
 
                                                       Nine Months     
                                                   Ended September 30  
                                                      1994      1993   
                                                         
Cash flows from operating activities: 
  Continuing operations: 
    Income (loss) from continuing operations        $(2,297)  $ 3,529  
    Adjustments for noncash items: 
      Depreciation                                   17,600    17,225  
      Amortization of intangibles                     1,250     1,992  
      Write-off of intangibles                       14,393         -  
      Deferred income taxes                          (8,243)    1,093  
      Accrued pension income and postretirement benefits(52)     (245) 
      Gain on sale of investments                         -    (2,263) 
    Changes in assets and liabilities, net of 
      effects from acquisitions: 
      Accounts and notes receivable                  (6,444)   (8,396) 
      Inventories                                     4,650    (3,640) 
      Prepaid expenses and other                       (393)      463  
      Accounts payable                                4,818     4,226  
      Accrued expenses and income taxes payable       6,568    (2,380) 
    Other, net                                       (1,215)   (1,432) 
      Net cash provided by continuing operating 
       activities                                    30,635    10,172  
  Net cash used for extraordinary item                    -    (1,115) 
  Net cash provided by discontinued operating  
       activities                                     5,665     5,047  
      Net cash provided by operating activities      36,300    14,104  
Cash flows from investing activities: 
  Continuing operations: 
    Capital expenditures                            (11,731)  (10,744) 
    Acquisitions (net of $398 cash acquired)              -    (5,099) 
    Investments                                      (1,400)     (400) 
    Proceeds from sales of investments                    -     5,263  
    Property disposals                                2,263     2,047  
    Other, net                                          (24)     (264) 
      Net cash used in investing activities 
        of continuing operations                    (10,892)   (9,197) 
  Discontinued operations: 
    Capital expenditures                                (16)     (338) 
    Property disposals                                7,924     1,708  
    Disposal of interest in The Elk Horn Coal 
        Corporation                                  67,485         -  
      Net cash provided by investing activities of 
        discontinued operations                      75,393     1,370  
      Net cash provided by (used in) investing 
        activities                                   64,501    (7,827) 
Cash flows from financing activities: 
  Dividends paid                                     (1,926)   (2,616) 
  Net decrease in borrowings                        (61,500)   (3,500) 
  Repurchase of Tredegar common stock                (4,438)        -  
  Other, net                                             12      (161) 
      Net cash used in financing activities         (67,852)   (6,277) 
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents     32,949         -  
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period          -         -  
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period          $32,949   $     -  
 
Supplemental cash flow information: 
  Interest payments (net of amount capitalized)     $ 3,051   $ 6,250  
  Income tax payments, net                          $17,149   $ 5,806  
 
            See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
 



 
                    TREDEGAR INDUSTRIES, INC. 
     NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
                           (Unaudited) 
 
1.   In the opinion of management, the accompanying consolidated 
     financial statements of Tredegar Industries, Inc. and 
     Subsidiaries ("Tredegar") contain all adjustments necessary to 
     present fairly, in all material respects, Tredegar's 
     consolidated financial position as of September 30, 1994, and 
     the consolidated results of their operations and their cash 
     flows for the nine months ended September 30, 1994 and 1993.  
     All such adjustments are deemed to be of a normal recurring 
     nature.  These financial statements should be read in 
     conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and 
     notes thereto included in the 1993 Annual Report.  The results 
     of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 1994 are 
     not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for 
     the full year. 
 
2.   Certain prior-period amounts have been reclassified to conform 
     to the current presentation. 
 
3.   The components of inventories are as follows: 
 
 
                                          (In thousands)        
                                  September 30      December 31 
                                      1994              1993    
                                               
     Finished goods               $      5,086      $    5,735  
     Work-in-process                     3,573           5,298  
     Raw materials                      13,690          15,497  
     Stores, supplies and other          7,212           7,681  
            Total                 $     29,561      $   34,211  
 
4.   On August 19, 1994, Tredegar used a portion of the proceeds 
     received from the divestiture of The Elk Horn Coal Corporation  
     ("Elk Horn") (see Note 8) to prepay its $35 million variable- 
     rate term loan due June 7, 1997.  On August 18 and 19, 1994, 
     Tredegar established two new revolving credit facilities that 
     permit it to borrow up to $235 million (no amounts borrowed 
     at September 30, 1994) with $200 million maturing on August 
     18, 1998 and $35 million maturing on August 19, 1999.  In 
     connection with these new agreements, Tredegar terminated its 
     $180 million facility that was due June 16, 1996 (no amounts 
     borrowed).  The new agreements provide for interest to be 
     charged at a base rate (generally the London Interbank Offered 
     Rate) plus a spread that is dependent on Tredegar's quarterly 
     debt-to-total-capitalization ratio.  Facility fees are also 
     charged on the $235 million commitment amount.  The weighted 
     average spreads and facility fees charged under the new 
     agreements at various debt-to-total-capitalization levels are 
     as follows: 



 
 
 
                                          (Basis Points)        
                                     Spread        Facility Fee 
        Debt to Total 
     Capitalization Ratio 
                                                   
     Less than or equal to 35%          31.1            19.7    
     Greater than 35% and less 
          than or equal to 50%          39.6            23.6    
     Greater than 50%                   49.3            26.5    
 
     Tredegar's remaining debt outstanding of $35.5 million at 
     September 30, 1994, consists primarily of a $35 million, 7.2% 
     note due June 16, 2003 (average remaining maturity of 5.75 
     years at September 30, 1994). 
 
5.   At its meeting on August 29, 1994, Tredegar's Board of 
     Directors authorized a "Dutch Auction" tender offer for up to 
     one million shares of the company's common stock at a price 
     range of $17 to $19 per share.  The offer expired on October 
     6, 1994.  More than one million shares were tendered and 
     Tredegar purchased 1,211,857 shares of stock, the maximum 
     permitted without requiring an extension of the offer.  The 
     purchase price was $18.25 per share.  As a result of the 
     oversubscription, the number of shares actually purchased from 
     each tendering shareholder (other than odd lot shareholders) 
     was prorated using a factor of 98.057%.  The total cost to 
     purchase the tendered shares was approximately $22.5 million.  
     Between October 28 and November 2, 1994, Tredegar purchased 
     388,174 additional shares of its common stock in the open 
     market and in privately negotiated transactions for 
     approximately $7.1 million.  These purchases of Tredegar's 
     common stock, together with the tender offer, totalled 
     approximately $29.6 million and were funded with a portion of 
     the proceeds received from the divestiture of Elk Horn (see 
     Note 8). 
 
     As of November 2, 1994, Tredegar had 8,992,258 shares of 
     common stock outstanding.  Under a standing authorization from 
     its board of directors, Tredegar may purchase an additional 
     1.4 million shares in the open market or in privately 
     negotiated transactions at prices management deems 
     appropriate. 
 
     During 1994 and prior to the tender offer, Tredegar purchased 
     309,600 shares of its common stock in the open market for $4.4 
     million.  In the first quarter of 1994, Tredegar granted stock 
     options to purchase 381,000 shares of Tredegar common stock 
     at prices not less than the fair market value on the date of 
     grant ($15.125) and for a term not to exceed 10 years. 
 
6.   Unusual items in 1994 include the write-off of certain Molded 
     Products goodwill ($4.9 million) and costs related to the 
     closing of a Molded Products plant ($2.1 million) in the third 
     quarter.  The goodwill write-off is attributable to continued 
     disappointing performance in certain lines of business.  The 



 
     plant closing relates to a planned transfer of business to a 
     new Molded Products facility in Graham, North Carolina, as 
     well as other Molded Products facilities in an effort to 
     reduce costs while improving service to customers in the 
     eastern U.S.  In addition to the above, unusual items for the 
     nine months in 1994 include the write-off in the first quarter 
     of goodwill and other intangibles in APPX Software ($9.5 
     million).  This write-off is the result of management's 
     determination that income generated by the acquired products, 
     which historically had been marketed to small and medium-sized 
     companies, will not be sufficient to recover the unamortized 
     costs associated with the intangible software assets purchased 
     by Tredegar in December 1992.  The goodwill and other 
     intangibles written off in APPX Software and Molded Products 
     were being amortized over a remaining period of 5 to 8 years 
     at an annual rate of approximately $1.9 million after income 
     taxes.  Unusual items in 1993 include gains on the sale of 
     Emisphere Technologies, Inc. common stock ($2.3 million). 
 
7.   Net income and earnings per share from continuing operations, 
     adjusted for special items affecting the comparability of 
     operating results, are presented below: 
 
 
                              (In thousands, except per-share amounts) 
                                    Third Quarter       Nine Months    
                                 Ended September 30 Ended September 30 
                                    1994     1993       1994    1993   
                                                    
         Net income (loss) from 
           continuing operations   $ (278)  $1,145   $(2,297)  $3,529  
         After-tax effects of 
           special items: 
           Write-off of APPX 
             Software intangibles       -        -     7,642        -  
           Write-off of certain 
             Molded Products goodwill3,109       -     3,109        -  
           Charges associated with 
             the shutdown of a Molded 
             Products plant         1,300        -     1,300        -  
           Impact on deferred taxes 
             of 1% increase in federal 
             income tax rate            -      348         -      348  
           Gain on sale of Emisphere     -       -         -   (1,410) 
         Income from continuing 
           operations as adjusted 
           for special items       $4,131   $1,493    $9,754   $2,467  
         Earnings (loss) per share 
           from continuing operations: 
           As reported             $ (.02)  $  .10  $   (.21)  $  .32  
           As adjusted for 
             special items            .39      .13       .91      .22  
 
8.   Tredegar is reporting its Energy segment as discontinued 
     operations.  On August 16, 1994, Elk Horn, Tredegar's 97%- 
     owned coal subsidiary, was acquired by Pen Holdings, Inc., for 
     an aggregate consideration of approximately $71 million ($67.5 
     million after minority interests and transaction costs).  
     Tredegar realized an after-tax gain on the transaction of 
     $25.7 million.  In the first quarter of 1994, Tredegar 



 
     recognized an income tax benefit of $3.3 million on the 
     difference between the financial reporting and income tax 
     basis of Elk Horn.  In February 1994, Tredegar sold its 
     remaining oil and gas properties for approximately $8 million 
     and recognized an after-tax gain of $3.9 million.  The 
     divestiture of Elk Horn completes Tredegar's exit from its 
     energy businesses. 
 
     In accordance with applicable accounting pronouncements, a 
     $6.2 million charge ($4 million after deferred income tax 
     benefits) was recognized as a reduction to the gain on the 
     disposal of Elk Horn for the estimated present value of the 
     unfunded obligation under the Coal Industry Retiree Health 
     Benefit Act of 1992 (the "Act") assumed by Tredegar in the 
     divestiture transaction.  Under the Act, assigned operators 
     (former employers) are responsible for a portion of the 
     funding of medical and death benefits of certain retired 
     miners and dependents of the United Mine Workers of America.  
     The $6.2 million unfunded obligation is reflected in 
     Tredegar's consolidated balance sheet in other noncurrent 
     liabilities.  The interest cost at an annual rate of 7% on the 
     present value of the unfunded obligation since the Elk Horn 
     divestiture is reflected in other (expense) income, net. 
 
     Results of Energy segment operations up to the dates of 
     disposal are summarized below: 
 
 
                                            (In thousands)    
                                  Third Quarter        Nine Months    
                               Ended September 30  Ended September 30 
                                  1994     1993        1994    1993   
                                                  
        Revenues                 $3,714   $8,281     $19,868 $24,212  
        Costs and expenses: 
          Operating costs and 
            expenses              2,346    6,167      13,229  17,186  
          Interest allocated         68      155         337     489  
          Unusual items               -        -           -  (1,424) 
            Total                 2,414    6,322      13,566  16,251  
        Income before income taxes1,300    1,959       6,302   7,961  
        Income taxes                287      797       2,082   2,804  
        Income from Energy segment 
          operations             $1,013   $1,162     $ 4,220 $ 5,157  
 
     Unusual items for 1993 include gains totalling $1.4 million 
     ($938,000 after income taxes) for the sale of certain oil and 
     gas properties.  Also included in the third quarter and nine 
     months results is a charge of $177,000 related to the 
     adjustment of deferred income taxes for a 1% increase in the 
     federal income tax rate. 



 
Item 2.   Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
          Condition and Results of Operations 
 
     On August 16, 1994, Tredegar completed the divestiture of The 
Elk Horn Coal Corporation ("Elk Horn") for $71 million and 
recognized an after-tax gain of $25.7 million.  In February 1994, 
Tredegar sold its remaining oil and gas properties for 
approximately $8 million and recognized an after-tax gain of $3.9 
million.  See "Liquidity and Capital Resources" for discussion of 
the cash flow effects of these transactions.  The Elk Horn 
divestiture completes Tredegar's exit from its energy businesses.  
The Energy segment is being reported as discontinued operations. 
 
                      Results of Operations 
 
       Third Quarter 1994 Compared with Third Quarter 1993 
 
     The loss from continuing operations for the third quarter of 
1994 was $278,000, compared with income of $1.1 million in 1993.  
Special items recognized in the third quarter of 1994 affecting the 
comparability of results from continuing operations include after- 
tax charges of $3.1 million for the write-off of certain Molded 
Products goodwill and $1.3 million for the shutdown of the Molded 
Products plant in Alsip, Illinois.  The goodwill write-off resulted 
from continued disappointing results in certain Molded Products 
lines of business.  The plant closing relates to a planned transfer 
of business to a new Molded Products facility in Graham, North 
Carolina, as well as other Molded Products facilities in an effort 
to reduce costs while improving service to customers in the eastern 
U.S.  Income from continuing operations for the third quarter of 
1993 includes a special charge of $348,000 related to the 
adjustment of deferred income tax balances for the one percent 
increase in the federal income tax rate. 
 
     Third quarter net income from continuing operations excluding 
special items was $4.1 million, an increase of 177% over $1.4 
million in 1993.  The improvement in income from continuing 
operations is due primarily to improved operating results in Film 
Products and Aluminum Extrusions. 
 
     Third quarter net sales from continuing operations increased 
16% in 1994 due primarily to higher volume in Film Products and 
Aluminum Extrusions and the inclusion of Polestar Plastics, Inc. 
("Polestar") for the entire third quarter in 1994.  Tredegar 
acquired the assets of Polestar effective August 1, 1993. 
 
     The gross profit margin from continuing operations increased 
to 16.4% in 1994 from 15.9% in 1993.  The improvement in gross 
profit margin was due to higher volumes in Film Products and 
Aluminum Extrusions. 
 
     Selling, general and administrative expenses increased only 
slightly compared with 1993. 



 
     Research and development expenses decreased 12% due to lower 
spending in Film Products and APPX Software ("APPX Software"), 
partially offset by higher spending in Molecumetics. 
 
     Interest expense for continuing operations decreased 23% as a 
result of significantly lower average debt levels, partially offset 
by higher average interest rates.  The average interest rate on 
debt outstanding during the third quarter of 1994 was 6.6%, 
compared with 5.3% in 1993.  Interest expense of $68,000 and 
$155,000 was allocated to discontinued operations in the third 
quarter of 1994 and 1993, respectively, based on relative capital 
employed. 
 
     The effective tax rate for continuing operations, excluding 
special items, decreased to 37.7% in the third quarter of 1994 from 
46.1% in the third quarter of 1993.  The higher rate in 1993 was 
due to the combined effects of non-deductible goodwill amortization 
and relatively low income.  In addition, a significant portion of 
goodwill amortization was eliminated with the write-off of APPX 
Software intangibles in the first quarter of 1994. 
 
         Nine Months 1994 Compared with Nine Months 1993 
 
     The loss from continuing operations for the first nine months 
of 1994 was $2.3 million, compared with income of $3.5 million in 
1993.  Special items recognized in the first nine months of 1994 
affecting the comparability of results from continuing operations 
include:  (i) after-tax charges of $3.1 million for the write-off 
of certain Molded Products goodwill and $1.3 million for the 
planned shutdown of a Molded Products plant in the third quarter, 
and (ii) an after-tax charge of $7.6 million for the write-off of 
goodwill and other intangibles in APPX Software in the first 
quarter.  The goodwill and other intangibles written off in APPX 
Software and Molded Products were being amortized over a remaining 
period of 5 to 8 years at an annual rate of approximately $1.9 
million after income taxes. 
 
     The write-off in APPX Software is the result of management's 
determination that income generated by the acquired products, which 
historically had been marketed to small and medium-sized companies, 
will not be sufficient to recover the unamortized costs associated 
with the intangible software assets purchased by Tredegar in 
December 1992. 
 
     Special items recognized in the first nine months of 1993 
affecting the comparability of results from continuing operations 
include an after-tax gain of $1.4 million on the sale of Emisphere 
common stock and a charge of $348,000 related to the adjustment of 
deferred income tax balances for the one percent increase in the 
federal income tax rate. 
 
     Net income from continuing operations excluding special items 
for the first nine months was $9.8 million in 1994, up 295% from 



 
$2.5 million in 1993.  The increase is due primarily to higher 
volumes in Film Products and Aluminum Extrusions. 
 
     Net sales from continuing operations for the first nine months 
increased 13% in 1994 due primarily to higher Film Products and 
Aluminum Extrusions volume, and the inclusion of Polestar Plastics 
in 1994. 
 
     The gross profit margin from continuing operations increased 
to 16.1% in 1994 compared with 15.6% in 1993 as a result of the 
higher volume. 
 
     Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased 3% in 
1994 due to cost-reduction efforts. 
 
     Research and development expenses decreased 11% due to lower 
spending in Film Products, partially offset by higher spending in 
Molecumetics and higher software development costs at APPX 
Software. 
 
     Interest expense for continuing operations decreased 13% due 
to lower average debt levels, partially offset by higher average 
interest rates.  The average interest rate on debt outstanding 
during the nine months was 6% in 1994 compared with 5.6% in 1993.  
Interest expense of $337,000 and $489,000 was allocated to 
discontinued operations in 1994 and 1993, respectively, based on 
average capital employed. 
 
     The effective tax rate for continuing operations, excluding 
special items, decreased to 38.5% for the first nine months of 1994 
from 46.7% for the first nine months of 1993.  The higher rate in 
1993 was due to the combined effects of non-deductible goodwill 
amortization and relatively low income. 



 
                         Segment Results 
 
     The following tables present Tredegar's net sales and 
operating profit by industry segment for the third quarter and nine 
months ended September 30, 1994 and 1993. 
 
                Net Sales by Industry Segment(a) 
                         (In thousands) 
                           (Unaudited) 
 
                             Third Quarter        Nine Months    
                          Ended September 30  Ended September 30 
                             1994     1993       1994     1993   
                                             
Plastics                   $ 72,075 $ 64,164   $208,176 $189,801 
Metal Products               59,278   48,925    166,166  141,176 
Technology                      838      833      1,756    2,185 
   Total                   $132,191 $113,922   $376,098 $333,162 
 
 
 
             Operating Profit by Industry Segment(a) 
                         (In thousands) 
                           (Unaudited) 
 
                             Third Quarter        Nine Months    
                          Ended September 30  Ended September 30 
                             1994     1993       1994     1993   
                                            
Plastics: 
  Ongoing operations       $ 8,570  $ 5,751   $ 25,336  $14,792  
  Unusual items (b)         (6,973)       -     (6,973)       -  
                             1,597    5,751     18,363   14,792  
Metal Products               3,100    2,450      7,907    6,773  
Technology: 
  Ongoing operations        (1,779)  (2,380)    (6,604)  (6,979) 
  Unusual items (c)              -        -     (9,521)   2,263  
     Total Technology       (1,779)  (2,380)   (16,125)  (4,716) 
        Total              $ 2,918  $ 5,821   $ 10,145  $16,849  
 
Notes: 
(a)  Amounts previously reported for 1993 have been reclassified to conform to 
     the 1994 presentation. 
(b)  Plastics segment unusual items consist of the write-off of certain Molded 
     Products goodwill ($4.9 million) and costs related to the closing of a 
     Molded Products plant ($2.1 million). 
(c)  Technology segment unusual items consist of the write-off in the first 
     quarter of goodwill and intangibles in APPX Software in 1994 and gains on 
     the sale of Emisphere common stock in 1993. 
 



 
     Tredegar Film Products third quarter sales improved over 1993 
due to higher volume and higher average prices.  For the nine 
months, sales increased over 1993 due primarily to significantly 
higher volume.  Operating profit also improved due to cost 
reduction efforts and higher volume.  Average raw material costs 
were higher in the third quarter, but were virtually flat for the 
nine month period. 
 
     Tredegar Molded Products third quarter sales increased over 
1993 due to the inclusion of Polestar and higher volume in the 
packaging and industrial segments.  For the nine months, sales 
improvement was due primarily to the inclusion of Polestar.  Third 
quarter results include a pre-tax charge of $4.9 million for the 
write-off of goodwill associated with continued disappointing 
results in certain lines of Molded Products' business.  Third 
quarter results also include a pre-tax charge of $2.1 million 
related to the planned shutdown of a Molded Products plant in 
Alsip, Illinois.  The plant closing relates to a planned transfer 
of business to a new Molded Products facility in Graham, North 
Carolina, as well as other Molded Products facilities in an effort 
to reduce costs while improving service to customers in the eastern 
U.S.  Excluding special items, operating results were favorable 
compared with 1993 due to the inclusion of Polestar. 
 
     Quarterly and year-to-date results in Fiberlux (extrusions for 
vinyl windows and doors) improved over last year due to improved 
building and construction markets. 
 
     Metal Products sales and operating profit increased for the 
third quarter and nine months of 1994 due to higher Aluminum 
Extrusions volume and higher sales prices.  Volume increased as a 
result of better economic conditions in construction and automotive 
markets.  Prices, as well as raw material costs, have steadily 
increased during 1994.  Results in materials handling declined for 
the quarter and year-to-date periods. 
 
     Tredegar's Technology segment (formerly the Other segment) 
generated operating losses of $1.8 million in the third quarter of 
1994.  Operating results in the Technology segment relate primarily 
to APPX Software and Molecumetics, Tredegar's synthetic chemistry 
research facility.  Excluding the pre-tax charge of $9.5 million 
for the first quarter write-off of goodwill and other intangibles 
in APPX Software, operating losses for the nine months totalled 
$6.6 million.  For the third quarter and nine months in 1993, the 
Technology segment had operating losses of $2.4 million and $4.7 
million, respectively.  Excluding the pre-tax gains on the sale of 
Emisphere common stock ($2.3 million), operating losses for the 
nine months in 1993 were $7 million. 



 
                 Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 
     Tredegar's total assets at September 30, 1994, were $336.8 
million, a decrease of $16.6 million from December 31, 1993.  The 
decrease is primarily attributable to the write-offs of goodwill 
and other intangibles in APPX Software and Molded Products and the 
use of proceeds from divestitures to repay debt and purchase 
Tredegar common stock (see Notes 4 and 5 of Notes to the 
Consolidated Interim Financial Statements).  In addition, 
depreciation exceeded capital expenditures by approximately $5.9 
million for continuing operations.  The ratio of current assets to 
current liabilities was 1.8 to 1 at September 30, 1994.  Accounts 
receivable have increased as sales volumes continue to improve.  
Inventories declined as a result of the shutdown and sale of the 
Flemington, New Jersey, Film Products plant and temporary declines 
in inventory levels at Aluminum Extrusions to satisfy higher sales 
activity.  Higher accounts payable reflect higher aluminum ingot 
costs not fully reflected in inventories as a result of the LIFO 
pricing method.  Income taxes payable increased due to the timing 
of estimated tax payments. 
 
     Other noncurrent liabilities increased as a result of a $6.2 
million charge ($4 million after deferred income tax benefits) 
recognized for the present value of the unfunded obligation under 
the Coal Industry Retiree Health Benefit Act of 1992 (the "Act") 
assumed by Tredegar in the divestiture of Elk Horn.  This charge 
was reflected as a reduction to the gain on the disposal.  The net 
deferred income tax liability declined as a result of higher 
depreciation for financial reporting purposes than tax purposes, 
the reversal of deferred tax liabilities associated with the write- 
off of intangibles and the deferred tax benefit related to the 
unfunded obligation under the Act. 
 
     For the first nine months of 1994, the net increase in cash 
and cash equivalents was $32.9 million.  The major sources of cash 
during the first nine months for 1994 were the sale of Elk Horn 
($67.5 million after minority interests and transaction costs), 
continuing operating activities in excess of capital expenditures 
and dividends ($17 million), discontinued operating activities in 
excess of capital expenditures ($5.6 million, including $8 million 
from the liquidation of coal trading working capital and income 
taxes paid on divestiture gains), proceeds from the sale of 
Tredegar's remaining oil and gas properties ($8 million) and 
property disposals ($2.2 million).  Property disposals relate 
primarily to facilities previously shut down.  For the first nine 
months, cash was used primarily to repay debt ($61.5 million) and 
purchase Tredegar common stock ($4.4 million).  On various dates 
from October 1 to November 2, 1994, Tredegar used $29.6 million to 
purchase additional shares of its common stock (see Note 5 of Notes 
to the Consolidated Interim Financial Statements). 
 
     Debt was $35.5 million at September 30, 1994, a decrease of 
$61.5 million since December 31, 1993.  Cash and cash equivalents 



 
was $32.9 million at September 30, 1994, of which $29.6 million was 
used on various dates from October 1 to November 2, 1994, to 
purchase Tredegar common stock.  Debt as a percentage of 
capitalization was 15% and 36% at September 30, 1994 and December 
31, 1993, respectively.  The average interest rate on debt 
outstanding at September 30, 1994, was 7.2%, compared with 5.3% at 
the end of last year.  The higher rate reflects proportionally 
higher fixed-rate debt. 



 
PART II - OTHER INFORMATION 
 
Item 6.   Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K. 
 
     (a)  Exhibit No. 
 
          4.1  Revolving Credit Facility Agreement dated as of 
               August 18, 1994 among Tredegar Industries, Inc., 
               the banks named therein, Chemical Bank as 
               Administrative Agent and NationsBank of Virginia, 
               N.A., as Co-Agent. 
 
          4.2  Credit Agreement dated as of August 19, 1994 among 
               Tredegar Industries, Inc., the banks named therein, 
               and LTCB Trust Company, as Agent. 
 
          11   Statement re computation of earnings per share 
 
          27   Financial Data Schedule 
 
     (b)  Reports on Form 8-K. 
 
          On August 31, 1994, Tredegar filed a current report on 
          Form 8-K for the disposition of its interest in The Elk 
          Horn Coal Corporation ("Elk Horn") and the announced 
          self-tender offer to purchase one million shares of its 
          common stock.  Included in the Form 8-K was pro forma 
          financial information reflecting the Elk Horn 
          disposition. 
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     Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on 
its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized. 
 
                              Tredegar Industries, Inc. 
                              (Registrant) 
 
 
Date: November 11, 1994        /s/ N. A. Scher                 
                              Norman A. Scher 
                              Executive Vice President, 
                              Treasurer and Chief Financial       
                              Officer (Principal Financial 
                              Officer) 
 
 
Date: November 11, 1994        /s/ D. Andrew Edwards           
                              D. Andrew Edwards 
                              Corporate Controller 
                              (Principal Accounting Officer) 
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                         REVOLVING CREDIT FACILITY AGREEMENT 
                    dated as of August 18, 1994, among TREDEGAR 
                    INDUSTRIES, INC., a Virginia corporation (the 
                    "Company"); the banks listed in Schedule 2.01 
                    hereto or subsequently becoming parties 
                    hereto as provided herein (the "Banks");  
                    CHEMICAL BANK, a New York banking corpo- 
                    ration, as administrative agent for the Banks 
                    (in such capacity, the "Administrative 
                    Agent"; and NationsBank of Virginia, N.A., a 
                    Virginia banking corporation, as co-agent for 
                    the banks (in such capacity, the "Co-Agent"; 
                    the Administrative Agent and the Co-Agent 
                    being collectively called the "Agents"). 
 
 
     The Company has requested the Banks to extend credit to the 
Company in order to enable it to borrow on a standby revolving 
credit basis on and after the date hereof and at any time and 
from time to time prior to the Maturity Date (each as herein 
defined) a principal amount not in excess of $200,000,000 at any 
time outstanding.  The proceeds of such borrowings are to be used 
for general corporate purposes.  The Banks are willing to extend 
such credit to the Company on the terms and subject to the 
conditions herein set forth. 
 
     Accordingly, the Company, the Agents and the Banks agree as 
follows: 
 
 
I.   DEFINITIONS 
 
     SECTION 1.01.  Defined Terms.  As used in this Agreement, 
the following terms shall have the meanings specified below: 
 
     "ABR Borrowing" shall mean a Borrowing comprised of ABR 
Loans. 
 
     "ABR Loan" shall mean any Standby Loan bearing interest at a 
rate determined by reference to the Alternate Base Rate in 
accordance with the provisions of Article II. 
 
     "Adjusted CD Rate" shall mean, with respect to any CD 
Borrowing for any Interest Period, an interest rate per annum 
(rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next 1/100 of 1%) equal to 
the sum of (a) a rate per annum equal to the product of (i) the 
Fixed CD Rate in effect for such Interest Period and 
(ii) Statutory Reserves, plus (b) the Assessment Rate, plus (c) 
12.5 basis points.  For purposes hereof, the term "Fixed CD Rate" 
shall mean the arithmetic average (rounded upwards, if necessary, 
to the next 1/100 of 1%) of the prevailing rates per annum bid at 
or about 10:00 a.m., New York City time, to the Administrative 
Agent on the first Business Day of the Interest Period applicable 
to such CD Borrowing by three New York City negotiable 
certificate of deposit dealers of recognized standing selected by 
the Administrative Agent for the purchase at face value of 
negotiable certificates of deposit of major United States money 
center banks in a principal amount approximately equal to the 
Administrative Agent's portion of such CD Borrowing. 
 
     "Adjusted LIBO Rate" shall mean, with respect to any 
Eurodollar Borrowing for any Interest Period, an interest rate 
per annum (rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next 1/16 of 1%) 
equal to the product of (a) the LIBO Rate in effect for such 
Interest Period and (b) Statutory Reserves.  For purposes hereof, 
the term "LIBO Rate" shall mean the rate (rounded upwards, if 
necessary, to the next 1/16 of 1%) at which dollar deposits 
approximately equal in principal amount to the Administrative 
Agent's portion of such Eurodollar Borrowing and for a maturity 
comparable to such Interest Period are offered to the principal 
London office of the Administrative Agent in immediately 
available funds in the London interbank market at approximately 
11:00 a.m., London time, two Business Days prior to the 
commencement of such Interest Period. 
 



     "Administrative Fees" shall have the meaning assigned to 
such term in Section 2.05(b). 
 
     "Administrative Questionnaire" shall mean an Administrative 
Questionnaire in the form of Exhibit C hereto. 
 
     "Affiliate" shall mean, when used with respect to a 
specified person, another person that directly, or indirectly 
through one or more intermediaries, Controls or is Controlled by 
or is under common Control with the person specified. 
 
     "Alternate Base Rate" shall mean, for any day, a rate per 
annum (rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next 1/16 of 1%) 
equal to the greatest of (a) the Prime Rate in effect on such 
day, (b) the Base CD Rate in effect on such day plus 1% and 
(c) the Federal Funds Effective Rate in effect on such day plus 
1/2 of 1%.  For purposes hereof, "Prime Rate" shall mean the rate 
of interest per annum publicly announced from time to time by the 
Administrative Agent as its prime rate in effect at its principal 
office in New York City; each change in the Prime Rate shall be 
effective on the date such change is publicly announced as 
effective.  "Base CD Rate" shall mean the sum of (a) the product 
of (i) the Three-Month Secondary CD Rate and (ii) Statutory 
Reserves and (b) the Assessment Rate.  "Three-Month Secondary CD 
Rate" shall mean, for any day, the secondary market rate for 
three-month certificates of deposit reported as being in effect 
on such day (or, if such day shall not be a Business Day, the 
next preceding Business Day) by the Board through the public 
information telephone line of the Federal Reserve Bank of New 
York (which rate will, under the current practices of the Board, 
be published in Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.15(519) 
during the week following such day), or, if such rate shall not 
be so reported on such day or such next preceding Business Day, 
the average of the secondary market quotations for three-month 
certificates of deposit of major money center banks in New York 
City received at approximately 10:00 a.m., New York City time, on 
such day (or, if such day shall not be a Business Day, on the 
next preceding Business Day) by the Administrative Agent from 
three New York City negotiable certificate of deposit dealers of 
recognized standing selected by it.  "Federal Funds Effective 
Rate" shall mean, for any day, the weighted average of the rates 
on overnight Federal funds transactions with members of the 
Federal Reserve System arranged by Federal funds brokers, as 
published on the next succeeding Business Day by the Federal 
Reserve Bank of New York, or, if such rate is not so published 
for any day which is a Business Day, the average of the 
quotations for the day of such transactions received by the 
Administrative Agent from three Federal funds brokers of 
recognized standing selected by it.  If for any reason the 
Administrative Agent shall have determined (which determination 
shall be conclusive absent manifest error) that it is unable to 
ascertain the Base CD Rate or the Federal Funds Effective Rate or 
both for any reason, including the inability or failure of the 
Administrative Agent to obtain sufficient quotations in 
accordance with the terms thereof, the Alternate Base Rate shall 
be determined without regard to clause (b) or (c), or both, of 
the first sentence of this definition, as appropriate, until the 
circumstances giving rise to such inability no longer exist.  Any 
change in the Alternate Base Rate due to a change in the Prime 
Rate, the Three-Month Secondary CD Rate or the Federal Funds 
Effective Rate shall be effective on the effective date of such 
change in the Prime Rate, the Three-Month Secondary CD Rate or 
the Federal Funds Effective Rate, respectively. 
 
     "Applicable Spread" shall mean the applicable spread per 
annum set forth below based upon the Company's 
Debt/Capitalization Ratio: 
 
Category I                              Applicable Spread 
 
Debt/Capitalization Ratio less          .3125% 
than or equal to 35% 
 
Category II 
 
Debt/Capitalization Ratio less          .4000% 
than or equal to 50% 
 
Category III 
 
Debt/Capitalization Ratio               .5000% 



greater than 50% 
 
     For purposes of the foregoing, the Applicable Spread for any 
date shall be determined by reference to the Debt/Capitalization 
Ratio as of the last day of the Company's fiscal quarter most 
recently ended as of such date and any change in the Applicable 
Spread shall become effective upon the delivery to the 
Administrative Agent of a certificate of a Responsible Officer of 
the Company with respect to the financial statements to be 
delivered, pursuant to Section 5.04 for the fiscal quarter or 
year most recently ended, as the case may be, (a) setting forth 
in reasonable detail the calculation of the Debt/Capitalization 
Ratio for and at the end of such fiscal quarter or year and 
(b) stating that the signer has reviewed the terms of this 
Agreement and other Loan Documents and has made, or caused to be 
made under his or her supervision, a review in reasonable detail 
of the transactions and condition of the Company, during the 
accounting period, and that the signer does not have knowledge of 
the existence as at the date of such officer's certificate of any 
Event of Default or Default and shall apply to Loans outstanding 
on such delivery date or made on and after such delivery date.   
Notwithstanding the foregoing, at any time during which the 
Company has failed to deliver the certificate referred to above 
with respect to a fiscal quarter or year following the date that 
delivery of financial statements relating to such fiscal quarter 
or year are required to be delivered under Section 5.04, the 
Debt/Capitalization Ratio shall be deemed, solely for the 
purposes of this definition, to be greater than 50% until such 
time as the Company shall have delivered such certificate and 
financial statements. 
 
     "Assessment Rate" shall mean for any date the annual rate 
(rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next 1/100 of 1%) most 
recently estimated by the Administrative Agent as the then 
current net annual assessment rate that will be employed in 
determining amounts payable by the Administrative Agent to the 
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (or any successor) for 
insurance by such Corporation (or such successor) of time 
deposits made in dollars at the Administrative Agent's domestic 
offices. 
 
     "Assignment and Acceptance" shall mean an assignment and 
acceptance entered into by a Bank and an assignee, and accepted 
by the Administrative Agent, in the form of Exhibit D. 
 
     "Board" shall mean the Board of Governors of the Federal 
Reserve System of the United States. 
 
     "Borrowing" shall mean a Loan or group of Loans of a single 
Type made by the Banks on a single date and as to which a single 
Interest Period is in effect. 
 
     "Business Day" shall mean any day (other than a day which is 
a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday in the State of New York) on 
which banks are open for business in New York City; provided, 
however, that, when used in connection with a Eurodollar Standby 
Loan, the term "Business Day" shall also exclude any day on which 
banks are not open for dealings in dollar deposits in the London 
interbank market. 
 
     "Capital Lease Obligations" of any person shall mean the 
obligations of such person to pay rent or other amounts under any 
lease of (or other arrangement conveying the right to use) real 
or personal property, or a combination thereof, which obligations 
are required to be classified and accounted for as capital leases 
on a balance sheet of such person under GAAP and, for the 
purposes of this Agreement, the amount of such obligations at any 
time shall be the capitalized amount thereof at such time 
determined in accordance with GAAP. 
 
     "CD Borrowing" shall mean a Borrowing comprised of CD Loans. 
 
     "CD Loan" shall mean any Standby Loan bearing interest at a 
rate determined by reference to the Adjusted CD Rate in 
accordance with the provisions of Article II. 
 
     A "Change in Control" shall be deemed to have occurred if 
(a) any person or group (within the meaning of Rule 13d-5 of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission as in effect on the date 
hereof) other than (i) any person or group whose beneficial 
ownership of common stock is reported on Schedule 13D, filed with 



respect to the common stock of the Company on July 20, 1989, as 
amended prior to the date of this Agreement, (ii) spouses, 
children and lineal descendants of such persons, (iii) trusts 
created for the benefit of such persons, or (iv) any combination 
of the persons described in the foregoing subclauses (i), (ii) or 
(iii) (an "Exempt Person"), shall own directly or indirectly, 
beneficially or of record, shares representing more than 25% of 
the aggregate ordinary voting power represented by the issued and 
outstanding capital stock of the Company; (b) a majority of the 
seats (other than vacant seats) on the board of directors of the 
Company shall at any time have been occupied by persons who were 
not Continuing Directors; or (c) any person or group other than 
an Exempt Person shall otherwise directly or indirectly Control 
the Company. 
 
     "Closing Date" shall mean the date of this Agreement. 
 
     "Code" shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as the 
same may be amended from time to time. 
 
     "Commitment" shall mean, with respect to each Bank, the 
Commitment of such Bank hereunder as set forth in Schedule 2.01 
hereto, as such Bank's Commitment may be permanently terminated 
or reduced from time to time pursuant to Section 2.11.  The 
Commitments shall automatically and permanently terminate on the 
Maturity Date. 
 
     "Consolidated Net Income" with respect to any person for any 
period shall mean (a) the aggregate net income (or net loss) of 
such person for such period equal to net revenues and other 
proper income or gain of such person for such period (including 
gains on the sale of capital assets) less, without duplication of 
any items deducted in determining such net revenues, income or 
gain, the aggregate for such person during such period of, 
(i) cost of goods sold, (ii) interest expense, (iii) operating 
expense, (iv) selling, general and administrative expenses, 
(v) taxes, (vi) depreciation, depletion and amortization and 
(vii) any other items that are treated as expenses under GAAP, 
plus (b) write-downs of assets, losses from discontinued 
operations and other extraordinary losses (net of tax benefits), 
in each case to the extent taken into account in determining the 
net revenues, income or gain referred to in (a) above. 
 
     "Consolidated Stockholders' Equity" shall mean, at any time 
(a) the sum of (i) the Company's issued capital stock taken at 
par or stated value at such time, (ii) the Company's capital 
surplus at such time and (iii) the Company's retained earnings at 
such time, less (b) the Company's treasury stock and minority 
interest in subsidiaries at such time, all determined in 
accordance with GAAP. 
 
     "Consolidated Total Capitalization" shall mean, at any time, 
the sum of the Company's Consolidated Total Debt and Consolidated 
Stockholders' Equity at such time. 
 
     "Consolidated Total Debt" shall mean, at any time, all 
Indebtedness of the Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries at 
such time, computed and consolidated in accordance with GAAP. 
 
     "Continuing Director" shall mean (a) any member of the Board 
of Directors of the Company on the date of this Agreement and 
(b) any person whose subsequent nomination for election or 
election to the Board of Directors was recommended or approved by 
a majority of the Continuing Directors serving as such at the 
time of such nomination. 
 
     "Control" shall mean the possession, directly or indirectly, 
of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management 
or policies of a person, whether through the ownership of voting 
securities, by contract or otherwise. 
 
     "Debt/Capitalization Ratio" shall mean the ratio of the 
Company's Consolidated Total Debt to the Company's Consolidated 
Total Capitalization. 
 
     "Default" shall mean an event which upon notice or lapse of 
time or both would constitute an Event of Default. 
 
     "dollars" and the symbol "$" shall mean the lawful currency 
of the United States of America. 
 



     "ERISA" shall mean the Employee Retirement Income Security 
Act of 1974, as the same may be amended from time to time. 
 
     "ERISA Affiliate" shall mean any trade or business (whether 
or not incorporated) that is a member of a group of which the 
Company is a member and which is treated as a single employer 
under Section 414 of the Code. 
 
     "Eurodollar Borrowing" shall mean a Borrowing comprised of 
Eurodollar Standby Loans. 
 
     "Eurodollar Standby Loan" shall mean any Standby Loan 
bearing interest at a rate determined by reference to the LIBO 
Rate in accordance with the provisions of Article II. 
 
     "Event of Default" shall have the meaning assigned to such 
term in Article VII. 
 
     "Facility Fee" shall have the meaning assigned to such term 
in Section 2.05(a). 
 
     "Facility Fee Percentage" shall mean the applicable 
percentage set forth below based upon the Company's 
Debt/Capitalization Ratio: 
                                             Facility Fee 
Category I                                   Percentage 
 
Debt/Capitalization Ratio                    .1875% 
less than or equal to 35% 
 
Category II 
 
Debt/Capitalization Ratio less               .2250% 
than or equal to 50% 
 
Category III 
 
Debt/Capitalization Ratio                    .2500% 
greater than 50% 
 
     For purposes of the foregoing, the Facility Fee Percentage 
for any date shall be determined by reference to the 
Debt/Capitalization Ratio as of the last day of the Company's 
fiscal quarter most recently ended as of such date and any change 
in the Facility Fee Percentage shall become effective upon the 
delivery to the Administrative Agent of a certificate of a 
Responsible Officer of the Company with respect to the financial 
statements to be delivered, pursuant to Section 5.04 for the 
fiscal quarter or year most recently ended, as the case may be, 
(a) setting forth in reasonable detail the calculation of the 
Debt/Capitalization Ratio for and at the end of such fiscal 
quarter or year and (b) stating that the signer has reviewed the 
terms of this Agreement and other Loan Documents and has made, or 
caused to be made under his or her supervision, a review in 
reasonable detail of the transactions and condition of the 
Company, during the accounting period, and that the signer does 
not have knowledge of the existence as at the date of such 
officer's certificate of any Event of Default or Default.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing, at any time during which the 
Company has failed to deliver the certificate referred to above 
with respect to a fiscal quarter or year following the date that 
delivery of financial statements relating to such fiscal quarter 
or year are required to be delivered under Section 5.04, the 
Debt/Capitalization Ratio shall be deemed, solely for the 
purposes of this definition, to be greater than 50% until such 
time as the Company shall have delivered such certificate and 
financial statements. 
 
     "Fees" shall mean the Facility Fee and the Administrative 
Fees. 
 
     "Financial Officer" of any corporation shall mean the chief 
financial officer, principal accounting officer, Treasurer or 
Controller of such corporation. 
 
     "GAAP" shall mean generally accepted accounting principles. 
 
     "Governmental Authority" shall mean any Federal, state, 
local or foreign court or governmental agency, authority, 
instrumentality or regulatory body. 
 



     "Guarantee" of or by any person shall mean any obligation, 
contingent or otherwise, of such person guaranteeing or having 
the economic effect of guaranteeing any Indebtedness of any other 
person (the "primary obligor") in any manner, whether directly or 
indirectly, and including any obligation of such person, direct 
or indirect, (a) to purchase or pay (or advance or supply funds 
for the purchase or payment of) such Indebtedness or to purchase 
(or to advance or supply funds for the purchase of) any security 
for the payment of such Indebtedness, (b) to purchase property, 
securities or services for the purpose of assuring the owner of 
such Indebtedness of the payment of such Indebtedness or (c) to 
maintain working capital, equity capital or other financial 
statement condition or liquidity of the primary obligor so as to 
enable the primary obligor to pay such Indebtedness; provided, 
however, that the term Guarantee shall not include endorsements 
for collection or deposit, in either case in the ordinary course 
of business. 
 
     "Indebtedness" of any person shall mean, without 
duplication, (a) all obligations of such person for borrowed 
money or with respect to deposits or advances of any kind, 
(b) all obligations of such person evidenced by bonds, 
debentures, notes or similar instruments, (c) all obligations of 
such person upon which interest charges are customarily paid 
(other than accounts payable), (d) all obligations of such person 
under conditional sale or other title retention agreements 
relating to property or assets purchased by such person, (e) all 
obligations of such person issued or assumed as the deferred 
purchase price of property or services, (f) all Indebtedness of 
others secured by (or for which the holder of such Indebtedness 
has an existing right, contingent or otherwise, to be secured by) 
any Lien on property owned or acquired by such person, whether or 
not the obligations secured thereby have been assumed, provided 
that the amount of such Indebtedness shall be deemed to be the 
lesser of (i) the outstanding principal amount of such 
Indebtedness plus all accrued and unpaid interest relating 
thereto and (ii) the fair market value of the property secured by 
any such Lien, (g) all Guarantees by such person of Indebtedness 
of others, (h) all Capital Lease Obligations of such person, 
(i) all obligations of such person in respect of interest rate 
protection agreements, foreign currency exchange agreements or 
other interest or exchange rate hedging arrangements and (j) all 
obligations of such person as an account party in respect of 
letters of credit and bankers' acceptances.  The Indebtedness of 
any person shall include the Indebtedness of any partnership in 
which such person is a general partner unless such Indebtedness 
is without any recourse whatsoever to such person as a general 
partner of any such partnership. 
 
     "Interest Payment Date" shall mean, with respect to any 
Loan, the last day of the Interest Period applicable thereto and, 
in the case of a Eurodollar Standby Loan with an Interest Period 
of more than three months' duration or a CD Loan with an Interest 
Period of more than 90 days' duration, each day that would have 
been the Interest Payment Date for such Loan had successive 
Interest Periods of 3 months or 90 days, respectively, been 
applicable to such Loan and, in addition, the date of any refi- 
nancing or conversion of such Loan with or to a Loan of a 
different Type. 
 
     "Interest Period" shall mean (a) as to any Eurodollar 
Borrowing, the period commencing on the date of such Borrowing 
and ending on the numerically corresponding day (or if there is 
no corresponding day, the last day) in the calendar month that is 
1, 2, 3 or 6 months thereafter, as the Company may elect, (b) as 
to any CD Borrowing, a period of 30, 60, 90 or 180 days' 
duration, as the Company may elect, commencing on the date of 
such Borrowing and (c) as to any ABR Borrowing, the period 
commencing on the date of such Borrowing and ending on the date 
90 days thereafter or, if earlier, on the Maturity Date or the 
date of prepayment of such Borrowing; provided, however, that if 
any Interest Period would end on a day which shall not be a 
Business Day, such Interest Period shall be extended to the next 
succeeding Business Day unless, with respect to Eurodollar 
Standby Loans only, such next succeeding Business Day would fall 
in the next calendar month, in which case such Interest Period 
shall end on the next preceding Business Day.  Interest shall 
accrue from and including the first day of an Interest Period to 
but excluding the last day of such Interest Period. 
 
     "Lien" shall mean, with respect to any asset, (a) any 



mortgage, deed of trust, lien, pledge, encumbrance, charge or 
security interest in or on such asset, (b) the interest of a 
vendor or a lessor under any conditional sale agreement, capital 
lease or title retention agreement relating to such asset and 
(c) in the case of securities, any purchase option, call or 
similar right of a third party with respect to such securities. 
 
     "Loan" shall mean a Standby Loan, whether made as a 
Eurodollar Standby Loan, a CD Loan or an ABR Loan. 
 
     "Loan Documents" shall mean this Agreement and the Notes. 
 
     "Margin Stock" shall have the meaning given such term under 
Regulation U. 
 
     "Material Adverse Effect" shall mean (a) a materially 
adverse effect on the business, assets, operations, prospects or 
condition, financial or otherwise, of the Company and the 
Subsidiaries taken as a whole, (b) material impairment of the 
ability of the Company to perform any of its obligations under 
any Loan Document to which it is or will be a party or 
(c) material impairment of the rights of or benefits available to 
the Banks under any Loan Document. 
 
     "Maturity Date" shall mean the fourth anniversary of the 
date of this Agreement, or any anniversary of such date to which 
the Maturity Date shall have been extended pursuant to 
Section 2.10. 
 
     "Multiemployer Plan" shall mean a multiemployer plan as 
defined in Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA to which the Company or 
any ERISA Affiliate (other than one considered an ERISA Affiliate 
only pursuant to subsection (m) or (o) of Section 414 of the 
Code) is making or accruing an obligation to make contributions, 
or has within any of the preceding five plan years made or 
accrued an obligation to make contributions. 
 
     "Note" shall mean a Standby Note of the Company executed and 
delivered as provided in Section 2.06. 
 
     "PBGC" shall mean the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation 
referred to and defined in ERISA. 
 
     "person" shall mean any natural person, corporation, 
business trust, joint venture, association, company, partnership 
or government, or any agency or political subdivision thereof. 
 
     "Plan" shall mean any pension plan (other than a 
Multiemployer Plan) subject to the provisions of Title IV of 
ERISA or Section 412 of the Code which is maintained for 
employees of the Company or any ERISA Affiliate. 
 
     "Register" shall have the meaning given such term in 
Section 9.04(d). 
 
     "Regulation D" shall mean Regulation D of the Board, as the 
same is from time to time in effect, and all official rulings and 
interpretations thereunder or thereof. 
 
     "Regulation G" shall mean Regulation G of the Board, as the 
same is from time to time in effect, and all official rulings and 
interpretations thereunder or thereof. 
 
     "Regulation U" shall mean Regulation U of the Board, as the 
same is from time to time in effect, and all official rulings and 
interpretations thereunder or thereof. 
 
     "Regulation X" shall mean Regulation X of the Board, as the 
same is from time to time in effect, and all official rulings and 
interpretations thereunder or thereof. 
 
     "Reportable Event" shall mean any reportable event as 
defined in Section 4043(b) of ERISA or the regulations issued 
thereunder with respect to a Plan (other than a Plan maintained 
by an ERISA Affiliate which is considered an ERISA Affiliate only 
pursuant to subsection (m) or (o) of Section 414 of the Code). 
 
     "Required Banks" shall mean, at any time, Banks having 
Commitments representing at least 66-2/3% of the Total Commitment 
and, for purposes of acceleration pursuant to clause (ii) of 
Article VII and at any time when no Commitment is in effect, 



Banks holding Loans representing at least 66-2/3% of the 
aggregate principal amount of the Loans outstanding. 
 
     "Responsible Officer" of any corporation shall mean any 
executive officer or Financial Officer of such corporation and 
any other officer or similar official thereof responsible for the 
administration of the obligations of such corporation in respect 
of this Agreement. 
 
     "Significant Subsidiary" shall mean any Subsidiary whose 
gross revenues or assets constitute 1% or more of consolidated 
gross revenues or consolidated assets of the Company and its 
Subsidiaries. 
 
     "Standby Borrowing" shall mean a borrowing consisting of 
simultaneous Standby Loans from each of the Banks. 
 
     "Standby Borrowing Request" shall mean a request made 
pursuant to Section 2.03 in the form of Exhibit A. 
 
     "Standby Loans" shall mean the revolving loans made by the 
Banks to the Company pursuant to Section 2.03. Each Standby Loan 
shall be a Eurodollar Standby Loan, a CD Loan or an ABR Loan. 
 
     "Standby Note" shall mean a promissory note of the Company 
in the form of Exhibit B executed and delivered as provided in 
Section 2.06. 
 
     "Statutory Reserves" shall mean a fraction (expressed as a 
decimal), the numerator of which is the number one and the 
denominator of which is the number one minus the aggregate of the 
maximum reserve percentages (including any marginal, special, 
emergency or supplemental reserves) expressed as a decimal 
established by the Board and any other banking authority to which 
the Administrative Agent is subject for new negotiable 
nonpersonal time deposits in dollars of over $100,000 with 
maturities approximately equal to (i) the applicable Interest 
Period, in the case of the Adjusted CD Rate, and (ii) three 
months, in the case of the Base CD Rate (as such term is used in 
the definition of "Alternate Base Rate").  Statutory Reserves 
shall be adjusted automatically on and as of the effective date 
of any change in any reserve percentage. 
 
     "subsidiary" shall mean, with respect to any person (herein 
referred to as the "parent"), any corporation, partnership, 
association or other business entity (a) of which securities or 
other ownership interests representing more than 50% of the 
equity or more than 50% of the ordinary voting power or more than 
50% of the general partnership interests are, at the time any 
determination is being made, owned, controlled or held, or 
(b) which is, at the time any determination is made, otherwise 
Controlled, by the parent or one or more subsidiaries of the 
parent or by the parent and one or more subsidiaries of the 
parent. 
 
     "Subsidiary" shall mean any subsidiary of the Company. 
 
     "Total Commitment" shall mean at any time the aggregate 
amount of the Banks' Commitments, as in effect at such time. 
 
     "Transactions" shall have the meaning assigned to such term 
in Section 3.02. 
 
     "Type", when used in respect of any Loan or Borrowing, shall 
refer to the Rate by reference to which interest on such Loan or 
on the Loans comprising such Borrowing is determined.  For 
purposes hereof, "Rate" shall include the LIBO Rate, the Adjusted 
CD Rate and the Alternate Base Rate. 
 
     "Withdrawal Liability" shall mean liability to a 
Multiemployer Plan as a result of a complete or partial 
withdrawal from such Multiemployer Plan, as such terms are 
defined in Part I of Subtitle E of Title IV of ERISA. 
 
     SECTION 1.02.  Terms Generally.  The definitions in 
Section 1.01 shall apply equally to both the singular and plural 
forms of the terms defined.  Whenever the context may require, 
any pronoun shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine 
and neuter forms.  The words "include", "includes" and 
"including" shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase "without 
limitation".  All references herein to Articles, Sections, 



Exhibits and Schedules shall be deemed references to Articles and 
Sections of, and Exhibits and Schedules to, this Agreement unless 
the context shall otherwise require.  Except as otherwise 
expressly provided herein, all terms of an accounting or 
financial nature shall be construed in accordance with GAAP, as 
in effect from time to time; provided, however, that, for 
purposes of determining compliance with any covenant set forth in 
Article VI, such terms shall be construed in accordance with GAAP 
as in effect on the date of this Agreement applied on a basis 
consistent with the application used in the Company's audited 
financial statements referred to in Section 3.04. 
 
II.  THE CREDITS 
 
     SECTION 2.01.  Commitments.  Subject to the terms and 
conditions and relying upon the representations and warranties 
herein set forth, each Bank agrees, severally and not jointly, to 
make Standby Loans to the Company, at any time and from time to 
time on and after the date hereof and until the earlier of the 
Maturity Date and the termination of the Commitment of such Bank, 
in an aggregate principal amount at any time outstanding not to 
exceed such Bank's Commitment subject, however, to the condition 
that at all times the outstanding aggregate principal amount of 
all Standby Loans made by a Bank shall equal the product of 
(i) the percentage which its Commitment represents of the Total 
Commitment times (ii) the outstanding aggregate principal amount 
of all Standby Loans requested by the Company from the Banks 
pursuant to Section 2.03.  Each Bank's Commitment is set forth 
opposite its respective name in Schedule 2.01.  Such Commitments 
may be terminated, reduced or extended from time to time pursuant 
to Section 2.10. 
 
     Within the foregoing limits, the Company may borrow, repay, 
prepay and reborrow hereunder, on and after the date hereof and 
prior to the Maturity Date, subject to the terms, provisions and 
limitations set forth herein. 
 
     SECTION 2.02.  Loans.  (a)  Each Standby Loan shall be made 
as part of a Borrowing consisting of Loans made by the Banks 
ratably in accordance with their Commitments; provided, however, 
that the failure of any Bank to make any Standby Loan shall not 
in itself relieve any other Bank of its obligation to lend 
hereunder (it being understood, however, that no Bank shall be 
responsible for the failure of any other Bank to make any Loan 
required to be made by such other Bank). Standby Loans comprising 
each Borrowing shall be in an aggregate principal amount which is 
an integral multiple of $1,000,000 and not less than $5,000,000 
(or an aggregate principal amount equal to the remaining balance 
of the available Commitments). 
 
     (b)  Each Standby Borrowing shall be comprised entirely of 
Eurodollar Standby Loans, CD Loans or ABR Loans, as the Company 
may request pursuant to Section 2.03.  Each Bank may at its 
option make any Eurodollar Standby Loan by causing any domestic 
or foreign branch or Affiliate of such Bank to make such Loan; 
provided that any exercise of such option shall not affect the 
obligation of the Company to repay such Loan in accordance with 
the terms of this Agreement and the applicable Note.  Borrowings 
of more than one Type may be outstanding at the same time; 
provided, however, that the Company shall not be entitled to 
request any Borrowing which, if made, would result in an 
aggregate of more than ten separate Loans of any Bank being 
outstanding hereunder at any one time.  For purposes of the 
foregoing, Loans having different Interest Periods, regardless of 
whether they commence on the same date, shall be considered 
separate Loans. 
 
     (c)  Subject to Section 2.04, each Bank shall make each Loan 
to be made by it hereunder on the proposed date thereof by wire 
transfer of immediately available funds to the Administrative 
Agent in New York, New York, not later than 12:00 noon, New York 
City time, and the Administrative Agent shall by 3:00 p.m., New 
York City time, credit the amounts so received to the general 
deposit account of the Company with the Administrative Agent or, 
if a Borrowing shall not occur on such date because any condition 
precedent herein specified shall not have been met, return the 
amounts so received to the respective Banks.  Subject to 
Section 2.04, Standby Loans shall be made by the Banks pro rata 
in accordance with Section 2.15.  Unless the Administrative Agent 
shall have received notice from a Bank prior to the date of any 
Borrowing that such Bank will not make available to the 



Administrative Agent such Bank's portion of such Borrowing, the 
Administrative Agent may assume that such Bank has made such 
portion available to the Administrative Agent on the date of such 
Borrowing in accordance with this paragraph (c) and the 
Administrative Agent may, in reliance upon such assumption, make 
available to the Company on such date a corresponding amount.  If 
and to the extent that such Bank shall not have made such portion 
available to the Administrative Agent, such Bank and the Company 
(without prejudice to the Company's rights against the defaulting 
Bank) severally agree to repay to the Administrative Agent 
forthwith on demand such corresponding amount together with 
interest thereon, for each day from the date such amount is made 
available to the Company until the date such amount is repaid to 
the Administrative Agent at (i) in the case of the Company, the 
interest rate applicable at the time to the Loans comprising such 
Borrowing and (ii) in the case of such Bank, the Federal Funds 
Effective Rate.  If such Bank shall repay to the Administrative 
Agent such corresponding amount, such amount shall constitute 
such Bank's Loan as part of such Borrowing for purposes of this 
Agreement. 
 
     (d)  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, 
the Company shall not be entitled to request any Borrowing if the 
Interest Period requested with respect thereto would end after 
the Maturity Date. 
 
     SECTION 2.03.  Standby Borrowing Procedure.  In order to 
request a Standby Borrowing, the Company shall give written or 
telex notice (or telephone notice promptly confirmed in writing 
or by telex) to the Administrative Agent in the form of Exhibit A 
(a) in the case of a Eurodollar Standby Borrowing, not later than 
10:00 a.m., New York City time, three Business Days before a 
proposed borrowing, (b) in the case of a CD Borrowing, not later 
than 10:00 a.m., New York City time, two Business Days before a 
proposed borrowing and (c) in the case of an ABR Borrowing, not 
later than 10:30 a.m., New York City time, on the day of a 
proposed borrowing.  Such notice shall be irrevocable and shall 
in each case refer to this Agreement and specify (i) whether the 
Borrowing then being requested is to be a Eurodollar Standby 
Borrowing, a CD Borrowing or an ABR Borrowing; (ii) the date of 
such Borrowing (which shall be a Business Day) and the amount 
thereof; and (iii) if such Borrowing is to be a Eurodollar 
Standby Borrowing or CD Borrowing, the Interest Period with 
respect thereto.  If no election as to the Type of Borrowing is 
specified in any such notice, then the requested Borrowing shall 
be an ABR Borrowing.  If no Interest Period with respect to any 
Eurodollar Borrowing or CD Borrowing is specified in any such 
notice, then the Company shall be deemed to have selected an 
Interest Period of one month's duration, in the case of a 
Eurodollar Borrowing, or 30 days' duration, in the case of a CD 
Borrowing.  If the Company shall not    have given notice in 
accordance with this Section 2.03 of its election to refinance a 
Standby Borrowing prior to the end of the Interest Period in 
effect for such Borrowing, then the Company shall (unless such 
Borrowing is repaid at the end of such Interest Period) be deemed 
to have given notice of an election to refinance such Borrowing 
with an ABR Borrowing.  The Administrative Agent shall promptly 
advise the Banks of any notice given pursuant to this 
Section 2.03 and of each Bank's portion of the requested 
Borrowing. 
 
     SECTION 2.04.  Refinancings.  The Company may refinance all 
or any part of any Borrowing with a Borrowing of the same or a 
different Type made pursuant to Section 2.03, subject to the 
conditions and limitations set forth herein and elsewhere in this 
Agreement.  Any Borrowing or part thereof so refinanced shall be 
deemed to be repaid in accordance with Section 2.06 with the 
proceeds of a new Borrowing hereunder and the proceeds of the new 
Borrowing, to the extent they do not exceed the principal amount 
of the Borrowing being refinanced, shall not be paid by the Banks 
to the Administrative Agent or by the Administrative Agent to the 
Company pursuant to Section 2.02(c). 
 
     SECTION 2.05.  Fees.  (a)  The Company agrees to pay to each 
Bank, through the Administrative Agent, on each March 31, 
June 30, September 30 and December 31, commencing September 30, 
1994, and on the date on which the Commitment of such Bank shall 
be terminated as provided herein, a facility fee (a "Facility 
Fee") equal to the Facility Fee Percentage of the daily average 
amount of the Commitment of such Lender, whether used or unused, 
during the preceding quarter (or other period commencing with the 



date of this agreement or ending with the Maturity Date or any 
date on which the Commitment of such Bank shall be terminated).  
All Facility Fees shall be computed on the basis of the actual 
number of days elapsed over a 360 day year.  The Facility Fee due 
to each Bank shall commence to accrue on the Closing Date and 
shall cease to accrue on the earlier of the Maturity Date and the 
termination of the Commitment of such Bank as provided herein. 
 
     (b)  The Company agrees to pay the Administrative Agent, for 
its own account, the fees set forth in the Engagement Letter 
dated July 20, 1994, among the Administrative Agent, Chemical 
Securities Inc. and the Company at the times and in the amounts 
set forth therein. 
 
     (c)  All Fees shall be paid on the dates due, in immediately 
available funds, to the Administrative Agent for distribution, if 
and as appropriate, among the Banks.  Once paid, none of the Fees 
shall be refundable under any circumstances. 
 
     SECTION 2.06.  Notes; Repayment of Loans.  The Standby Loans 
made by each Bank shall be evidenced by a single Standby Note 
duly executed on behalf of the Company, dated the Closing Date, 
in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit B with the 
blanks appropriately filled, payable to the order of such Bank in 
a principal amount equal to the Commitment of such Bank.  The 
outstanding principal balance of each Standby Loan, as evidenced 
by the relevant Note, shall be payable on the last day of the 
Interest Period applicable to such Loan and on the Maturity Date.  
Each Note shall bear interest from the date thereof on the 
outstanding principal balance thereof as set forth in 
Section 2.07.  Each Bank shall, and is hereby authorized by the 
Company to, endorse on the schedule attached to the relevant Note 
held by such Bank (or on a continuation of such schedule attached 
to each such Note and made a part thereof), or otherwise to 
record in such Bank's internal records, an appropriate notation 
evidencing the date and amount of each Standby Loan of such Bank, 
each payment or prepayment of principal of any Standby Loan and 
the other information provided for on such schedule; provided, 
however, that the failure of any Bank to make such a notation or 
any error therein shall not in any manner affect the obligation 
of the Company to repay the Standby Loans made by such Bank in 
accordance with the terms of the relevant Note. 
 
     SECTION 2.07.  Interest on Loans.  (a)  Subject to the 
provisions of Section 2.08, the Loans comprising each Eurodollar 
Borrowing shall bear interest (computed on the basis of the 
actual number of days elapsed over a year of 360 days) at a rate 
per annum equal to the Adjusted LIBO Rate for the Interest Period 
in effect for such Borrowing plus the Applicable Spread in effect 
at such time.  
 
     (b)  Subject to the provisions of Section 2.08, the Loans 
comprising each CD Borrowing shall bear interest (computed on the 
basis of the actual number of days elapsed over a year of 
360 days) at a rate per annum equal to the Adjusted CD Rate for 
the Interest Period in effect plus the Applicable Spread in 
effect at such time. 
 
     (c)  Subject to the provisions of Section 2.08, the Loans 
comprising each ABR Borrowing shall bear interest (if the 
Alternate Base Rate is based on the Prime Rate, computed on the 
basis of the actual number of days elapsed over a year of 365 or 
366 days, as the case may be, or if the Alternate Base Rate is 
based on the Base CD Rate or the Federal Funds Effective Rate, 
computed on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed over a 
year of 360 days) at a rate per annum equal to the Alternate Base 
Rate. 
 
     (d)  Interest on each Loan shall be payable on the Interest 
Payment Dates applicable to such Loan except as otherwise 
provided in this Agreement.  The applicable Adjusted LIBO Rate, 
Adjusted CD Rate or Alternate Base Rate for each Interest Period 
or day within an Interest Period, as the case may be, shall be 
determined by the Administrative Agent, and such determination 
shall be conclusive absent manifest error. 
 
     SECTION 2.08.  Default Interest.  If the Company shall 
default in the payment of the principal of or interest on any 
Loan or any other amount becoming due hereunder, by acceleration 
or otherwise, the Company shall on demand from time to time pay 
interest, to the extent permitted by law, on such defaulted 



amount up to (but not including) the date of actual payment 
(after as well as before judgment) at a rate per annum (computed 
on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed over a year of 
360 days) equal to the Alternate Base Rate plus 2%. 
 
     SECTION 2.09.  Alternate Rate of Interest.  (a)  In the 
event, and on each occasion, that on the day two Business Days 
prior to the commencement of any Interest Period for a Eurodollar 
Borrowing the Administrative Agent shall have determined that 
dollar deposits in the principal amounts of the Loans comprising 
such Borrowing are not generally available in the London 
interbank market, or that the rates at which such dollar deposits 
are being offered will not adequately and fairly reflect the cost 
to any Bank of making or maintaining its Eurodollar Standby Loan 
during such Interest Period, or that reasonable means do not 
exist for ascertaining the Adjusted LIBO Rate, the Administrative 
Agent shall, as soon as practicable thereafter, give written or 
telex notice of such determination to the Company and the Banks.  
In the event of any such determination, until the Administrative 
Agent shall have advised the Company and the Banks that the 
circumstances giving rise to such notice no longer exist, any 
request by the Company for a Eurodollar Standby Borrowing 
pursuant to Section 2.03 shall be deemed to be a request for an 
ABR Borrowing.  Each determination by the Administrative Agent 
hereunder shall be conclusive absent manifest error. 
 
     (b)  In the event, and on each occasion, that on or before 
the day on which the Adjusted CD Rate for a CD Borrowing is to be 
determined the Administrative Agent shall have determined that 
such Adjusted CD Rate cannot be determined for any reason, 
including the inability of the Agent to obtain sufficient bids in 
accordance with the terms of the definition of Fixed CD Rate, or 
the Agent shall determine that the Adjusted CD Rate for such CD 
Borrowing will not adequately and fairly reflect the cost to any 
Bank of making or maintaining its CD Loan during such Interest 
Period, the Administrative Agent shall, as soon as practicable 
thereafter, give written or telex notice of such determination to 
the Company and the Banks.  In the event of any such 
determination, any request by the Company for a CD Borrowing 
pursuant to Section 2.03 shall, until the Administrative Agent 
shall have advised the Company and the Banks that the 
circumstances giving rise to such notice no longer exist, be 
deemed to be a request for an ABR Borrowing.  Each determination 
by the Administrative Agent hereunder shall be conclusive absent 
manifest error. 
 
     SECTION 2.10.  Termination, Reduction and Extension of 
Commitments.  (a)  The Commitments shall be automatically 
terminated on the Maturity Date. 
 
     (b)  Upon at least three Business Days' prior irrevocable 
written or telex notice to the Administrative Agent, the Company 
may at any time in whole permanently terminate, or from time to 
time in part permanently reduce, the Commitments; provided, 
however, that each partial reduction of the Commitments shall be 
in an integral multiple of $1,000,000 and in a minimum principal 
amount of $10,000,000. 
 
     (c)  Each reduction in the Commitments hereunder shall be 
made ratably among the Banks in accordance with their respective 
applicable Commitments.  The Company shall pay to the 
Administrative Agent for the account of the Banks, on the date of 
each termination or reduction, the Facility Fees on the amount of 
the Commitments so terminated or reduced accrued through the date 
of such termination or reduction. 
 
     (d)  Not later than the date 45 days prior to (i) the first 
anniversary of the date hereof or (ii) any anniversary of the 
date hereof during the 45 days prior to which the Commitments 
shall have been extended as provided in this paragraph (d), the 
Company may deliver to the Administrative Agent (which shall 
promptly transmit to each Bank) a notice requesting that the 
Commitments be extended to the first anniversary of the Maturity 
Date at the time in effect.  Within 30 days after its receipt of 
any such notice, each Bank shall notify the Administrative Agent 
of its willingness or unwillingness so to extend its Commitment.  
In the event each Bank shall be willing to extend its Commitment, 
the Administrative Agent shall so notify the Company and each 
Bank and the Maturity Date shall without further act be extended 
to the first anniversary of the date which shall theretofore have 
been the Maturity Date. 



 
     SECTION 2.11.  Prepayment.  (a)  The Company shall have the 
right at any time and from time to time to prepay any Standby 
Borrowing, in whole or in part, upon at least three Business 
Days' prior written or telex notice (or telephone notice promptly 
confirmed by written or telex notice) to the Administrative 
Agent; provided, however, that each partial prepayment shall be 
in an amount which is an integral multiple of $1,000,000 and not 
less than $5,000,000. 
 
     (b)  On the date of any termination or reduction of the 
Commitments pursuant to Section 2.10, the Company shall pay or 
prepay so much of the Standby Borrowings as shall be necessary in 
order that the aggregate principal amount of the Loans 
outstanding will not exceed the aggregate Commitments after 
giving effect to such termination or reduction. 
 
     (c)  Each notice of prepayment shall specify the prepayment 
date and the principal amount of each Borrowing (or portion 
thereof) to be prepaid, shall be irrevocable and shall commit the 
Company to prepay such Borrowing by the amount stated therein on 
the date stated therein.  All prepayments under this Section 2.11 
shall be subject to Section 2.14 but otherwise without premium or 
penalty.  All prepayments under this Section 2.11 shall be 
accompanied by accrued interest on the principal amount being 
prepaid to the date of payment. 
 
     SECTION 2.12.  Reserve Requirements; Change in 
Circumstances. (a)  Notwithstanding any other provision herein, 
if after the date of this Agreement any change in applicable law 
or regulation or in the interpretation or administration thereof 
by any governmental authority charged with the interpretation or 
administration thereof (whether or not having the force of law) 
shall change the basis of taxation of payments to any Bank of the 
principal of or interest on any Eurodollar Standby Loan or CD 
Loan made by such Bank or any other fees or amounts payable 
hereunder (other than changes in respect of taxes imposed on the 
overall net income of such Bank by the jurisdiction in which such 
Bank has its principal office or by any political subdivision or 
taxing authority therein), shall impose, modify or deem 
applicable any reserve, special deposit or similar requirement 
against assets of, deposits with or for the account of or credit 
extended by, such Bank (except any reserve requirement reflected 
in the Adjusted LIBO Rate), or shall impose on such Bank or the 
London interbank market any other condition affecting this 
Agreement or any Eurodollar Standby Loan or CD Loan made by such 
Bank, and the result of any of the foregoing shall be to increase 
the cost to such Bank of making or maintaining any Eurodollar 
Standby Loan or CD Loan or to reduce the amount of any sum 
received or receivable by such Bank hereunder (whether of 
principal, interest or otherwise) in respect thereof by an amount 
deemed by such Bank to be material, then the Company shall pay to 
such Bank upon demand such additional amount or amounts as will 
compensate such Bank for such additional cost incurred or 
reduction suffered. 
 
     (b)  If any Bank shall have determined that the 
applicability of any law, rule, regulation or guideline adopted 
pursuant to or arising out of the July 1988 report of the Basle 
Committee on Banking Regulations and Supervisory Practices 
entitled "International Convergence of Capital Measurement and 
Capital Standards", or the adoption after the date hereof of any 
other law, rule, regulation or guideline regarding capital 
adequacy, or any change in any of the foregoing or in the 
interpretation or administration of any of the foregoing by any 
governmental authority, central bank or comparable agency charged 
with the interpretation or administration thereof, or compliance 
by any Bank (or any lending office of such Bank) or any Bank's 
holding company with any request or directive regarding capital 
adequacy (whether or not having the force of law) of any such 
authority, central bank or comparable agency, has or would have 
the effect of reducing the rate of return on such Bank's capital 
or on the capital of such Bank's holding company, if any, as a 
consequence of this Agreement or the Loans made by such Bank 
pursuant hereto to a level below that which such Bank or such 
Bank's holding company could have achieved but for such adoption, 
change or compliance (taking into consideration such Bank's 
policies and the policies of such Bank's holding company with 
respect to capital adequacy) by an amount deemed by such Bank to 
be material, then from time to time the Company shall pay to such 
Bank such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such 



Bank or such Bank's holding company for any such reduction 
suffered. 
 
     (c)  A certificate of a Bank setting forth such amount or 
amounts as shall be necessary to compensate such Bank (or 
participating banks or other entities pursuant to Section 9.04) 
as specified in paragraph (a) or (b) above, as the case may be, 
shall be delivered to the Company and shall be conclusive absent 
manifest error.  The Company shall pay each Bank the amount shown 
as due on any such certificate delivered by it within 10 days 
after its receipt of the same. 
 
     (d)  Failure on the part of any Bank to demand compensation 
for any increased costs or reduction in amounts received or 
receivable or reduction in return on capital with respect to any 
period shall not constitute a waiver of such Bank's right with 
respect to such period or any other period.  The protection of 
this Section shall be available to each Bank regardless of any 
possible contention of invalidity or inapplicability of the law, 
rule, regulation, guideline or other change or condition which 
shall have been imposed. 
 
     SECTION 2.13.  Change in Legality.  (a)  Notwithstanding any 
other provision herein, if any change in any law or regulation or 
in the interpretation thereof by any Governmental Authority 
charged with the administration or interpretation thereof shall 
make it unlawful for any Bank to make or maintain any Eurodollar 
Standby Loan or to give effect to its obligations as contemplated 
hereby with respect to any Eurodollar Standby Loan, then, by 
written notice to the Company and to the Administrative Agent, 
such Bank may: 
 
          (i)  declare that Eurodollar Standby Loans will not 
     thereafter be made by such Bank hereunder, whereupon any 
     request by the Company for a Eurodollar Standby Borrowing 
     shall, as to such Bank only, be deemed a request for an ABR 
     Loan unless such declaration shall be subsequently 
     withdrawn; and 
 
          (ii) require that all outstanding Eurodollar Standby 
     Loans made by it be converted to ABR Loans, in which event 
     all such Eurodollar Standby Loans shall be automatically 
     converted to ABR Loans as of the effective date of such 
     notice as provided in paragraph (b) below. 
 
In the event any Bank shall exercise its rights under (i) or 
(ii) above, all payments and prepayments of principal which would 
otherwise have been applied to repay the Eurodollar Standby Loans 
that would have been made by such Bank or the converted 
Eurodollar Standby Loans of such Bank shall instead be applied to 
repay the ABR Loans made by such Bank in lieu of, or resulting 
from the conversion of, such Eurodollar Standby Loans. 
 
     (b)  For purposes of this Section 2.13, a notice to the 
Company by any Bank shall be effective as to each Eurodollar 
Standby Loan, if lawful, on the last day of the Interest Period 
currently applicable to such Eurodollar Standby Loan; in all 
other cases such notice shall be effective on the date of receipt 
by the Company. 
 
     SECTION 2.14.  Indemnity.  The Company shall indemnify each 
Bank against any loss or expense which such Bank may sustain or 
incur as a consequence of (a) any failure by the Company to 
fulfill on the date of any borrowing hereunder the applicable 
conditions set forth in Article IV, (b) any failure by the 
Company to borrow or to refinance or continue any Loan hereunder 
after irrevocable notice of such borrowing, refinancing or 
continuation has been given pursuant to Section 2.03, (c) any 
payment, prepayment or conversion of a Eurodollar Standby Loan or 
CD Loan required by any other provision of this Agreement or 
otherwise made or deemed made on a date other than the last day 
of the Interest Period applicable thereto, (d) any default in 
payment or prepayment of the principal amount of any Loan or any 
part thereof or interest accrued thereon, as and when due and 
payable (at the due date thereof, by irrevocable notice of 
prepayment or otherwise) or (e) the occurrence of any Event of 
Default, including, in each such case, any loss or reasonable 
expense sustained or incurred or to be sustained or incurred in 
liquidating or employing deposits from third parties acquired to 
effect or maintain such Loan or any part thereof as a Eurodollar 
Standby Loan or CD Loan.  Such loss or reasonable expense shall 



include an amount equal to the excess, if any, as reasonably 
determined by such Bank, of (i) its cost of obtaining the funds 
for the Loan being paid, prepaid, converted or not borrowed 
(based on the Adjusted LIBO Rate or Adjusted CD Rate for the 
period from the date of such payment, prepayment, conversion or 
failure to borrow to the last day of the Interest Period for such 
Loan (or, in the case of a failure to borrow, the Interest Period 
for such Loan which would have commenced on the date of such 
failure) over (ii) the amount of interest (as reasonably 
determined by such Bank) that would be realized by such Bank in 
reemploying the funds so paid, prepaid, converted or not borrowed 
for such period or Interest Period, as the case may be.  A 
certificate of any Bank setting forth any amount or amounts which 
such Bank is entitled to receive pursuant to this Section shall 
be delivered to the Company and shall be conclusive absent 
manifest error. 
 
     SECTION 2.15.  Pro Rata Treatment.  Except as required under 
Sections 2.12 and 2.13, each Standby Borrowing, each payment or 
prepayment of principal of any Standby Borrowing, each payment of 
interest on the Standby Loans, each payment of the Facility Fees, 
each reduction of the Commitments and each refinancing of any 
Borrowing with a Standby Borrowing of any Type, shall be 
allocated pro rata among the Banks in accordance with their 
respective Commitments (or, if such Commitments shall have 
expired or been terminated, in accordance with the respective 
principal amounts of their outstanding Standby Loans).  Each Bank 
agrees that in computing such Bank's portion of any Borrowing to 
be made hereunder, the Administrative Agent may, in its 
discretion, round each Bank's percentage of such Borrowing to the 
next higher or lower whole dollar amount. 
 
     SECTION 2.16.  Sharing of Setoffs.  Each Bank agrees that if 
it shall, through the exercise of a right of banker's lien, 
setoff or counterclaim against the Company, or pursuant to a 
secured claim under Section 506 of Title 11 of the United States 
Code or other security or interest arising from, or in lieu of, 
such secured claim, received by such Bank under any applicable 
bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law or otherwise, or by 
any other means, obtain payment (voluntary or involuntary) in 
respect of any Loan or Loans as a result of which the unpaid 
principal portion of its Loans shall be proportionately less than 
the unpaid principal portion of the Loans of any other Bank, it 
shall promptly purchase from such other Bank at face value a 
participation in the Loans of such other Bank, so that the 
aggregate unpaid principal amount of the Loans and participations 
in Loans held by each Bank shall be in the same proportion to the 
aggregate unpaid principal amount of all Loans then outstanding 
as the principal amount of its Loans prior to such exercise of 
banker's lien, setoff or counterclaim or other event was to the 
principal amount of all Loans outstanding prior to such exercise 
of banker's lien, setoff or counterclaim or other event; 
provided, however, that, if any such purchase or purchases or 
adjustments shall be made pursuant to this Section and the 
payment giving rise thereto shall thereafter be recovered, such 
purchase or purchases or adjustments shall be rescinded to the 
extent of such recovery and the purchase price or prices or 
adjustment restored without interest.  The Company expressly 
consents to the foregoing arrangements and agrees that any Bank 
holding a participation in a Loan deemed to have been so 
purchased may exercise any and all rights of banker's lien, 
setoff or counterclaim with respect to any and all moneys owing 
by the Company to such Bank by reason thereof as fully as if such 
Bank had made a Loan directly to the Company in the amount of 
such participation. 
 
     SECTION 2.17.  Payments.  (a)  The Company shall make each 
payment (including principal of or interest on any Borrowing or 
any Fees or other amounts) hereunder and under any other Loan 
Document not later than 12:00 (noon), New York City time, on the 
date when due in dollars to the Administrative Agent at its 
offices at 270 Park Avenue, New York, New York, in immediately 
available funds. 
 
     (b)  Whenever any payment (including principal of or 
interest on any Borrowing or any Fees or other amounts) hereunder 
or under any other Loan Document shall become due, or otherwise 
would occur, on a day that is not a Business Day, such payment 
may be made on the next succeeding Business Day, and such 
extension of time shall in such case be included in the 
computation of interest or Fees, if applicable. 



 
     SECTION 2.18.  Taxes.  (a)  Any and all payments by the 
Company hereunder shall be made, in accordance with Section 2.17, 
free and clear of and without deduction for any and all present 
or future taxes, levies, imposts, deductions, charges or 
withholdings, and all liabilities with respect thereto, excluding 
taxes imposed on the Administrative Agent's or any Bank's income, 
and franchise taxes imposed on the Administrative Agent or any 
Bank, by the United States or any jurisdiction under the laws of 
which it is organized or any political subdivision thereof (all 
such nonexcluded taxes, levies, imposts, deductions, charges, 
withholdings and liabilities being hereinafter referred to as 
"Taxes").  If the Company shall be required by law to deduct any 
Taxes from or in respect of any sum payable hereunder to the 
Banks or the Administrative Agent (i) the sum payable shall be 
increased by the amount necessary so that after making all 
required deductions (including deductions applicable to 
additional sums payable under this Section 2.18) such Bank or the 
Administrative Agent (as the case may be) shall receive an amount 
equal to the sum it would have received had no such deductions 
been made, (ii) the Company shall make such deductions and 
(iii) the Company shall pay the full amount deducted to the 
relevant taxing authority or other Governmental Authority in 
accordance with applicable law. 
 
     (b)  In addition, the Company agrees to pay any present or 
future stamp or documentary taxes or any other excise or property 
taxes, charges or similar levies which arise from any payment 
made hereunder or from the execution, delivery or registration 
of, or otherwise with respect to, this Agreement or any other 
Loan Document (hereinafter referred to as "Other Taxes"). 
 
     (c)  The Company will indemnify each Bank and the 
Administrative Agent for the full amount of Taxes and Other Taxes 
(including any Taxes or Other Taxes imposed by any jurisdiction 
on amounts payable under this Section 2.18) paid by such Bank or 
the Administrative Agent, as the case may be, and any liability 
(including penalties, interest and expenses) arising therefrom or 
with respect thereto, whether or not such Taxes or Other Taxes 
were correctly or legally asserted by the relevant taxing 
authority or other Governmental Authority.  Such indemnification 
shall be made within 30 days after the date any Bank or the 
Administrative Agent, as the case may be, makes written demand 
therefor.  If a Bank or the Administrative Agent shall become 
aware that it is entitled to receive a refund in respect of Taxes 
or Other Taxes, it shall promptly notify the Company of the 
availability of such refund and shall, within 30 days after 
receipt of a request by the Company, apply for such refund at the 
Company's expense.  If any Bank or the Administrative Agent 
receives a refund in respect of any Taxes or Other Taxes for 
which such Bank or the Administrative Agent has received payment 
from the Company hereunder it shall promptly notify the Company 
of such refund and shall, within 30 days after receipt of a 
request by the Company (or promptly upon receipt, if the Company 
has requested application for such refund pursuant hereto), repay 
such refund to the Company without interest, provided that the 
Company, upon the request of such Bank or the Administrative 
Agent, agrees to return such refund (plus penalties, interest or 
other charges) to such Bank or the Administrative Agent in the 
event such Bank or the Administrative Agent is required to repay 
such refund. 
 
     (d)  Within 30 days after the date of any payment of Taxes 
or Other Taxes withheld by the Company in respect of any payment 
to any Bank or the Administrative Agent, the Company will furnish 
to the Administrative Agent, at its address referred to in Sec- 
tion 2.17, the original or a certified copy of a receipt 
evidencing payment thereof. 
 
     (e)  Without prejudice to the survival of any other 
agreement contained herein, the agreements and obligations 
contained in this Section 2.18 shall survive the payment in full 
of the principal of and interest on all Loans made hereunder. 
 
     (f)  Each Bank which is organized outside the United States 
shall promptly notify the Company of any change in its funding 
office and upon written request of the Company shall, prior to 
the immediately following due date of any payment by the Company 
hereunder, deliver to the Company such certificates, documents or 
other evidence, as required by the Code or Treasury Regulations 
issued pursuant thereto, including Internal Revenue Service 



Form 4224 and any other certificate or statement of exemption 
required by Treasury Regulation Section 1.1441-1(a) or Sec- 
tion 1.1441-6(c) or any subsequent version thereof, properly 
completed and duly executed by such Bank establishing that such 
payment is (i) not subject to withholding under the Code because 
such payment is effectively connected with the conduct by such 
Bank of a trade or business in the United States or (ii) totally 
exempt from United States tax under a provision of an applicable 
tax treaty.  Unless the Company and the Administrative Agent have 
received forms or other documents satisfactory to them indicating 
that payments hereunder or under the Notes are not subject to 
United States withholding tax or are subject to such tax at a 
rate reduced by an applicable tax treaty, the Company or the 
Administrative Agent shall withhold taxes from such payments at 
the applicable statutory rate in the case of payments to or for 
any Bank or assignee organized under the laws of a jurisdiction 
outside the United States. 
 
     (g)  Any Bank claiming any additional amounts payable 
pursuant to this Section 2.18 shall use reasonable efforts 
(consistent with legal and regulatory restrictions) to file any 
certificate or document requested by the Company or to change the 
jurisdiction of its applicable lending office if the making of 
such a filing or change would avoid the need for or reduce the 
amount of any such additional amounts which may thereafter accrue 
and would not, in the sole determination of such Bank, be 
otherwise disadvantageous to such Bank. 
 
III. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 
 
     The Company represents and warrants to each of the Banks 
that: 
 
     SECTION 3.01.  Organization; Powers.  Each of the Company 
and the Subsidiaries (a) is a corporation duly organized, validly 
existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction 
of its organization, (b) has all requisite power and authority to 
own its property and assets and to carry on its business as now 
conducted and as proposed to be conducted, (c) is qualified to do 
business in every jurisdiction where such qualification is 
required, except where the failure so to qualify would not result 
in a Material Adverse Effect, and (d) in the case of the Company, 
has the corporate power and authority to execute, deliver and 
perform its obligations under each of the Loan Documents and each 
other agreement or instrument contemplated thereby to which it is 
or will be a party and to borrow hereunder. 
 
     SECTION 3.02.  Authorization.  The execution, delivery and 
performance by the Company of each of the Loan Documents, the 
actions taken by the Company in connection with the borrowings 
hereunder (the "Transactions") (a) have been duly authorized by 
all requisite corporate and, if required, stockholder action and 
(b) will not (i) violate (A) any provision of law, statute, rule 
or regulation, or of the certificate or articles of incorporation 
or other constitutive documents or by-laws of the Company or any 
Subsidiary, (B) any order of any Governmental Authority 
applicable to the Company or (C) any provision of any indenture, 
agreement or other instrument to which the Company or any 
Subsidiary is a party or by which any of them or any of their 
property is or may be bound, (ii) be in conflict with, result in 
a breach of or constitute (alone or with notice or lapse of time 
or both) a default under any such indenture, agreement or other 
instrument or (iii) result in the creation or imposition of any 
Lien upon any property or assets of the Company or any Subsidiary 
except Liens set forth on Schedule 6.01. 
 
     SECTION 3.03.  Enforceability.  This Agreement has been duly 
executed and delivered by the Company and constitutes, and each 
other Loan Document when executed and delivered by the Company 
will constitute, a legal, valid and binding obligation of the 
Company enforceable against the Company in accordance with its 
terms. 
 
     SECTION 3.04.  Financial Statements.  The Company has 
heretofore furnished to the Banks (a) consolidated balance sheets 
and statements of income and changes in stockholders' equity and 
cash flows as of and for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1993, 
audited by and accompanied by the opinion of Coopers & Lybrand, 
independent public accountants, and (b)its consolidated balance 
sheets and statements of income and consolidated statement of 
cash flows as of and for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 1994, 



certified by its chief financial officer.  Such financial 
statements present fairly the financial condition and results of 
operations of the Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries as of 
such dates and for such periods.  Such balance sheets and notes 
thereto disclose all material liabilities, direct or contingent, 
of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of the dates thereof.  
Such financial statements were prepared in accordance with GAAP 
applied on a consistent basis. 
 
     SECTION 3.05.  No Material Adverse Change.  There has been 
no material adverse change in the business, assets, operations, 
prospects or condition, financial or otherwise,  of the Company 
and the Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, since March 31, 1994. 
 
     SECTION 3.06.  Title to Properties and Possession Under 
Leases.  (a)  Each of the Company and the Subsidiaries will, on 
the Closing Date and at all times thereafter, have good and 
marketable title to, or valid leasehold interests in, all its 
material properties and assets, except for minor defects in title 
that do not interfere with its ability to conduct its business as 
currently conducted or to utilize such properties and assets for 
their intended purposes and except for Liens permitted by 
Section 6.01.  All such material properties and assets are free 
and clear of Liens, other than Liens expressly permitted by 
Section 6.01. 
 
     (b)  Each of the Company and the Subsidiaries (or their 
respective predecessors) has complied with all obligations under 
all material leases to which it is a party and all such leases 
are in full force and effect.  Each of the Company and the 
Subsidiaries enjoys peaceful and undisturbed possession under all 
such material leases. 
 
     SECTION 3.07.  The Subsidiaries and the Company.  
Schedule 3.07 sets forth as of the Closing Date a list of all 
Subsidiaries and the percentage ownership interest of the Company 
therein. 
 
     SECTION 3.08.  Litigation; Compliance with Laws.  
(a)  Except as set forth in Schedule 3.08, there are not any 
actions, suits or proceedings at law or in equity or by or before 
any Governmental Authority now pending or, to the knowledge of 
the Company, threatened against or affecting the Company or any 
Subsidiary or any business, property or rights of any such person 
(i) which involve any Loan Document or the Transactions or 
(ii) as to which there is a reasonable possibility of an adverse 
determination and which, if adversely determined, could, 
individually or in the aggregate, result in a Material Adverse 
Effect. 
 
     (b)  Neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries is in 
violation of any law, rule or regulation, or in default with 
respect to any judgment, writ, injunction or decree of any 
Governmental Authority, where such violation or default could 
result in a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
     SECTION 3.09.  Agreements.  (a)  Neither the Company nor any 
of the Subsidiaries is a party to any agreement or instrument or 
subject to any corporate restriction that has resulted or, in the 
absence of a material default by the Company or such Subsidiary, 
could result in a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
     (b)  Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is in 
default in any manner under any provision of any indenture or 
other agreement or instrument evidencing Indebtedness, or any 
other material agreement or instrument to which it is a party or 
by which it or any of its properties or assets are or may be 
bound, where such default could result in a Material Adverse 
Effect. 
 
     SECTION 3.10.  Federal Reserve Regulations.  (a)  Neither 
the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries is engaged principally, 
or as one of its important activities, in the business of 
extending credit for the purpose of purchasing or carrying Margin 
Stock. 
 
     (b)  No part of the proceeds of any Loan will be used, 
whether directly or indirectly, and whether immediately, 
incidentally or ultimately, for any purpose which entails a 
violation of, or which is inconsistent with, the provisions of 
the Regulations of the Board, including Regulation G, U or X. 



 
     SECTION 3.11.  Investment Company Act; Public Utility 
Holding Company Act.  Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary is 
(a) an "investment company" as defined in, or subject to 
regulation under, the Investment Company Act of 1940 or (b) a 
"holding company" as defined in, or subject to regulation under, 
the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935. 
 
     SECTION 3.12.  Use of Proceeds.  The Company will use the 
proceeds of the Loans only for the purposes specified in the 
preamble to this Agreement. 
 
     SECTION 3.13.  Tax Returns.  Each of the Company and the 
Subsidiaries has filed or caused to be filed all Federal, state 
and local tax returns required to have been filed by it and has 
paid or caused to be paid all taxes shown to be due and payable 
on such returns or on any assessments received by it, except 
taxes that are being contested in accordance with Section 5.03. 
 
     SECTION 3.14.  No Material Misstatements.  No information, 
report, financial statement, exhibit or schedule furnished by or 
on behalf of the Company to the Administrative Agent or any Bank 
in connection with the negotiation of any Loan Document or 
included therein or delivered pursuant thereto contained, 
contains or will contain any material misstatement of fact or 
omitted, omits or will omit to state any material fact necessary 
to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances 
under which they were, are or will be made, not misleading. 
 
     SECTION 3.15.  Employee Benefit Plans.  Each of the Company 
and its ERISA Affiliates is in compliance in all material 
respects with the applicable provisions of ERISA and the 
regulations and published interpretations thereunder.  No 
Reportable Event has occurred as to which the Company or any 
ERISA Affiliate was required to file a report with the PBGC, and 
the present value of all benefit liabilities under each Plan 
(based on those assumptions used to fund such Plan) did not, as 
of the last annual valuation date applicable thereto, exceed by 
more than $1,000,000 the value of the assets of such Plan.  
Neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate has incurred any 
Withdrawal Liability that could result in a Material Adverse 
Effect.  Neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate has received 
any notification that any Multiemployer Plan is in reorganization 
or has been terminated within the meaning of Title IV of ERISA, 
and no Multiemployer Plan is reasonably expected to be in 
reorganization or to be terminated where such reorganization or 
termination has resulted or could reasonably be expected to 
result, through increases in the contributions required to be 
made to such Plan or otherwise, in a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
     SECTION 3.16.  Environmental Matters.  Each of the Company 
and the Subsidiaries, and each of their respective businesses, 
has complied in all material respects with all Federal, state, 
local and other statutes, ordinances, orders, judgments, rulings 
and regulations relating to environmental pollution or to 
environmental regulation or control.  Neither the Company nor any 
Subsidiary has received notice of any failure so to comply which 
alone or together with any other such failure could result in a 
Material Adverse Effect.  The Company's and the Subsidiaries' 
plants do not manage any hazardous wastes, hazardous substances, 
hazardous materials, toxic substances or toxic pollutants, as 
those terms are used in the Resource Conservation and Recovery 
Act, the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and 
Liability Act, the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, the 
Toxic Substance Control Act, the Clean Air Act or the Clean Water 
Act, in violation of any regulations promulgated pursuant thereto 
or in any other applicable law where such violation could result, 
individually or together with other violations, in a Material 
Adverse Effect. 
 
     SECTION 3.17.  Solvency.  On the date hereof and on the date 
of each Borrowing hereunder after giving effect to each Loan to 
be made and the use of the proceeds thereof, (a) the fair salable 
value of the assets of the Company will exceed the amount that 
will be required to be paid on or in respect of the existing 
debts and other liabilities (including contingent liabilities) of 
the Company as they mature; (b) the assets of the Company will 
not constitute unreasonably small capital to carry out its 
business as conducted or as proposed to be conducted; and (c) the 
Company will not intend to, and will not believe that it will, 
incur debts beyond its ability to pay such debts as they mature 



(taking into account the timing and amounts of cash to be 
received by it and the amounts to be payable on or in respect of 
its obligations). 
 
IV.  CONDITIONS OF LENDING 
 
     SECTION 4.01.  All Borrowings.  The obligations of the Banks 
to make Loans hereunder on the date of each Borrowing hereunder, 
including each Borrowing in which Loans are refinanced with new 
Loans as contemplated by Section 2.04, shall be subject to 
satisfaction of the following conditions precedent: 
 
          (a)  The Administrative Agent shall have received a 
     notice of such Borrowing as required by Section 2.03. 
 
          (b)  The representations and warranties set forth in 
     Article III (excluding, in the case of a refinancing of a 
     Standby Borrowing with a new Standby Borrowing that does not 
     increase the aggregate principal amount of the Loans of any 
     Bank outstanding, the representations set forth in 
     Sections 3.05 and 3.08(a)) shall be true and correct in all 
     material respects on and as of the date of such Borrowing 
     with the same effect as if made on and as of such date, 
     except to the extent that such representations and 
     warranties expressly relate to an earlier date. 
 
          (c)  The Company shall be in compliance with all the 
     terms and provisions set forth herein on its part to be 
     observed or performed, and at the time of and immediately 
     after such Borrowing no Event of Default or Default shall 
     have occurred and be continuing. 
 
          (d)  Each Bank that shall not have previously received 
     an appropriate Note shall have received a duly executed 
     Standby Note payable to its order and otherwise complying 
     with the provisions of Section 2.06. 
 
Each Borrowing shall be deemed to constitute a representation and 
warranty by the Company on the date of such Borrowing as to the 
matters specified in paragraphs (b) and (c) of this Section 4.01. 
 
     SECTION 4.02.  Effectiveness of Agreement.  The obligations 
of the Banks to make Loans hereunder shall be subject to 
satisfaction on the Closing Date of the following additional 
conditions precedent: 
 
          (a)  Each Bank shall have received a duly executed 
     Standby Note complying with the provisions of Section 2.06. 
 
          (b)  The Administrative Agent shall have received a 
     favorable written opinion of Nancy M. Taylor, Esq. dated the 
     Closing Date and addressed to the Banks, to the effect set 
     forth in Exhibit E hereto. 
 
          (c)  All legal matters incident to this Agreement and 
     the borrowings hereunder shall be satisfactory to the Banks 
     and their counsel and to Cravath, Swaine & Moore, counsel 
     for the Administrative Agent. 
 
          (d)  The Administrative Agent shall have received (i) a 
     copy of the certificate or articles of incorporation, 
     including all amendments thereto, of the Company, certified 
     as of a recent date by the Secretary of State of the state 
     of its organization, and a certificate as to the good 
     standing of the Company as of a recent date, from such 
     Secretary of State; (ii) a certificate of the Secretary or 
     Assistant Secretary of the Company dated the Closing Date 
     and certifying (A) that attached thereto is a true and 
     complete copy of the by-laws of the Company as in effect on 
     the Closing Date and at all times since a date prior to the 
     date of the resolutions described in clause (B) below, 
     (B) that attached thereto is a true and complete copy of 
     resolutions duly adopted by the Board of Directors of the 
     Company authorizing the execution, delivery and performance 
     of the Loan Documents and the borrowings hereunder, and that 
     such resolutions have not been modified, rescinded or 
     amended and are in full force and effect, (C) that the 
     certificate or articles of incorporation of the Company have 
     not been amended since the date of the last amendment 
     thereto shown on the certificate of good standing furnished 
     pursuant to clause (i) above, and (D) as to the incumbency 



     and specimen signature of each officer executing any Loan 
     Document or any other document delivered in connection 
     herewith on behalf of the Company; (iii) a certificate of 
     another officer as to the incumbency and specimen signature 
     of the Secretary or Assistant Secretary executing the 
     certificate pursuant to (ii) above; and (iv) such other 
     documents as the Banks or their counsel or Cravath, Swaine & 
     Moore, counsel for the Administrative Agent, may reasonably 
     request. 
 
          (e)  The Administrative Agent shall have received a 
     certificate, dated the Closing Date and signed by a 
     Financial Officer of the Company, confirming compliance with 
     the conditions precedent set forth in paragraphs (b) and (c) 
     of Section 4.01. 
 
          (f)  The commitments under the Competitive Advance and 
     Revolving Credit Facility Agreement dated as of June 16, 
     1989, and amended as of June 8, 1992, among the Company, the 
     lenders party thereto and Chemical, as agent, shall have 
     been terminated and all principal, interest and other 
     amounts outstanding thereunder shall have been paid in full. 
 
V.   AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS 
 
     The Company covenants and agrees with each Bank and the 
Agents that so long as this Agreement shall remain in effect or 
the principal of or interest on any Loan, any Fees or any other 
expenses or amounts payable under any Loan Document shall be 
unpaid, unless the Required Banks shall otherwise consent in 
writing, the Company will, and will cause each of the 
Subsidiaries to: 
 
     SECTION 5.01.  Existence; Businesses and Properties; 
Compliance.  (a)  Do or cause to be done all things necessary to 
preserve, renew and keep in full force and effect its legal 
existence, except as otherwise expressly permitted under 
Section 6.04. 
 
     (b)  Do or cause to be done all things necessary to obtain, 
preserve, renew, extend and keep in full force and effect the 
rights, licenses, permits, franchises, authorizations, patents, 
copyrights, trademarks and trade names material to the conduct of 
its business; maintain and operate such business in substantially 
the manner in which it is presently conducted and operated; 
comply in all material respects with all applicable laws, rules, 
regulations and orders of any Governmental Authority, whether now 
in effect or hereafter enacted; and at all times maintain and 
preserve all property material to the conduct of such business 
and keep such property in good repair, working order and 
condition and from time to time make, or cause to be made, all 
needful and proper repairs, renewals, additions, improvements and 
replacements thereto necessary in order that the business carried 
on in connection therewith may be properly conducted at all 
times. 
 
     SECTION 5.02.  Insurance.  Keep its insurable properties 
adequately insured at all times by financially sound and 
reputable insurers; maintain such other insurance, to such extent 
and against such risks, including fire and other risks insured 
against by extended coverage, as is customary with companies in 
the same or similar businesses, including public liability 
insurance against claims for personal injury or death or property 
damage occurring upon, in, about or in connection with the use of 
any properties owned, occupied or controlled by it; and maintain 
such other insurance as may be required by law. 
 
     SECTION 5.03.  Obligations and Taxes.  Pay its Indebtedness 
and other obligations promptly and in accordance with their terms 
and pay and discharge promptly all taxes, assessments and 
governmental charges or levies imposed upon it or upon its income 
or profits or in respect of its property, before the same shall 
become delinquent or in default, as well as all lawful claims for 
labor, materials and supplies or otherwise which, if unpaid, 
might give rise to a Lien upon such properties or any part 
thereof; provided, however, that such payment and discharge shall 
not be required with respect to any such tax, assessment, charge, 
levy or claim so long as the validity or amount thereof shall be 
contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and the 
Company shall have set aside on its books adequate reserves with 
respect thereto. 



 
     SECTION 5.04.  Financial Statements, Reports, etc.  In the 
case of the Company, furnish to the Administrative Agent and each 
Bank: 
 
          (a)  within 90 days after the end of each fiscal year, 
     its consolidated balance sheets and related statements of 
     income and cash flows, showing the financial condition of 
     the Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries as of the 
     close of such fiscal year and the results of its operations 
     and the operations of such Subsidiaries during such year, 
     all audited by Coopers & Lybrand or other independent public 
     accountants of recognized national standing acceptable to 
     the Required Banks and accompanied by an opinion of such 
     accountants (which shall not be qualified in any material 
     respect) to the effect that such consolidated financial 
     statements fairly present the financial condition and 
     results of operations of the Company on a consolidated basis 
     in accordance with GAAP; 
 
          (b)  within 45 days after the end of each of the first 
     three fiscal quarters of each fiscal year, its consolidated 
     balance sheets and related statements of income and cash 
     flows, showing the financial condition of the Company and 
     its consolidated Subsidiaries as of the close of such fiscal 
     quarter and the results of its operations and the operations 
     of such Subsidiaries during such fiscal quarter and the then 
     elapsed portion of the fiscal year, all certified by one of 
     its Financial Officers as fairly presenting the financial 
     condition and results of operations of the Company on a 
     consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP, subject to 
     normal year-end audit adjustments; 
 
          (c)  concurrently with any delivery of financial 
     statements under (a) or (b) above, a certificate of the 
     accounting firm or Financial Officer opining on or 
     certifying such statements (which certificate, when 
     furnished by an accounting firm, may be limited to 
     accounting matters and disclaim responsibility for legal 
     interpretations) (i) certifying that no Event of Default or 
     Default has occurred or, if such an Event of Default or 
     Default has occurred, specifying the nature and extent 
     thereof and any corrective action taken or proposed to be 
     taken with respect thereto and (ii) setting forth 
     computations in reasonable detail satisfactory to the 
     Administrative Agent demonstrating compliance with the 
     covenants contained in Sections 6.05, 6.07 and 6.08; 
 
          (d)  promptly after the same become publicly available, 
     copies of all periodic and other reports, proxy statements 
     and other materials filed by it with the Securities and 
     Exchange Commission, or any governmental authority 
     succeeding to any of or all the functions of said 
     Commission, or with any national securities exchange, or 
     distributed to its shareholders, as the case may be; and 
 
          (e)  promptly, from time to time, such other 
     information regarding the operations, business affairs and 
     financial condition of the Company or any Subsidiary, or 
     compliance with the terms of any Loan Document, as the 
     Administrative Agent or any Bank may reasonably request. 
 
     SECTION 5.05.  Litigation and Other Notices.  Furnish to the 
Administrative Agent and each Bank prompt written notice of the 
following: 
 
          (a)  any Event of Default or Default, specifying the 
     nature and extent thereof and the corrective action (if any) 
     proposed to be taken with respect thereto; 
 
          (b)  the filing or commencement of, or any threat or 
     notice of intention of any person to file or commence, any 
     action, suit or proceeding, whether at law or in equity or 
     by or before any Governmental Authority, against the Company 
     or any Affiliate thereof which, if adversely determined, 
     could result in a Material Adverse Effect; 
 
          (c)  any development that has resulted in, or could 
     reasonably be anticipated to result in, a Material Adverse 
     Effect. 
 



     SECTION 5.06.  ERISA.  (a)  Comply in all material respects 
with the applicable provisions of ERISA and (b) furnish to the 
Administrative Agent and each Bank (i) as soon as possible, and 
in any event within 30 days after any Responsible Officer of the 
Company or any ERISA Affiliate either knows or has reason to know 
that any Reportable Event has occurred that alone or together 
with any other Reportable Event could reasonably be expected to 
result in liability of the Company to the PBGC in an aggregate 
amount exceeding $5,000,000, a statement of a Financial Officer 
setting forth details as to such Reportable Event and the action 
proposed to be taken with respect thereto, together with a copy 
of the notice, if any, of such Reportable Event given to the 
PBGC, (ii) promptly after receipt thereof, a copy of any notice 
the Company or any ERISA Affiliate may receive from the PBGC 
relating to the intention of the PBGC to terminate any Plan or 
Plans (other than a Plan maintained by an ERISA Affiliate which 
is considered an ERISA Affiliate only pursuant to subsection (m) 
or (o) of Section 412 of the Code) or to appoint a trustee to 
administer any Plan or Plans, (iii) within 20 days after the due 
date for filing with the PBGC pursuant to Section 412(n) of the 
Code of a notice of failure to make a required installment or 
other payment with respect to a Plan, a statement of a Financial 
Officer setting forth details as to such failure and the action 
proposed to be taken with respect thereto, together with a copy 
of such notice given to the PBGC and (iv) promptly and in any 
event within 30 days after receipt thereof by the Company or any 
ERISA Affiliate from the sponsor of a Multiemployer Plan, a copy 
of each notice received by the Company or any ERISA Affiliate 
concerning (A) the imposition of Withdrawal Liability or (B) a 
determination that a Multiemployer Plan is, or is expected to be, 
terminated or in reorganization, in each case within the meaning 
of Title IV of ERISA. 
 
     SECTION 5.07.  Maintaining Records; Access to Properties and 
Inspections.  Maintain all financial records in accordance with 
GAAP and permit any representatives designated by any Bank to 
visit and inspect the financial records and the properties of the 
Company or any Subsidiary at reasonable times and as often as 
requested and to make extracts from and copies of such financial 
records, and permit any representatives designated by any Bank to 
discuss the affairs, finances and condition of the Company or any 
Subsidiary with the officers thereof and independent accountants 
therefor. 
 
     SECTION 5.08.  Use of Proceeds.  Use the proceeds of the 
Loans only for the purposes set forth in the preamble to this 
Agreement. 
 
 
VI.  NEGATIVE COVENANTS 
 
     The Company covenants and agrees with each Bank and the 
Agents that, so long as this Agreement shall remain in effect or 
the principal of or interest on any Loan, any Fees or any other 
expenses or amounts payable under any Loan Document shall be 
unpaid, unless the Required Banks shall otherwise consent in 
writing, the Company will not, and will not cause or permit any 
of the Subsidiaries to: 
 
     SECTION 6.01.  Liens.  Create, incur, assume or permit to 
exist any Lien on any property or assets (including stock or 
other securities of any person, including any Subsidiary, but 
excluding Margin Stock to the extent that the book value of such 
Margin Stock exceeds 25% of the book value of the assets and 
properties that would be subject to this Section 6.01 without 
giving effect to this parenthetical, or such other maximum amount 
or percentage as is then provided for or permitted under 
Regulation U or any successor regulation in order that no Loan 
shall be deemed "indirectly secured" by Margin Stock for purposes 
of such regulation), now owned or hereafter acquired by it or on 
any income or rights in respect of any thereof, except: 
 
          (a)  Liens on property or assets of the Company and its 
     Subsidiaries existing on the date hereof and set forth in 
     Schedule 6.01; provided that such Liens shall secure only 
     those obligations which they secure on the date hereof; 
 
          (b)  any Lien existing on any property or asset prior 
     to the acquisition thereof by the Company or any Subsidiary; 
     provided that (i) such Lien is not created in contemplation 
     of or in connection with such acquisition and (ii) such Lien 



     does not apply to any other property or assets of the 
     Company or any Subsidiary; 
 
          (c)  Liens for taxes not yet due or which are being 
     contested in compliance with Section 5.03; 
 
          (d)  carriers', warehousemen's, mechanic's, mater- 
     ialmen's, repairmen's or other like Liens arising in the 
     ordinary course of business and securing obligations which 
     are not due or which are being contested in compliance with 
     Section 5.03; 
 
          (e)  pledges and deposits made in the ordinary course 
     of business in compliance with workmen's compensation, 
     unemployment insurance and other social security laws or 
     regulations; 
 
          (f)  deposits to secure the performance of bids, trade 
     contracts (other than for Indebtedness), leases (other than 
     Capital Lease Obligations), statutory obligations, surety 
     and appeal bonds, performance bonds and other obligations of 
     a like nature incurred in the ordinary course of business; 
 
          (g)  zoning restrictions, easements, rights-of-way, 
     restrictions on use of real property and other similar 
     encumbrances incurred in the ordinary course of business 
     which, in the aggregate, are not substantial in amount and 
     do not materially detract from the value of the property 
     subject thereto or interfere with the ordinary conduct of 
     the business of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries; 
 
          (h)  purchase money security interests in real 
     property, improvements thereto or equipment hereafter 
     acquired (or, in the case of improvements, constructed) by 
     the Company or any Subsidiary; provided that (i) such 
     security interests are incurred, and the Indebtedness 
     secured thereby is created, within 90 days after such 
     acquisition (or construction), (ii) the Indebtedness secured 
     thereby does not exceed 80% of the lesser of the cost or the 
     fair market value of such real property, improvements or 
     equipment at the time of such acquisition (or construction) 
     and (iii) such security interests do not apply to any other 
     property or assets of the Company or any Subsidiary; and 
 
          (i)  Liens other than those referred to in sub- 
     paragraphs (a) through (h) above, provided that the sum of 
     the aggregate amount of all Indebtedness or other 
     obligations which are secured or evidenced by Liens other 
     than those referred to in subparagraphs (a) through (h) 
     above plus the fair market value in the aggregate of 
     properties sold by the Company in the sale and lease-back 
     transactions permitted under Section 6.02, does not at any 
     time exceed an amount equal to 10% of Consolidated 
     Stockholders' Equity. 
 
     SECTION 6.02.  Sale and Lease-Back Transactions.  Enter into 
any arrangement, directly or indirectly, with any person whereby 
it shall sell or transfer any property, real or personal, used or 
useful in its business, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, 
and thereafter rent or lease such property or other property 
which it intends to use for substantially the same purpose or 
purposes as the property being sold or transferred; provided, 
however, that the Company shall be permitted to enter into any 
such arrangements to the extent that the sum of the fair market 
value in the aggregate of properties sold by the Company pursuant 
to all such arrangements, plus the aggregate amount of indebt- 
edness secured by Liens under paragraph (i) of Section 6.01, is 
not greater than 10% of Consolidated Stockholders' Equity. 
 
     SECTION 6.03.  Obligations of Subsidiaries.  Permit the 
Subsidiaries to incur Indebtedness, except for Indebtedness which 
in the aggregate for all the Subsidiaries constitutes not more 
than 10% of Consolidated Stockholders' Equity at any time or 
Indebtedness to the Company incurred by the Subsidiaries in the 
ordinary course of business. 
 
     SECTION 6.04.  Mergers, Consolidations and Sales of Assets.  
Merge into or consolidate with any other person, or permit any 
other person to merge into or consolidate with it, or sell, 
transfer, lease or otherwise dispose of (in one transaction or in 
a series of transactions) all or any substantial part of its 



assets (whether now owned or hereafter acquired) or any capital 
stock of any Subsidiary, or purchase, lease or otherwise acquire 
(in one transaction or a series of transactions) all or any 
substantial part of the assets or capital stock of any other 
person (excluding the sale of The Elk Horn Coal Corporation and 
its subsidiaries), except that (a) the Company and any Subsidiary 
may purchase and sell inventory in the ordinary course of 
business and (b) if at the time thereof and immediately after 
giving effect thereto no Event of Default or Default shall have 
occurred and be continuing (i) any entity may merge into the 
Company or any wholly owned Subsidiary in a transaction in which 
the Company or such wholly owned Subsidiary, as the case may be, 
is the surviving corporation, and (ii) the Company and any 
Subsidiary may acquire all or any substantial part of the assets 
or capital stock of any other person.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, nothing in this Section 6.04 shall prevent the Company 
and its Subsidiaries from selling, transferring, leasing or 
otherwise disposing of (in one transaction or in a series of 
transactions) during any fiscal year in arms' length transactions 
(a) assets the fair market value of which is not more than 5% of 
the consolidated assets of the Company calculated in accordance 
with GAAP, determined as of the beginning of such fiscal year and 
(b) any other assets to the extent that the Commitments of the 
Banks are permanently reduced pursuant to Section 2.10 by the 
amount of the proceeds received by the Company from the sale of 
such assets. 
 
     SECTION 6.05.  Dividends and Distributions.  Declare or pay, 
directly or indirectly, any dividend or make any other 
distribution (by reduction of capital or otherwise), whether in 
cash, property, securities or a combination thereof, with respect 
to any shares of its capital stock or set aside any amount for 
any such purpose; provided, however, that (a) any Subsidiary may 
declare and pay dividends or make other distributions to the 
Company and (b) if no Event of Default or Default shall have 
occurred and be continuing, the Company may at any time declare 
and pay dividends in an aggregate amount not at any time to 
exceed $48,000,003 plus the Company's Consolidated Net Income for 
the period (which shall be treated as a single accounting period) 
beginning on April 1, 1994 and ending on the last day of the 
fiscal quarter for which financial statements of the Company 
shall at such time most recently have been delivered pursuant to 
Section 5.04. 
 
     SECTION 6.06.  Transactions with Affiliates.  Sell or 
transfer any property or assets to, or purchase or acquire any 
property or assets from, or otherwise engage in any other 
transactions with, any of its Affiliates, except that as long as 
no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be 
continuing, the Company or any Subsidiary may engage in any of 
the foregoing transactions in the ordinary course of business at 
prices and on terms and conditions not less favorable to the 
Company or such Subsidiary than could be obtained on an arm's- 
length basis from unrelated third parties. 
 
     SECTION 6.07.  Consolidated Stockholders' Equity.  Permit 
Consolidated Stockholders' Equity of the Company to be less than 
$100,000,000 at any time. 
 
     SECTION 6.08.  Debt Ratio.  Permit the ratio of Consolidated 
Total Debt to Consolidated Total Capitalization to exceed 0.6 to 
1.00 at any time. 
 
VII.  EVENTS OF DEFAULT 
 
     In case of the happening of any of the following events 
("Events of Default"): 
 
          (a)  any representation or warranty made or deemed made 
     in or in connection with any Loan Document or the borrowings 
     hereunder, or any representation, warranty, statement or 
     information contained in any report, certificate, financial 
     statement or other instrument furnished in connection with 
     or pursuant to any Loan Document, shall prove to have been 
     false or misleading in any material respect when so made, 
     deemed made or furnished; 
 
          (b)  default shall be made in the payment of any 
     principal of any Loan when and as the same shall become due 
     and payable, whether at the due date thereof or at a date 
     fixed for prepayment thereof or by acceleration thereof or 



     otherwise; 
 
          (c)  default shall be made in the payment of any 
     interest on any Loan or any Fee or any other amount (other 
     than an amount referred to in (b) above) due under any Loan 
     Document, when and as the same shall become due and payable, 
     and such default shall continue unremedied for a period of 
     five Business Days; 
 
          (d)  default shall be made in the due observance or 
     performance by the Company or any Subsidiary of any 
     covenant, condition or agreement contained in Sec- 
     tion 5.01(a) or 5.05 or in Article VI; 
 
          (e)  default shall be made in the due observance or 
     performance by the Company or any Subsidiary of any 
     covenant, condition or agreement contained in any Loan 
     Document (other than those specified in (b), (c) or (d) 
     above) and such default shall continue unremedied for a 
     period of ten Business Days after notice thereof from the 
     Administrative Agent or any Bank to the Company; 
 
          (f)  the Company or any Subsidiary shall (i) fail to 
     pay any principal or interest, regardless of amount, due in 
     respect of any Indebtedness in an aggregate principal amount 
     in excess of $5,000,000, when and as the same shall become 
     due and payable, or (ii) fail to observe or perform any 
     other term, covenant, condition or agreement on its part to 
     be performed under any agreement or instrument evidencing or 
     governing any such Indebtedness if the effect of any failure 
     referred to in this clause (ii) is to cause, or to permit 
     the holder or holders of such Indebtedness or a trustee on 
     its or their behalf (with or without the giving of notice, 
     the lapse of time or both) to cause, such Indebtedness to 
     become due prior to its stated maturity; 
 
          (g)  an involuntary proceeding shall be commenced or an 
     involuntary petition shall be filed in a court of competent 
     jurisdiction seeking (i) relief in respect of the Company or 
     any Subsidiary, or of a substantial part of the property or 
     assets of the Company or a Subsidiary, under Title 11 of the 
     United States Code, as now constituted or hereafter amended, 
     or any other Federal or state bankruptcy, insolvency, 
     receivership or similar law, (ii) the appointment of a 
     receiver, trustee, custodian, sequestrator, conservator or 
     similar official for the Company or any Subsidiary or for a 
     substantial part of the property or assets of the Company or 
     a Subsidiary or (iii) the winding-up or liquidation of the 
     Company or any Subsidiary; and such proceeding or petition 
     shall continue undismissed for 60 days or an order or decree 
     approving or ordering any of the foregoing shall be entered; 
 
          (h)  the Company or any Significant Subsidiary shall 
     (i) voluntarily commence any proceeding or file any petition 
     seeking relief under Title 11 of the United States Code, as 
     now constituted or hereafter amended, or any other Federal 
     or state bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar 
     law, (ii) consent to the institution of, or fail to contest 
     in a timely and appropriate manner, any proceeding or the 
     filing of any petition described in (g) above, (iii) apply 
     for or consent to the appointment of a receiver, trustee, 
     custodian, sequestrator, conservator or similar official for 
     the Company or such Significant Subsidiary or for a 
     substantial part of the property or assets of the Company or 
     such Significant Subsidiary, (iv) file an answer admitting 
     the material allegations of a petition filed against it in 
     any such proceeding, (v) make a general assignment for the 
     benefit of creditors, (vi) become unable, admit in writing 
     its inability or fail generally to pay its debts as they 
     become due or (vii) take any action for the purpose of 
     effecting any of the foregoing; 
 
          (i)  one or more judgments for the payment of money in 
     an aggregate amount in excess of $1,000,000 shall be 
     rendered against the Company, any Subsidiary or any 
     combination thereof and the same shall remain undischarged 
     for a period of 30 consecutive days during which execution 
     shall not be effectively stayed, or any action shall be 
     legally taken by a judgment creditor to levy upon assets or 
     properties of the Company or any Subsidiary to enforce any 
     such judgment; 



 
          (j)  a Reportable Event or Reportable Events, or a 
     failure to make a required installment or other payment 
     (within the meaning of Section 412(n)(1) of the Code), shall 
     have occurred with respect to any Plan or Plans that 
     reasonably could be expected to result in liability of the 
     Company to the PBGC or to a Plan in an aggregate amount 
     exceeding $5,000,000 and, within 30 days after the reporting 
     of any such Reportable Event to the Administrative Agent or 
     after the receipt by the Administrative Agent of the 
     statement required pursuant to Section 5.06, the 
     Administrative Agent shall have notified the Company in 
     writing that (i) the Required Banks have made a 
     determination that, on the basis of such Reportable Event or 
     Reportable Events or the failure to make a required payment, 
     there are reasonable grounds (A) for the termination of such 
     Plan or Plans by the PBGC, (B) for the appointment by the 
     appropriate United States District Court of a trustee to 
     administer such Plan or Plans or (C) for the imposition of a 
     lien in favor of a Plan and (ii) as a result thereof an 
     Event of Default exists hereunder; or a trustee shall be 
     appointed by a United States District Court to administer 
     any such Plan or Plans; or the PBGC shall institute 
     proceedings to terminate any Plan or Plans; 
 
          (k)  (i) the Company or any ERISA Affiliate shall have 
     been notified by the sponsor of a Multiemployer Plan that it 
     has incurred Withdrawal Liability to such Multiemployer 
     Plan, (ii) the Company or such ERISA Affiliate does not have 
     reasonable grounds for contesting such Withdrawal Liability 
     or is not in fact contesting such Withdrawal Liability in a 
     timely and appropriate manner and (iii) the amount of the 
     Withdrawal Liability specified in such notice, when aggre- 
     gated with all other amounts required to be paid to 
     Multiemployer Plans in connection with Withdrawal 
     Liabilities (determined as of the date or dates of such 
     notification), exceeds $5,000,000 or requires payments 
     exceeding $1,000,000 in any year; 
 
          (l)  the Company or any ERISA Affiliate shall have been 
     notified by the sponsor of a Multiemployer Plan that such 
     Multiemployer Plan is in reorganization or is being 
     terminated, within the meaning of Title IV of ERISA, if 
     solely as a result of such reorganization or termination the 
     aggregate annual contributions of the Company and its ERISA 
     Affiliates to all Multiemployer Plans that are then in 
     reorganization or have been or are being terminated have 
     been or will be increased over the amounts required to be 
     contributed to such Multiemployer Plans for their most 
     recently completed plan years by an amount exceeding 
     $1,000,000; or 
 
          (m)  there shall have occurred a Change in  Control; 
 
then, and in every such event (other than an event with respect 
to the Company described in paragraph (g) or (h) above), and at 
any time thereafter during the continuance of such event, the 
Administrative Agent may, and at the request of the Required 
Banks shall, by notice to the Company, take either or both of the 
following actions, at the same or different times:  (i) terminate 
forthwith the Commitments and (ii) declare the Loans then 
outstanding to be forthwith due and payable, whereupon the 
principal of the Loans, together with accrued interest thereon 
and any unpaid accrued Fees and all other liabilities of the 
Company accrued hereunder and under any other Loan Document, 
shall become forthwith due and payable, without presentment, 
demand, protest or any other notice of any kind, all of which are 
hereby expressly waived by the Company, anything contained herein 
or in any other Loan Document to the contrary notwithstanding; 
and in any event with respect to the Company described in para- 
graph (g) or (h) above, the Commitments shall automatically 
terminate and the principal of the Loans then outstanding, 
together with accrued interest thereon and any unpaid accrued 
Fees and all other liabilities of the Company accrued hereunder 
and under any other Loan Document, shall automatically become due 
and payable, without presentment, demand, protest or any other 
notice of any kind, all of which are hereby expressly waived by 
the Company, anything contained herein or in any other Loan 
Document to the contrary notwithstanding. 
 
VIII. The Administrative Agent 



 
     In order to expedite the transactions contemplated by this 
Agreement, Chemical Bank is hereby appointed to act as 
Administrative Agent on behalf of the Banks.  Each of the Banks, 
and each subsequent holder of any Note by its acceptance thereof, 
hereby irrevocably authorizes the Administrative Agent to take 
such actions on behalf of such Bank or holder and to exercise 
such powers as are specifically delegated to the Administrative 
Agent by the terms and provisions hereof, together with such 
actions and powers as are reasonably incidental thereto.  The 
Administrative Agent is hereby expressly authorized by the Banks, 
without hereby limiting any implied authority, (a) to receive on 
behalf of the Banks all payments of principal of and interest on 
the Loans and all other amounts due to the Banks hereunder, and 
promptly to distribute to each Bank its proper share of each 
payment so received; (b) to give notice on behalf of each of the 
Banks to the Company of any Event of Default specified in this 
Agreement of which the Administrative Agent has actual knowledge 
acquired in connection with its agency hereunder; and (c) to 
distribute to each Bank copies of all notices, financial 
statements and other materials delivered by the Company pursuant 
to this Agreement as received by the Administrative Agent. 
 
     Neither the Administrative Agent nor any of its directors, 
officers, employees or administrative agents shall be liable as 
such for any action taken or omitted by any of them except for 
its or his own gross negligence or wilful misconduct, or be re- 
sponsible for any statement, warranty or representation herein or 
the contents of any document delivered in connection herewith, or 
be required to ascertain or to make any inquiry concerning the 
performance or observance by the Company of any of the terms, 
conditions, covenants or agreements contained in any Loan 
Document.  The Administrative Agent shall not be responsible to 
the Banks or the holders of the Notes for the due execution, 
genuineness, validity, enforceability or effectiveness of this 
Agreement, the Notes or any other Loan Documents or other 
instruments or agreements.  The Administrative Agent may deem and 
treat the payee of any Note as the owner thereof for all purposes 
hereof until it shall have received from the payee of such Note 
notice, given as provided herein, of the transfer thereof.  The 
Administrative Agent shall in all cases be fully protected in 
acting, or refraining from acting, in accordance with written 
instructions signed by the Required Banks and, except as 
otherwise specifically provided herein, such instructions and any 
action or inaction pursuant thereto shall be binding on all the 
Banks and each subsequent holder of any Note.  The Administrative 
Agent shall, in the absence of knowledge to the contrary, be 
entitled to rely on any instrument or document believed by it in 
good faith to be genuine and correct and to have been signed or 
sent by the proper person or persons.  Neither the Administrative 
Agent nor any of its directors, officers, employees or agents 
shall have any responsibility to the Company on account of the 
failure of or delay in performance or breach by any Bank of any 
of its obligations hereunder or to any Bank on account of the 
failure of or delay in performance or breach by any other Bank or 
the Company of any of their respective obligations hereunder or 
under any other Loan Document or in connection herewith or 
therewith.  The Administrative Agent may execute any and all 
duties hereunder by or through administrative agents or employees 
and shall be entitled to rely upon the advice of legal counsel 
selected by it with respect to all matters arising hereunder and 
shall not be liable for any action taken or suffered in good 
faith by it in accordance with the advice of such counsel. 
 
     The Banks hereby acknowledge that the Administrative Agent 
shall be under no duty to take any discretionary action permitted 
to be taken by it pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement 
unless it shall be requested in writing to do so by the Required 
Banks. 
 
     Subject to the appointment and acceptance of a successor 
Administrative Agent as provided below, the Administrative Agent 
may resign at any time by notifying the Banks and the Company.  
Upon any such resignation, the Required Banks shall appoint 
either NationsBank of Virginia, N.A. as successor Administrative 
Agent and, if such appointment is not accepted by NationsBank of 
Virginia, N.A., shall have the right to appoint a different 
successor.  If no successor shall have been appointed by the 
Required Banks and shall have accepted such appointment within 30 
days after the retiring Administrative Agent gives notice of its 
resignation, then the retiring Administrative Agent may, on 



behalf of the Banks, appoint a successor Administrative Agent, 
which shall be a bank with an office in New York, New York, 
having a combined capital and surplus of at least $500,000,000 or 
an Affiliate of any such bank.  Upon the acceptance of any 
appointment as Administrative Agent hereunder by a successor 
bank, such successor shall succeed to and become vested with all 
the rights, powers, privileges and duties of the retiring 
Administrative Agent and the retiring Administrative Agent shall 
be discharged from its duties and obligations hereunder.  After 
the Administrative Agent's resignation hereunder, the provisions 
of this Article and Section 9.05 shall continue in effect for its 
benefit in respect of any actions taken or omitted to be taken by 
it while it was acting as Administrative Agent. 
 
     With respect to the Loans made by it hereunder and the Notes 
issued to it, the Administrative Agent in its individual capacity 
and not as Administrative Agent shall have the same rights and 
powers as any other Bank and may exercise the same as though it 
were not the Administrative Agent, and the Administrative Agent 
and its Affiliates may accept deposits from, lend money to and 
generally engage in any kind of business with the Company or any 
Subsidiary or other Affiliate thereof as if it were not the 
Administrative Agent. 
 
     Each Bank agrees (i) to reimburse the Administrative Agent, 
on demand, in the amount of its pro rata share (based on its 
Commitment hereunder) of any expenses incurred for the benefit of 
the Banks by the Administrative Agent, including counsel fees and 
compensation of administrative agents and employees paid for 
services rendered on behalf of the Banks, which shall not have 
been reimbursed by the Company and (ii) to indemnify and hold 
harmless the Administrative Agent and any of its directors, 
officers, employees or administrative agents, on demand, in the 
amount of such pro rata share, from and against any and all 
liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, 
judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements of any kind or 
nature whatsoever which may be imposed on, incurred by or 
asserted against it in its capacity as the Administrative Agent 
or any of them in any way relating to or arising out of this 
Agreement or any other Loan Document or any action taken or 
omitted by it or any of them under this Agreement or any other 
Loan Document, to the extent the same shall not have been 
reimbursed by the Company; provided that no Bank shall be liable 
to the Administrative Agent for any portion of such liabilities, 
obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, 
suits, costs, expenses or disbursements resulting from the gross 
negligence or wilful misconduct of the Administrative Agent or 
any of its directors, officers, employees or administrative 
agents. 
 
     Each Bank acknowledges that it has, independently and 
without reliance upon the Administrative Agent or any other Bank 
and based on such documents and information as it has deemed 
appropriate, made its own credit analysis and decision to enter 
into this Agreement.  Each Bank also acknowledges that it will, 
independently and without reliance upon the Administrative Agent 
or any other Bank and based on such documents and information as 
it shall from time to time deem appropriate, continue to make its 
own decisions in taking or not taking action under or based upon 
this Agreement or any other Loan Document, any related agreement 
or any document furnished hereunder or thereunder. NationsBank of 
Virginia, N.A. shall have no duties or obligations whatsoever 
under this Agreement or any other document or matter related 
hereto, other than as a Bank. 
 
IX.  MISCELLANEOUS 
 
     SECTION 9.01.  Notices.  Notices and other communications 
provided for herein shall be in writing and shall be delivered by 
hand or overnight courier service, mailed or sent by telex, 
graphic scanning or other telegraphic communications equipment of 
the sending party, as follows: 
 
          (a)  if to the Company, to it at 1100 Boulders Parkway, 
     Richmond, Virginia 23225, Attention of Norman A. Scher 
     (Telecopy No. (804) 330-1010); 
 
          (b)  if to the Administrative Agent, to it at 270 Park 
     Avenue, New York, New York 10017, Attention of William Ewing 
     III (Telecopy No. (212) 270-3279); and 
 



          (c)  if to a Bank, to it at its address (or telecopy 
     number) set forth in Schedule 2.01. 
 
All notices and other communications given to any party hereto in 
accordance with the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed 
to have been given on the date of receipt if delivered by hand or 
overnight courier service or sent by telex, graphic scanning or 
other telegraphic communications equipment of the sender, or on 
the date five Business Days after dispatch by certified or 
registered mail if mailed, in each case delivered, sent or mailed 
(properly addressed) to such party as provided in this 
Section 9.01 or in accordance with the latest unrevoked direction 
from such party given in accordance with this Section 9.01. 
 
     SECTION 9.02.  Survival of Agreement.  All covenants, 
agreements, representations and warranties made by the Company 
herein and in the certificates or other instruments prepared or 
delivered in connection with or pursuant to this Agreement or any 
other Loan Document shall be considered to have been relied upon 
by the Banks and shall survive the making by the Banks of the 
Loans, and the execution and delivery to the Banks of the Notes 
evidencing such Loans, regardless of any investigation made by 
the Banks or on their behalf, and shall continue in full force 
and effect as long as the principal of or any accrued interest on 
any Loan or any Fee or any other amount payable under this 
Agreement or any other Loan Document is outstanding and unpaid 
and so long as the Commitments have not been terminated. 
 
     SECTION 9.03.  Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall become 
effective when it shall have been executed by the Company and the 
Administrative Agent and when the Administrative Agent shall have 
received copies hereof which, when taken together, bear the 
signatures of each Bank, and thereafter shall be binding upon and 
inure to the benefit of the Company, the Administrative Agent and 
each Bank and their respective successors and assigns, except 
that the Company shall not have the right to assign its rights 
hereunder or any interest herein without the prior consent of all 
the Banks. 
 
     SECTION 9.04.  Successors and Assigns.  (a)  Whenever in 
this Agreement any of the parties hereto is referred to, such 
reference shall be deemed to include the successors and (to the 
extent permitted by Section 9.04) assigns of such party; and all 
covenants, promises and agreements by or on behalf of the 
Company, the Administrative Agent or the Banks that are contained 
in this Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of their 
respective successors and assigns. 
 
     (b)  Each Bank may assign to one or more assignees all or a 
portion of its interests, rights and obligations under this 
Agreement (including all or a portion of its Commitment and the 
Loans at the time owing to it and the Notes held by it); 
provided, however, that (i) except in the case of an assignment 
by a Bank to an Affiliate of such Bank, the Company and the 
Administrative Agent must give their prior written consent to 
such assignment (which consent shall not be unreasonably 
withheld), (ii) each such assignment shall be of a constant, and 
not a varying, percentage of all the assigning Bank's rights and 
obligations under this Agreement, (iii) the amount of the 
Commitment of the assigning Bank subject to each such assignment 
(determined as of the date the Assignment and Acceptance with 
respect to such assignment is delivered to the Administrative 
Agent) shall not be less than $20,000,000 and the amount of the 
Commitment of such Bank remaining after such assignment shall not 
be less than $20,000,000 or shall be zero, (iv) the parties to 
each such assignment shall execute and deliver to the 
Administrative Agent an Assignment and Acceptance, together with 
the Note or Notes subject to such assignment and a processing and 
recordation fee of $2,000, and (v) each assignee shall deliver to 
the Administrative Agent a completed Administrative 
Questionnaire.  Upon acceptance and recording pursuant to 
paragraph (e) of this Section 9.04, from and after the effective 
date specified in each Assignment and Acceptance, which effective 
date shall be at least five Business Days after the execution 
thereof, (A) the assignee thereunder shall be a party hereto and, 
to the extent provided in such Assignment and Acceptance, have 
the rights and obligations of a Bank under this Agreement and 
(B) the assigning Bank thereunder shall, to the extent provided 
in such assignment, be released from its obligations under this 
Agreement (and, in the case of an Assignment and Acceptance 
covering all or the remaining portion of an assigning Bank's 



rights and obligations under this Agreement, such Bank shall 
cease to be a party hereto).  
 
     (c)  By executing and delivering an Assignment and 
Acceptance, the assigning Bank thereunder and the assignee 
thereunder shall be deemed to confirm to and agree with each 
other and the other parties hereto as follows:  (i) other than 
the representation and warranty that it is the legal and 
beneficial owner of the interest being assigned thereby free and 
clear of any adverse claim, such assigning Bank makes no 
representation or warranty and assumes no responsibility with 
respect to any statements, warranties or representations made in 
or in connection with this Agreement or the execution, legality, 
validity, enforceability, genuineness, sufficiency or value of 
this Agreement, any other Loan Document or any other instrument 
or document furnished pursuant hereto; (ii) such assigning Bank 
makes no representation or warranty and assumes no responsibility 
with respect to the financial condition of the Company or any 
Subsidiary or the performance or observance by the Company of any 
of its obligations under this Agreement, any other Loan Document 
or any other instrument or document furnished pursuant hereto; 
(iii) such assignee confirms that it has received a copy of this 
Agreement, together with copies of the most recent financial 
statements delivered pursuant to Section 5.04 and such other 
documents and information as it has deemed appropriate to make 
its own credit analysis and decision to enter into such 
Assignment and Acceptance; (iv) such assignee will independently 
and without reliance upon the Administrative Agent, such 
assigning Bank or any other Bank and based on such documents and 
information as it shall deem appropriate at the time, continue to 
make its own credit decisions in taking or not taking action 
under this Agreement; (v) such assignee appoints and authorizes 
the Administrative Agent to take such action as agent on its 
behalf and to exercise such powers under this Agreement as are 
delegated to the Administrative Agent by the terms hereof, 
together with such powers as are reasonably incidental thereto; 
and (vi) such assignee agrees that it will perform in accordance 
with their terms all the obligations which by the terms of this 
Agreement are required to be performed by it as a Bank. 
 
     (d)  The Administrative Agent shall maintain at one of its 
offices in The City of New York a copy of each Assignment and 
Acceptance delivered to it and a register for the recordation of 
the names and addresses of the Banks, and the Commitment of, and 
principal amount of the Loans owing to, each Bank pursuant to the 
terms hereof from time to time (the "Register").  The entries in 
the Register shall be conclusive in the absence of manifest error 
and the Company, the Administrative Agent and the Banks may treat 
each person whose name is recorded in the Register pursuant to 
the terms hereof as a Bank hereunder for all purposes of this 
Agreement.  The Register shall be available for inspection by the 
Company and any Bank, at any reasonable time and from time to 
time upon reasonable prior notice. 
 
     (e)  Upon its receipt of a duly completed Assignment and 
Acceptance executed by an assigning Bank and an assignee together 
with the Note or Notes subject to such assignment, the processing 
and recordation fee referred to in paragraph (b) above and, if 
required, the written consent of the Company to such assignment, 
the Administrative Agent shall (subject to the consent of the 
Administrative Agent to such assignment, if required), (i) accept 
such Assignment and Acceptance, (ii) record the information 
contained therein in the Register and (iii) give prompt notice 
thereof to the Banks.  Within five Business Days after receipt of 
notice, the Company, at its own expense, shall execute and 
deliver to the Administrative Agent, in exchange for the 
surrendered Standby Note or Standby Notes,(x) a new Standby Note 
or Standby Notes to the order of such assignee in an amount equal 
to the portion of the Commitment assumed by it pursuant to such 
Assignment and Acceptance and, (y) if the assigning Bank has 
retained a Commitment, a new Standby Note or Standby Notes to the 
order of such assigning Bank in a principal amount equal to the 
applicable Commitment retained by it.  Such new Standby Note or 
Standby Notes shall be in an aggregate principal amount equal to 
the aggregate principal amount of such surrendered Standby Note 
or Standby Notes; such new Notes shall be dated the date of the 
surrendered Notes which they replace and shall otherwise be in 
substantially the form of Exhibit B hereto.  Canceled Standby 
Notes shall be returned to the Company. 
 
     (f)  Each Bank may without the consent of the Company or the 



Administrative Agent sell participations to one or more banks or 
other entities in all or a portion of its rights and obligations 
under this Agreement (including all or a portion of its 
Commitment and the Loans owing to it and the Notes held by it); 
provided, however, that (i) such Bank's obligations under this 
Agreement shall remain unchanged, (ii) such Bank shall remain 
solely responsible to the other parties hereto for the 
performance of such obligations, (iii) the participating banks or 
other entities shall be entitled to the benefit of the cost 
protection provisions contained in Sections 2.12 and 2.14 to the 
same extent as if they were Banks and (iv) the Company, the 
Administrative Agent and the other Banks shall continue to deal 
solely and directly with such Bank in connection with such Bank's 
rights and obligations under this Agreement, and such Bank shall 
retain the sole right to enforce the obligations of the Company 
relating to the Loans and to approve any amendment, modification 
or waiver of any provision of this Agreement (other than 
amendments, modifications or waivers with respect to any fees 
payable hereunder or the amount of principal of or the rate at 
which interest is payable on the Loans, or the dates fixed for 
payments of principal of or interest on the Loans). 
 
     (g)  Any Bank or participant may, in connection with any 
assignment or participation or proposed assignment or 
participation pursuant to this Section 9.04, disclose to the 
assignee or participant or proposed assignee or participant any 
information relating to the Company furnished to such Bank by or 
on behalf of the Company; provided that, prior to any such 
disclosure, each such assignee or participant or proposed 
assignee or participant shall execute an agreement whereby such 
assignee or participant shall agree (subject to customary 
exceptions) to preserve the confidentiality of any confidential 
information relating to the Company received from such Bank. 
 
     (h)  The Company shall not assign or delegate any of its 
respective rights and duties hereunder. 
 
     SECTION 9.05.  Expenses; Indemnity.  (a) The Company agrees 
to pay all out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Administrative 
Agent in connection with the preparation of this Agreement and 
the other Loan Documents or in connection with any amendments, 
modifications or waivers of the provisions hereof or thereof 
(whether or not the transactions hereby contemplated shall be 
consummated) or incurred by the Administrative Agent or any Bank 
in connection with the enforcement or protection of their rights 
in connection with this Agreement and the other Loan Documents or 
in connection with the Loans made or the Notes issued hereunder, 
including the fees and disbursements of Cravath, Swaine & Moore, 
counsel for the Administrative Agent, and, in connection with any 
such amendment, modification or waiver or any such enforcement or 
protection, the fees and disbursements of any other counsel for 
the Administrative Agent or any Bank.  The Company further agrees 
that it shall indemnify the Banks from and hold them harmless 
against any documentary taxes, assessments or charges made by any 
Governmental Authority by reason of the execution and delivery of 
this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents. 
 
     (b)  The Company agrees to indemnify the Administrative 
Agent, each Bank and its directors, officers, employees and 
agents (each such person being called an "Indemnitee") against, 
and to hold each Indemnitee harmless from, any and all losses, 
claims, damages, liabilities and related expenses, including 
reasonable counsel fees and expenses, incurred by or asserted 
against any Indemnitee arising out of, in any way connected with, 
or as a result of (i) the execution or delivery of this Agreement 
or any other Loan Document or any agreement or instrument 
contemplated thereby, the performance by the parties thereto of 
their respective obligations thereunder or the consummation of 
the Transactions, (ii) the use of the proceeds of the Loans or 
(iii) any claim, litigation, investigation or proceeding relating 
to any of the foregoing, whether or not any Indemnitee is a party 
thereto; provided that such indemnity shall not, as to any 
Indemnitee, be available to the extent that such losses, claims, 
damages, liabilities or related expenses are determined by a 
court of competent jurisdiction by final and nonappealable 
judgment to have resulted from the gross negligence or wilful 
misconduct of such Indemnitee. 
 
     (c)  The provisions of this Section 9.05 shall remain 
operative and in full force and effect regardless of the 
expiration of the term of this Agreement, the consummation of the 



transactions contemplated hereby, the repayment of any of the 
Loans, the invalidity or unenforceability of any term or 
provision of this Agreement or any other Loan Document, or any 
investigation made by or on behalf of the Administrative Agent or 
any Bank.  All amounts due under this Section 9.05 shall be 
payable on written demand therefor. 
 
     SECTION 9.06.  Right of Setoff.  If an Event of Default 
shall have occurred and be continuing and any Bank shall have 
requested the Administrative Agent to declare the Loans immedi- 
ately due and payable pursuant to Article VII, each Bank is 
hereby authorized at any time and from time to time, to the 
fullest extent permitted by law, to set off and apply any and all 
deposits (general or special, time or demand, provisional or 
final) at any time held and other indebtedness at any time owing 
by such Bank to or for the credit or the account of the Company 
against any of and all the obligations of the Company now or 
hereafter existing under this Agreement and other Loan Documents 
held by such Bank, irrespective of whether or not such Bank shall 
have made any demand under this Agreement or such other Loan 
Document and although such obligations may be unmatured.  The 
rights of each Bank under this Section are in addition to other 
rights and remedies (including other rights of setoff) which such 
Bank may have. 
 
     SECTION 9.07.  Applicable Law.  THIS AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER 
LOAN DOCUMENTS SHALL BE CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH AND GOVERNED 
BY THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK. 
 
     SECTION 9.08.  Waivers; Amendment.  (a) No failure or delay 
of the Administrative Agent or any Bank in exercising any power 
or right hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall 
any single or partial exercise of any such right or power, or any 
abandonment or discontinuance of steps to enforce such a right or 
power, preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the 
exercise of any other right or power.  The rights and remedies of 
the Administrative Agent and the Banks hereunder and under the 
other Loan Documents are cumulative and exclusive of any rights 
or remedies which they would otherwise have.  No waiver of any 
provision of this Agreement or any other Loan Document or consent 
to any departure by the Company therefrom shall in any event be 
effective unless the same shall be permitted by paragraph (b) 
below, and then such waiver or consent shall be effective only in 
the specific instance and for the purpose for which given.  No 
notice or demand on the Company in any case shall entitle the 
Company to any other or further notice or demand in similar or 
other circumstances.  Each holder of any of the Notes shall be 
bound by any amendment, modification, waiver or consent 
authorized as provided herein, whether or not such Note shall 
have been marked to indicate such amendment, modification, waiver 
or consent. 
 
     (b)  Neither this Agreement nor any provision hereof may be 
waived, amended or modified except pursuant to an agreement or 
agreements in writing entered into by the Company and the 
Required Banks; provided, however, that no such agreement shall 
(i) change the principal amount of, or extend or advance the 
maturity of or any date for the payment of any principal of or 
interest on, any Loan, or waive or excuse any such payment or any 
part thereof, or change the rate of interest on any Loan, without 
the prior written consent of each holder of a Note affected 
thereby, (ii) change the Commitment or Commitment Fees or 
Facility Fees of any Bank without the prior written consent of 
such Bank, or (iii) amend or modify the provisions of Sec- 
tion 2.15, the provisions of this Section or the definition of 
the "Required Banks", without the prior written consent of each 
Bank; provided further that no such agreement shall amend, modify 
or otherwise affect the rights or duties of the Administrative 
Agent hereunder without the prior written consent of the 
Administrative Agent.  Each Bank and each holder of a Note shall 
be bound by any modification or amendment authorized by this 
Section regardless of whether its Note shall have been marked to 
make reference thereto, and any consent by any Bank or holder of 
a Note pursuant to this Section shall bind any person 
subsequently acquiring a Note from it, whether or not such Note 
shall have been so marked. 
 
     SECTION 9.09.  Interest Rate Limitation.  Notwithstanding 
anything herein or in the Notes to the contrary, if at any time 
the applicable interest rate, together with all fees and charges 
which are treated as interest under applicable law (collectively, 



the "Charges") as provided for herein or in any other document 
executed in connection herewith, or otherwise contracted for, 
charged, received, taken or reserved by any Bank, shall exceed 
the maximum lawful rate (the "Maximum Rate") which may be 
contracted for, charged, taken, received or reserved by such Bank 
in accordance with applicable law, the rate of interest payable 
under the Note held by such Bank, together with all Charges 
payable to such Bank, shall be limited to the Maximum Rate. 
 
     SECTION 9.10.  Entire Agreement.  This Agreement and the 
other Loan Documents and the letter agreements referred to in 
Section 2.05(b) constitute the entire contract between the 
parties relative to the subject matter hereof.  Any previous 
agreement among the parties with respect to the subject matter 
hereof is superseded by this Agreement and the other Loan 
Documents.  Nothing in this Agreement or in the other Loan 
Documents, expressed or implied, is intended to confer upon any 
party other than the parties hereto any rights, remedies, 
obligations or liabilities under or by reason of this Agreement 
or the other Loan Documents. 
 
     SECTION 9.11.  Waiver of Jury Trial.  Each party hereto 
hereby waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, 
any right it may have to a trial by jury in respect of any 
litigation directly or indirectly arising out of, under or in 
connection with this Agreement or any of the other Loan 
Documents.  Each party hereto (a) certifies that no 
representative, administrative agent or attorney of any other 
party has represented, expressly or otherwise, that such other 
party would not, in the event of litigation, seek to enforce the 
foregoing waiver and (b) acknowledges that it and the other 
parties hereto have been induced to enter into this Agreement and 
the other Loan Documents, as applicable, by, among other things, 
the mutual waivers and certifications in this Section 9.11. 
 
     SECTION 9.12.  Severability.  In the event any one or more 
of the provisions contained in this Agreement or in any other 
Loan Document should be held invalid, illegal or unenforceable in 
any respect, the validity, legality and enforceability of the 
remaining provisions contained herein and therein shall not in 
any way be affected or impaired thereby.  The parties shall 
endeavor in good-faith negotiations to replace the invalid, 
illegal or unenforceable provisions with valid provisions the 
economic effect of which comes as close as possible to that of 
the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provisions. 
 
     SECTION 9.13.  Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed 
in two or more counterparts, each of which shall constitute an 
original but all of which when taken together shall constitute 
but one contract, and shall become effective as provided in 
Section 9.03. 
 
     SECTION 9.14.  Headings.  Article and Section headings and 
the Table of Contents used herein are for convenience of 
reference only, are not part of this Agreement and are not to 
affect the construction of, or to be taken into consideration in 
interpreting, this Agreement. 
 
     SECTION 9.15.  Confidentiality.  Any information obtained by 
the Administrative Agent or any of the Banks from the Company 
shall not be disclosed by the Administrative Agent or such Bank 
to any other person if such information is not otherwise in the 
public domain except (i) to its officers, directors, employees, 
administrative agents, independent accountants, Affiliates and 
legal counsel (it being understood that the persons to whom such 
disclosure is made will be informed of the confidential nature of 
such information and instructed to keep such information 
confidential), (ii) pursuant to statutory and regulatory 
requirements or requests of regulatory authorities, 
(iii) pursuant to any mandatory court order, subpoena or other 
legal process, (iv) to the Administrative Agent or any other 
Bank, (v) pursuant to any agreement heretofore or hereafter made 
between such Bank and the Company which permits such disclosure, 
(vi) in connection with the exercise of any remedy under or 
litigation in connection with the Loan Documents or (vii) subject 
to Section 9.04(g), to any participant in or assignee of, or 
prospective participant in or assignee of, any Loan or 
Commitment. 
 
     SECTION 9.16.  Jurisdiction; Consent to Service of Process.  
(a)  The Company hereby irrevocably and unconditionally submits, 



for itself and its property, to the nonexclusive jurisdiction of 
any New York State court or Federal court of the United States of 
America sitting in New York City, and any appellate court from 
any thereof, in any action or proceeding arising out of or 
relating to this Agreement or the other Loan Documents, or for 
recognition or enforcement of any judgment, and each of the 
parties hereto hereby irrevocably and unconditionally agrees that 
all claims in respect of any such action or proceeding may be 
heard and determined in such New York State or, to the extent 
permitted by law, in such Federal court.  Each of the parties 
hereto agrees that a final judgment in any such action or 
proceeding shall be conclusive and may be enforced in other 
jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner 
provided by law.  Nothing in this Agreement shall affect any 
right that any Bank may otherwise have to bring any action or 
proceeding relating to this Agreement or the other Loan Documents 
against the Company or its properties in the courts of any 
jurisdiction. 
 
     (b)  The Company hereby irrevocably and unconditionally 
waives, to the fullest extent it may legally and effectively do 
so, any objection which it may now or hereafter have to the 
laying of venue of any suit, action or proceeding arising out of 
or relating to this agreement or the other Loan Documents in any 
New York State or Federal court.  Each of the parties hereto 
hereby irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by 
law, the defense of an inconvenient forum to the maintenance of 
such action or proceeding in any such court. 
 
     (c)  Each party to this Agreement irrevocably consents to 
service of process in the manner provided for notices in 
Section 9.01. Nothing in this Agreement will affect the right of 
any party to this Agreement to serve process in any other manner 
permitted by law. 
 
     IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company, the Agents and the Banks 
have caused this Agreement to be duly executed by their 
respective authorized officers as of the day and year first above 
written. 
 
                              TREDEGAR INDUSTRIES, INC., 
 
                              by  /s/ N. A. Scher                 
                                 Name:  Norman A. Scher 
                                 Title:  Executive Vice President 
 
 
                              CHEMICAL BANK, individually 
                              and as Administrative Agent, 
 
                              by  /s/ William Ewing, III          
                                 Name:  William Ewing, III 
                                 Title:  Managing Director 
 
 
                              NATIONSBNAK OF VIRIGNIA, N.A., 
                              individually and as Co-Agent, 
 
                              by  /s/ E. Turner Coggin            
                                 Name:  E. Turner Coggin 
                                 Title:  Vice President 
 
 
                              BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA, 
 
                              by  /s/ J. W. Campbell              
                                 Name:  J. W. Campbell 
                                 Title:  VP/Agent 
 
 
                              CENTRAL FIDELITY, 
 
                              by  /s/ Harry A. Turton, Jr.        
                                 Name:  Harry A. Turton, Jr. 
                                 Title:  Vice President 
 
 
                              CRESTAR BANK, 
 
                              by  /s/ J. F. Gayle, Jr.            
                                 Name:  J. F. Gayle, Jr. 



                                 Title:  Senior Vice President 
 
 
                              LTCB TRUST COMPANY, 
 
                              by  /s/ John A. Krob                
                                 Name:  John A. Krob     
                                 Title:  Senior Vice President 
 
 
                              PNC BANK, 
 
                              by  /s/ Jill M. Felzan              
                                 Name:  Jill M. Felzan   
                                 Title:  Vice President 
 
 
                              SIGNET BANK/VIRGINIA 
 
                              by  /s/ Kevin W. Walsh              
                                 Name:  Kevin W. Walsh   
                                 Title:  VP 
 
 
                              SOCIETE GENERALE, 
 
                              by  /s/ Brian Campbell              
                                 Name:  Brian Campbell   
                                 Title:  Vice President 
 
 
                              THE SUMITOMO BANK, LIMITED 
                              (New York Branch), 
 
                              by  /s/ Y. Kawamura                 
                                 Name:  Y. Kawamura 
                                 Title:  Joint General Manager 
 
 
                              THE YASUDA TRUST AND BANKING 
                              CO., LIMITED, 
 
                              by  /s/ Neil T. Chau                
                                 Name:  Neil T. Chau 
                                 Title:  First Vice President 
 
                                                        EXHIBIT A 
 
                FORM OF STANDBY BORROWING REQUEST 
 
 
Chemical Bank, as Agent for the 
Banks referred to below, 
270 Park Avenue 
New York, N.Y.  10017 
 
                                        [Date] 
Attention: 
 
Dear Sirs: 
 
     The undersigned, TREDEGAR INDUSTRIES, INC. (the "Company"), 
refers to the Revolving Credit Facility Agreement dated as of 
August 18, 1994 (as the same may be modified, amended, extended 
or restated from time to time, the "Credit Agreement"), among the 
Company and the Banks named therein.  Capitalized terms used 
herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings 
assigned to such terms in the Credit Agreement.  The Company 
hereby gives you notice pursuant to Section 2.03 of the Credit 
Agreement that it requests a Standby Borrowing under the Credit 
Agreement, and in that connection sets forth below the terms on 
which such Standby Borrowing is requested to be made: 
 
(A)  Date of Standby Borrowing  
     (which is a Business Day)                                    
 
(B)  Principal Amount of  
     Standby Borrowing 1/                                         
 
(C)  Interest rate basis 2/                                       
 



(D)  Interest Period and the last  
     day thereof 3/                                               
 
     Upon acceptance of any or all of the Loans made by the Banks 
in response to this request, the Company shall be deemed to have 
represented and warranted that the conditions to lending 
specified in Section 4.01(b) and (c) of the Credit Agreement have 
been satisfied. 
 
                              Very truly yours, 
 
                              TREDEGAR INDUSTRIES, INC., 
 
                                By 
                                                              
                                  Title: (Responsible Officer] 
_________________ 
 
     1/ Not less than $5,000,000 and in integral multiples of 
$1,000,000. 
 
     2/ Eurodollar Standby Loan, CD Loan or ABR Loan. 
 
     3/ Which shall be subject to the definition of "Interest 
Period" and end not later than the Maturity Date. 
 
                                                        EXHIBIT B 
 
                      FORM OF STANDBY NOTE 
 
 
$ [Amount of Bank's Commitment]                New York, New York 
                                                 [Effective Date] 
 
 
     FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, TREDEGAR INDUSTRIES, 
INC., a  Virginia corporation (the "Company"), hereby promises to 
pay to the order of                                    (the 
"Bank"), at the office of Chemical Bank (the "Administrative 
Agent"), at 270 Park Avenue, New York, New York 10017, on (i) the 
last day of each Interest Period as defined in the Revolving 
Credit Facility Agreement dated as of August 18, 1994 (as the 
same may be modified, amended, extended or restated from time to 
time, the "Credit Agreement"), among the Company and the Banks 
named therein, the aggregate unpaid principal amount of all 
Standby Loans made by the Bank to the Company pursuant to 
Sections 2.01 and 2.03 of the Credit Agreement to which such 
Interest Period applies and (ii) on the Maturity Date (as defined 
in the Credit Agreement), the lesser of the principal sum of 
[amount of Bank's Commitment] Dollars ($          ) and the 
aggregate unpaid principal amount of all Standby Loans made by 
the Bank to the Company pursuant to Sections 2.01 and 2.03 of the 
Credit Agreement, in lawful money of the United States of America 
in same day funds, and to pay interest from the date hereof on 
such principal amount from time to time outstanding, in like 
funds, at said office, at a rate or rates per annum and payable 
on such dates as determined pursuant to the Credit Agreement. 
 
     The Company promises to pay interest, on demand, on any 
overdue principal and, to the extent permitted by law, overdue 
interest from their due dates at a rate or rates determined as 
set forth in the Credit Agreement. 
 
     The Company hereby waives diligence, presentment, demand, 
protest and notice of any kind whatsoever.  The nonexercise by 
the holder of any of its rights hereunder in any particular 
instance shall not constitute a waiver thereof in that or any 
subsequent instance. 
 
     All borrowings evidenced by this Standby Note and all 
payments and prepayments of the principal hereof and interest 
hereon and the respective dates thereof shall be endorsed by the 
holder hereof on the schedule attached hereto and made a part 
hereof, or on a continuation thereof which shall be attached 
hereto and made a part hereof, or otherwise recorded by such 
holder in its internal records; provided, however, that any 
failure of the holder hereof to make such a notation or any error 
in such notation shall not in any manner affect the obligation of 
the Company to make payments of principal and interest in 
accordance with the terms of this Standby Note and the Credit 
Agreement. 



 
     This Standby Note is one of the Standby Notes referred to in 
the Credit Agreement which, among other things, contains 
provisions for the acceleration of the maturity hereof upon the 
happening of certain events, for optional and mandatory 
prepayment of the principal hereof prior to the maturity thereof 
and for the amendment or waiver of certain provisions of the 
Credit Agreement, all upon the terms and conditions therein 
specified.  THIS STANDBY NOTE SHALL BE CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH AND GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK AND ANY 
APPLICABLE LAWS OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA. 
 
 
                              TREDEGAR INDUSTRIES, INC., 
 
                                by 
                                                             
                                  Title: 
                                                        EXHIBIT C 
 
                            [Form of] 
 
     Administrative Questionnaire--Tredegar Industries, Inc. 
 
 
 
Agent Bank Services (ABS) will be providing the administrative 
servicing on the above mentioned credit. 
 
Please accurately complete the following information and return 
via FAX to the attention of Pamela Rivers at your earliest 
convenience. 
 
The FAX number for return is 212/622-0122. 
 
 
LEGAL NAME OF LENDER (TO APPEAR ON THE SIGNATURE LINE IN 
DOCUMENTATION): 
 
 
_________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
GENERAL INFORMATION - Domestic Lending Office: 
 
     Institution Name:  _______________________________________ 
 
     Street Address:    _______________________________________ 
 
     City/State/Zip:    _______________________________________ 
 
 
GENERAL INFORMATION - Eurodollar Lending Office: 
 
     Institution Name:  _______________________________________ 
 
     Street Address:    _______________________________________ 
 
     City/State/Zip:    _______________________________________ 
 
 
TAX WITHHOLDING: 
 
     Non-Resident Alien:  ____Yes*  ____No 
      *Form 4224 Enclosed 
     Tax ID Number: ______________________ 
 
 
CONTACTS/NOTIFICATION METHODS: 
 
     CREDIT CONTACTS: 
 
     Primary Contact: _______________________________ 
     Street Address:  _______________________________ 
     City/State/Zip:  _______________________________ 
     Phone Number:    ______________________ 
     FAX Number:      ______________________ 
     Back-up Contact: _______________________________ 
     Street Address:  _______________________________ 
     City/State/Zip:  _______________________________ 
     Phone Number:    ______________________ 



     FAX Number:      ______________________ 
 
 
ADMINISTRATIVE CONTACTS - BORROWINGS, PAYMENTS, INTEREST, ETC... 
 
     Contact(s):      _______________________________ 
     Street Address:  _______________________________ 
     City/State/Zip:  _______________________________ 
     Phone Number:    ______________________ 
     FAX Number:      ______________________ 
 
 
ACCOUNT INFORMATION -    PLEASE PROVIDE ONLY ONE SET OF 
                         INSTRUCTIONS FOR ALL TYPES OF PAYMENTS: 
 
     Name of Bank where funds are to be transferred: 
 
     ______________________________________________ 
 
     Routing Transit/ABA Number of Bank where funds are to be 
     transferred: 
 
     ____________________ 
 
     Name of Account:  ____________________________ 
 
     Account Number:   ____________________________ 
 
     Additional Information:  _____________________________ 
 
                           _____________________________ 
 
It is very important that all of the above information is 
accurately filled in and promptly returned.  If there is someone 
other than yourself who should receive this questionnaire, please 
notify us of their name and FAX number and we will FAX them a 
copy of the questionnaire.  If you have any questions, please 
call Pamela Rivers at 212/622-8091.  Thank you. 
 
                                                        EXHIBIT D 
 
                FORM OF ASSIGNMENT AND ACCEPTANCE 
 
                   Dated               , 19   
 
 
     Reference is made to the Revolving Credit Facility Agreement 
dated as of August 18, 1994 (as the same may be modified, 
amended, extended or restated from time to time, the "Credit 
Agreement"), among Tredegar Industries, Inc., a Virginia 
corporation (the "Company") and the Banks named therein.  
Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall 
have the meanings assigned to such terms in the Credit Agreement. 
 
                       (the "Assignor") and                     
(the "Assignee") agree as follows: 
 
     1.  The Assignor hereby sells and assigns to the Assignee, 
and the Assignee hereby purchases and assumes from the Assignor, 
a    % interest in and to all the Assignor's rights and 
obligations under the Credit Agreement as of the Assignment Date 
(as defined below) (including, without limitation, such 
percentage interest in the Commitment of the Assignor on the 
Assignment Date and such percentage interest in the Standby Loans 
owing to the Assignor outstanding on the Assignment Date together 
with such percentage interest in all unpaid interest with respect 
to such Standby Loans and Facility Fees accrued to the Assignment 
Date and such percentage interest in the Standby Note held by the 
Assignor). 
 
     2.  The Assignor (i) represents that as of the date hereof, 
its Commitment (without giving effect to assignments thereof 
which have not yet become effective) is $             and the 
outstanding balance of its Standby Loans (unreduced by any 
assignments thereof which have not  yet become effective) is 
$        ; (ii) makes no representation or warranty and assumes 
no responsibility with respect to any statements, warranties or 
representations made in or in connection with the Credit 
Agreement or the execution, legality, validity, enforceability, 
genuineness, sufficiency or value of the Credit Agreement or any 
other instrument or document furnished pursuant thereto, other 



than that it is the legal and beneficial owner of the interest 
being assigned by it hereunder and that such interest is free and 
clear of any adverse claim; (iii) makes no representation or 
warranty and assumes no responsibility with respect to the 
financial condition of the Company or the performance or 
observance by the Company of any of its obligations under the 
Credit Agreement or any other instrument or document furnished 
pursuant thereto and (iv) attaches the Standby Note held by it 
and requests that the Administrative Agent exchange such Note[s] 
for a new Standby Note payable to the Assignee in a principal 
amount equal to,                 and a new Standby Note payable 
to the Assignor in a principal amount equal to             and,    
respectively]. 
 
     3.   The Assignee (i) represents and warrants that it is 
legally authorized to enter into this Assignment and Acceptance; 
(ii) confirms that it has received a copy of the Credit 
Agreement, together with copies of the most recent financial 
statements delivered pursuant to Section 3.04 or 5.04 thereof and 
such other documents and information as it has deemed appropriate 
to make its own credit analysis and decision to enter into this 
Assignment and Acceptance; (iii) agrees that it will, 
independently and without reliance upon the Administrative Agent, 
the Assignor or any other Bank and based on such documents and 
information as it shall deem appropriate at the time, continue to 
make its own credit decisions in taking or not taking action 
under the Credit Agreement; (iv) appoints and authorizes the 
Administrative Agent to take such action as agent on its behalf 
and to exercise such powers under the Credit Agreement as are 
delegated to the Administrative Agent by the terms thereof, 
together with such powers as are reasonably incidental thereto; 
(v) agrees that it will perform in accordance with their terms 
all the obligations which by the terms of the Credit Agreement 
are required to be performed by it as a Bank; and (vi) agrees 
that it will keep confidential all information with respect to 
the Company furnished to it by the Company or the Assignor (other 
than information generally available to the public or otherwise 
available to the Assignor on a nonconfidential basis and other 
than disclosures to bank regulatory authorities and otherwise as 
required by law or in connection with the enforcement of the Loan 
Documents) [; and (vii) attaches the forms prescribed by the 
Internal Revenue Service of the United States certifying as to 
the Assignee's exemption from United States withholding taxes 
with respect to all payments to be made to the Assignee under the 
Credit Agreement or such other documents as are necessary to 
indicate that all such payments are subject to such tax at a rate 
reduced by an applicable tax treaty]. 1/ 
 
     4.   The effective date for this Assignment and Acceptance 
shall be             (the "Assignment Date"). 2/ Following the 
execution of this Assignment and Acceptance, it will be delivered 
to the Administrative Agent for acceptance and recording by the 
Administrative Agent pursuant to Section 9.04 (e) of the Credit 
Agreement. 
 
     5.  Upon such acceptance and recording, from and after the 
Assignment Date, (i) the Assignee shall be a party to the Credit 
Agreement and, to the extent provided in this Assignment and 
Acceptance, have the rights and obligations of a Bank thereunder 
and (ii) the Assignor shall, to the extent provided in this 
Assignment and Acceptance, relinquish its rights and be released 
from its obligations under the Credit Agreement. 
 
     6.  Upon such acceptance and recording, from and after the 
Assignment Date, the Administrative Agent shall make all payments 
in respect of the interest assigned hereby (including payments of 
principal, interest, fees and other amounts) to the Assignee.  
The Assignor and Assignee shall make all appropriate adjustments 
in payments for periods prior to the Assignment Date by the 
Administrative Agent or with respect to the making of this 
assignment directly between themselves. 
 
     7. THIS ASSIGNMENT AND ACCEPTANCE SHALL BE GOV- 
ERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE 
STATE OF NEW YORK. 
 
 
                              [NAME OF ASSIGNOR], 
 
                               by 
                                                           



                                 Title: 
 
 
                              [NAME OF ASSIGNEE], 
 
                               by 
                                                           
                                 Title: 
 
 
Accepted this     day 
of           , 19 
 
 
CHEMICAL BANK, 
  as Administrative Agent, 
 
 
by                        
  Title: 
 
     1/ If the Assignee is organized under the laws of a  
jurisdiction outside the United States. 
 
     2/ See Section 9.04. Such date shall be at least five 
Business Days after the execution of this Assignment and 
Acceptance and delivery thereof to the Administrative Agent. 
 
                                                        EXHIBIT E 
 
            Form of Opinion of Nancy M. Taylor, Esq. 
                    Counsel for the Borrower 
 
                                                   [Closing Date] 
 
 
To the Banks party to the Credit Agreement  
referred to below 
In care of Chemical Bank, as Administrative Agent 
270 Park Avenue 
New York, New York 10017 
 
Gentlemen: 
 
     I am Corporate Counsel of Tredegar Industries, Inc., a 
Virginia corporation (the "Company"), and have acted as counsel 
to the Company in connection with the Credit Agreement (as the 
same may be modified, amended, extended or restated from time to 
time, the "Credit Agreement") dated as of August 18, 1994, among 
the Company and the Banks named in the Credit Agreement, 
providing for loans to be made to the Company in the aggregate 
principal amount of $200,000,000.  Unless otherwise noted, terms 
defined in the Credit Agreement are used herein as defined 
therein. 
 
     In connection with the foregoing, I have reviewed the Credit 
Agreement and the form of the Standby Note.  I have also examined 
and relied upon copies, certified or otherwise authenticated to 
my satisfaction, of documents reflecting corporate action of the 
Company with respect to the Credit Agreement and certificates of 
public officials, and have reviewed such other documents and 
matters of law as I have deemed necessary to enable me to express 
the opinions set forth herein.  As to questions of fact material 
to my opinion, I have relied upon certificates of officers of the 
Company and representations in the Credit Agreement by the 
Company. 
 
     I do not purport to express an opinion on any laws other 
than those of the Commonwealth of Virginia and the United States 
of America except that I have assumed that the laws of the State 
of New York are the same as the Commonwealth of Virginia with 
respect to the opinions expressed in Paragraph 3 below. 
 
     Based upon and subject to the foregoing, and to the further 
limitations and qualifications stated below, I am of the opinion 
that: 
 
     1.   Each of the Company and the Subsidiaries of the Company 
listed on Schedule 3.08 (Part I) of the Credit Agreement (the 
"United States Subsidiaries" and each a "United States 
Subsidiary") (a) is a corporation duly incorporated, validly 



existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction 
of its incorporation and is duly qualified to transact business 
in each state where the failure to so qualify would have a 
material effect on the business or financial condition of the 
Company and the Subsidiaries taken as a whole and (b) has all 
requisite power and authority to own its property and assets and 
to carry on its business as now conducted and as proposed to be 
conducted.  The Company has the necessary corporate power to 
enter into and perform its obligations under the Credit Agreement 
and the Notes and to borrow under the Credit Agreement. 
 
     2.   The execution and delivery by the Company of, and the 
performance by the Company of its obligations under, the Credit 
Agreement and the Notes, the borrowings by the Company under the 
Credit Agreement (a) have been duly authorized by all necessary 
corporate action of the Company and all requisite stockholder 
action, and do not and will not violate any provision of the 
articles of incorporation or by-laws of the Company or any United 
States Subsidiary or any provision of law or regulation, 
including Regulations G, U and X, (b) do not, to the best of my 
knowledge, result in the breach of, or constitute a default or 
require any consent under, or result in the creation of any Lien 
upon any of its properties, revenues or assets pursuant to, any 
indenture or other agreement or instrument to which the Company 
or any United States Subsidiary is a party or by which the 
Company or any United States Subsidiary or their properties may 
be bound, or (c) result in the creation or imposition of any Lien 
upon property or assets of the Company or any United States 
Subsidiary except Liens permitted by Section 6.01 of the Credit 
Agreement. 
 
     3.   The Credit Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and 
binding obligation of the Company enforceable in accordance with 
its terms, and the Notes when executed and delivered for value 
will constitute its legal, valid and binding obligations 
enforceable in accordance with their respective terms, except, in 
each case, as such enforceability may be limited by 
(a) bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other 
similar laws of general applicability affecting the enforcement 
of creditors' rights and (b) the application of general 
principles of equity (regardless of whether such enforceability 
is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law). 
 
     4.   To the best of my knowledge, there are no legal or 
arbitral proceedings, and no proceedings by or before any 
Governmental Authority, pending or threatened against or 
affecting the Company or any properties or rights of the Company 
that, if adversely determined, would have a material adverse 
effect on (a) the financial condition, operations or business of 
the Company, or (b) the ability of the Company to perform any of 
its obligations under the Loan Documents or the Transactions or 
any rights or remedies available to the Banks under the Loan 
Documents. 
 
     5.   No authorizations, consents, approvals, licenses, 
filings or registrations, with any Governmental Authority are 
required in connection with the execution, delivery or 
performance by the Company of its obligations under the Credit 
Agreement or the Notes, other than those the failure of which to 
obtain would not give rise to a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
     6.   To the best of my knowledge, neither the Company nor 
any of the United States Subsidiaries is in violation of any law, 
rule or regulation, or in default with respect to any judgment, 
writ, injunction or decree of any Governmental Authority, where 
such violation or default could result in a Material Adverse 
Effect. 
 
     7.   Neither the Company nor any United States Subsidiary is 
(a) an "investment company" as defined in, or subject to 
regulation under, the Investment Company Act of 1940 or (b) a 
"holding company" as defined in, or subject to regulation under, 
the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935. 
 
     I have not been asked to and do not express any opinion with 
respect to any matters except as expressly set forth above.  This 
opinion is solely for your benefit and may not be distributed to 
or relied upon by any other person, quoted in whole or in part or 
otherwise reproduced in any other document without my prior 
written consent. 
 



                              Very truly yours, 
 
                                                    SCHEDULE 2.01 
                           COMMITMENTS 
 
 
Name and Address of Bank                             Commitment 
 
Chemical Bank                                        $25,000,000 
270 Park Avenue  
New York, NY 10017 
Attn:     Mr. William Ewing III 
          Managing Director 
Telephone:  (212) 270-3491 
Telecopy:   (212) 270-3279 
 
NationsBank of Virginia, N.A.                        $25,000,000 
1111 East Main Street 
Richmond, VA 23277-0001 
Attn:     Mr. E. Turner Coggin 
          Sr. Vice President 
Telephone:  (804) 788-3455 
Telecopy:   (804) 788-3669 
 
Bank of Nova Scotia                                  $15,000,000 
One Liberty Plaza 
New York, NY 10006 
Attn:     Mr. James Trimble 
          Representative 
Telephone:  (212) 225-5011 
Telecopy:   (212) 225-5090 
 
Central Fidelity                                     $15,000,000 
1021 East Cary Street 
Richmond, VA 23261 
Attn:     Mr. Harry A. Turton, Jr. 
          Vice President 
Telephone:  (804) 697-6801 
Telecopy:   (804) 697-6869 
 
Crestar Bank                                         $20,000,000 
919 East Main Street, 22nd Floor 
Richmond, VA 23219 
Attn:     Mr. Chris B. Werner 
          Vice President 
Telephone:  (804) 782-5998 
Telecopy:   (804) 782-5413 
 
LTCB Trust Company                                   $20,000,000 
245 Peachtree Center Ave. N.E., (Suite 2801) 
Atlanta, GA 30303 
Attn:     Mr. Thomas Meyer 
          Vice President 
Telephone:  (404) 659-7210 
Telecopy:   (404) 658-9751 
 
PNC Bank                                             $15,000,000 
Broad & Chestnut Streets 
Philadelphia, PA 19101 
Attn:     Ms. Jill Felzan 
          Vice President 
Telephone:  (215) 585-5559 
Telecopy:   (215) 585-5972 
 
Signet Bank/Virginia                                 $20,000,000 
800 East Main Street 
Richmond, VA 23212 
Attn:     Mr. Kevin Walsh 
          Vice President 
Telephone:  (804) 771-7395 
Telecopy:   (804) 771-7151 
 
Societe Generale                                     $20,000,000 
303 Peachtree Street, 3840 
Atlanta, GA 30308 
Attn:     Mr. Brian J. Campbell 
          Vice President 
Telephone:  (404) 865-7400 
Telecopy:   (404) 865-7419 
 
The Sumitomo Bank, Limited                           $10,000,000 



(New York Branch) 
One World Trade Center (Suite 9651) 
New York, NY 10048 
Attn:     Mr. Robert Wehmer 
          Vice President 
Telephone:  (212) 323-0441 
Telecopy:   (212) 553-0118 
 
The Yasuda Trust and Banking Co., Limited            $15,000,000 
285 Peachtree Center Ave. N.E. (Suite 2104) 
Atlanta, GA 30303 
Attn:     Sanjay Sinha 
          Vice President 
Telephone:  (404) 584-8230 
Telecopy:   (404) 584-7816 
 
 
Total Commitment                                     $200,000,000 
 
                                                    SCHEDULE 3.07 
                                                       Part 1     
 
 
                             Part 1 
 
                   UNITED STATES SUBSIDIARIES 
 
 
                                                  Percentage of 
                                                   Common Stock 
                                                  Owned Directly 
                                                  or Indirectly 
Name of Subsidiary                                by the Company 
 
APPX Software, Inc.                                   100% 
 
The William L. Bonnell Company, Inc.                  100% 
 
Brudi, Inc.                                           100% 
 
Capitol Products Corporation                          100% 
 
Fiberlux, Inc.                                        100% 
 
Idlewood Properties, Inc.                             100% 
 
Massie Tool, Mold & Die, Inc.                         100% 
 
Molecumetics Institute, Ltd.                          100% 
 
Molecumetics, Ltd.                                   90.5% 
 
Polestar Plastics Manufacturing Company               100% 
 
Tredegar Development Corporation                      100% 
 
Tredegar Exploration, Inc.                            100% 
 
Tredegar Investments, Inc.                            100% 
 
Tredegar Molded Products Company                      100% 
 
Virginia Techport, Inc.                               100% 
 
                                                    SCHEDULE 3.07 
                                                       Part 2     
 
 
                             Part 2 
 
                 NON-UNITED STATES SUBSIDIARIES 
 
 
                                                  Percentage of 
                                                   Common Stock 
                                                  Owned Directly 
                                                  or Indirectly 
Name of Subsidiary                                by the Company 
 
Brudi Limited                                         100% 
 



Swing-Shift Brudi Pacific Pty Ltd                   99.99% 
 
Tredegar Brasil Industria De Plasticos Ltda.          100% 
 
Tredegar Film Products, B.V.                          100% 
 
Tredegar Foreign Sales Corporation                    100% 
 
                                                    SCHEDULE 3.08 
 
 
                           LITIGATION 
 
 
 
     None. 
 
                                                    SCHEDULE 6.01 
 
 
                              LIENS 
 
 
     None. 



                                                             Exhibit 4.2 
 
                                                          Execution Copy 
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                     CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
 
               Dated as of August 19, 1994 
 
 
                        among 
 
 
               TREDEGAR INDUSTRIES, INC., 
 
 
                THE BANKS NAMED HEREIN, 
 
 
                         and 
 
 
             LTCB TRUST COMPANY, as Agent 
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                      CREDIT AGREEMENT dated as of August 19, 1994, 
                among TREDEGAR INDUSTRIES, INC., a Virginia 
                corporation (the "Company"), the banks whose names 
                appear at the foot hereof (the "Banks") and LTCB 
                TRUST COMPANY, a New York trust company, as agent 



                for the Banks (in such capacity, the "Agent"). 
 
 
     The Company has requested the Banks to extend credit to the 
Company in order to enable it to borrow on a standby revolving 
credit basis on and after the date hereof and at any time and 
from time to time prior to the Maturity Date (as herein defined) 
an aggregate principal amount not in excess of $35,000,000 at any 
time outstanding.  The proceeds of such borrowings are to be used 
for general corporate purposes.  The Banks are willing to extend 
such credit to the Company on the terms and subject to the 
conditions herein set forth. 
 
     Accordingly, the Company, the Agent and the Banks agree as 
follows: 
 
I.   DEFINITIONS 
 
           SECTION 1.1.  Defined Terms.  As used in this Agree- 
ment, the following terms shall have the meanings specified 
below: 
 
           "Adjusted LIBO Rate" shall mean, with respect to any 
Eurodollar Borrowing for any Interest Period, an interest rate 
per annum (rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next 1/16 of 1%) 
equal to the product of (a) the LIBO Rate in effect for such 
Interest Period and (b) the LIBO Reserve Percentage. 
 
           "Administrative Questionnaire" shall mean an Admin- 
istrative Questionnaire in the form of Exhibit C hereto. 
 
           "Affiliate" shall mean, when used with respect to a 
specified person, another person that directly, or indirectly 
through one or more intermediaries, Controls or is Controlled by 
or is under common Control with the person specified. 
 
           "Applicable Spread" shall mean the applicable spread 
per annum set forth below based upon the Company's 
Debt/Capitalization Ratio: 
 
     Category I                             Applicable Spread 
 
     Debt/Capitalization Ratio 
     less than or equal to 35%                    .3000% 
 
     Category II 
 
     Debt Capitalization Ratio 
     less than or equal to 50%                    .3750% 
 
     Category III 
 
     Debt/Capitalization Ratio 
     greater than 50%                             .4500% 
 
For purposes of the foregoing, the Applicable Spread for any date 
shall be determined by reference to the Debt/Capitali-zation 
Ratio as of the last day of the Company's fiscal quarter most 
recently ended as of such date and any change in the Applicable 
Spread shall become effective upon the delivery to the Agent of a 
certificate of a Responsible Officer of the Company with respect 
to the financial statements to be delivered pursuant to Section 
5.4 for the fiscal quarter or year most recently ended, as the 
case may be, (a) setting forth in reasonable detail the 
calculation of the Debt/Capi-talization Ratio for and at the end 
of such fiscal quarter or year and (b) stating that the signer 
has reviewed the terms of this Agreement and other Loan Documents 
and has made, or caused to be made under such officer's 
supervision, a review in reasonable detail of the transactions 
and condition of the Company, during the accounting period, and 
that the signer does not have knowledge of the existence as at 
the date of such officer's certificate of any Event of Default or 
Default and shall apply to Loans outstanding on such delivery 
date or made on and after such delivery date.  Notwithstanding 
the foregoing, at any time during which the Company has failed to 
deliver the certificate referred to above with respect to a 
fiscal quarter or year following the date that delivery of 
financial statements relating to such fiscal quarter or year are 
required to be delivered under Section 5.4, the 
Debt/Capitalization Ratio shall be deemed, solely for the 
purposes of this definition, to be greater than 50% until such 



time as the Company shall have delivered such certificate and 
financial statements. 
 
           "Assignment and Acceptance" shall mean an assignment 
and acceptance entered into by a Bank and an assignee, and 
accepted by the Agent, in the form of Exhibit D. 
 
           "Base Rate" shall mean, at any time, a rate per annum 
equal to the higher of (a) the Prime Rate in effect at such time, 
or (b) 0.50% plus the Federal Funds Effective Rate in effect at 
such time. 
 
           "Base Rate Borrowing" shall mean a Borrowing comprised 
of Base Rate Loans. 
 
           "Base Rate Loan" shall mean any Standby Loan bearing 
interest at a rate determined by reference to the Base Rate in 
accordance with the provisions of Article II. 
 
           "Board" shall mean the Board of Governors of the 
Federal Reserve System of the United States. 
 
           "Borrowing" shall mean a Loan or group of Loans of a 
single Type made by the Banks on a single date and as to which a 
single Interest Period is in effect. 
 
           "Business Day" shall mean any day (other than a day 
which is a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday in the State of New 
York) on which banks are open for business in New York City; 
provided that, when used in connection with a Eurodollar Loan, 
the term "Business Day" shall also exclude any day on which banks 
are not open for dealings in dollar deposits in the London 
interbank market. 
 
           "Capital Lease Obligations" of any person shall mean 
the obligations of such person to pay rent or other amounts under 
any lease of (or other arrangement conveying the right to use) 
real or personal property, or a combination thereof, which 
obligations are required to be classified and accounted for as 
capital leases on a balance sheet of such person under GAAP and, 
for the purposes of this Agreement, the amount of such 
obligations at any time shall be the capitalized amount thereof 
at such time determined in accordance with GAAP. 
 
           A "Change in Control" shall be deemed to have occurred 
if (a) any person or group (within the meaning of Rule 13d-5 of 
the Securities and Exchange Commission as in effect on the date 
hereof) other than (i) any person or group whose beneficial 
ownership of common stock is reported on Schedule 13D, filed with 
respect to the common stock of the Company on July 20, 1989, as 
amended prior to the date of this Agreement, (ii) spouses, 
children and lineal descendants of such persons, (iii) trusts 
created for the benefit of such persons or (iv) any combination 
of the persons described in the foregoing subclauses (i), (ii) or 
(iii) ("Exempt Person") shall own directly or indirectly, 
beneficially or of record, shares representing more than 25% of 
the aggregate ordinary voting power represented by each class of 
the issued and outstanding capital stock of the Company; (b) a 
majority of the seats (other than vacant seats) on the board of 
directors of the Company shall at any time have been occupied by 
persons who were not Continuing Directors; or (c) any person or 
group other than an Exempt Person shall otherwise directly or 
indirectly Control the Company. 
 
           "Closing Date" shall mean the date of this Agreement. 
 
           "Code" shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
the same may be amended from time to time. 
 
           "Commitment" shall mean, with respect to each Bank, the 
Commitment of such Bank hereunder as set forth in Schedule 2.1 
hereto, as such Bank's Commitment may be permanently terminated 
or reduced from time to time pursuant to Section 2.11.  The 
Commitments shall automatically and permanently terminate on the 
Maturity Date. 
 
           "Consolidated Net Income" with respect to any person 
for any period shall mean (a) the aggregate net income (or net 
loss) of such person for such period equal to net revenues and 
other proper income or gain of such person for such period 
(including gains on the sale of capital assets) less, without 



duplication of any items deducted in determining such net 
revenues, income or gain, the aggregate for such person during 
such period of, (i) cost of goods sold, (ii) interest expense, 
(iii) operating expense, (iv) selling, general and administrative 
expenses, (v) taxes, (vi) depreciation, depletion and 
amortization and (vii) any other items that are treated as 
expenses under GAAP, plus (b) write-downs of assets, losses from 
discontinued operations and other extraordinary losses (net of 
tax benefits), in each case to the extent taken into account in 
determining the net revenues, income or gain referred to in (a) 
above. 
 
           "Consolidated Stockholders' Equity" shall mean, at any 
time (a) the sum of (i) the Company's issued capital stock taken 
at par or stated value at such time, (ii) the Company's capital 
surplus at such time and (iii) the Company's retained earnings at 
such time, less (b) the Company's treasury stock and minority 
interest in subsidiaries at such time, all determined in 
accordance with GAAP. 
 
           "Consolidated Total Capitalization" shall mean, at any 
time, the sum of the Company's Consolidated Total Debt and 
Consolidated Stockholders' Equity at such time. 
 
           "Consolidated Total Debt" shall mean, at any time, all 
Indebtedness of the Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries at 
such time, computed and consolidated in accordance with GAAP. 
 
           "Continuing Director" shall mean (a) any member of the 
Board of Directors of the Company on the date of this Agreement 
and (b) any person whose subsequent nomination for election or 
election to the Board of Directors was recommended or approved by 
a majority of the Continuing Directors serving as such at the 
time of such nomination. 
 
           "Control" shall mean the possession, directly or 
indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the 
management or policies of a person, whether through the ownership 
of voting securities, by contract or otherwise. 
 
           "Debt/Capitalization Ratio" shall mean the ratio of the 
Company's Consolidated Total Debt to the Company's Consolidated 
Total Capitalization. 
 
           "Default" shall mean an event which upon notice or 
lapse of time or both would constitute an Event of Default. 
 
           "dollars" and the symbol "$" shall mean the lawful 
currency of the United States of America. 
 
           "ERISA" shall mean the Employee Retirement Income 
Security Act of 1974, as the same may be amended from time to 
time. 
 
           "ERISA Affiliate" shall mean any trade or business 
(whether or not incorporated) that is a member of a group of 
which the Company is a member and which is treated as a single 
employer under Section 414 of the Code. 
 
           "Eurodollar Borrowing" shall mean a Borrowing comprised 
of Eurodollar Loans. 
 
           "Eurodollar Loan" shall mean any Standby Loan bearing 
interest at a rate determined by reference to the Adjusted LIBO 
Rate in accordance with the provisions of Article II. 
 
           "Event of Default" shall have the meaning assigned to 
such term in Article VII. 
 
           "Facility Fee" shall have the meaning assigned to such 
term in Section 2.5(a). 
 
           "Facility Fee Percentage" shall mean the applicable 
spread per annum set forth below based upon the Company's 
Debt/Capitalization Ratio: 
 
                                            Facility Fee 
     Category I                             Percentage 
 
     Debt/Capitalization Ratio 
     less than or equal to 35%                    .2500% 



 
     Category II 
 
     Debt Capitalization Ratio 
     less than or equal to 50%                    .3000% 
 
     Category III 
 
     Debt/Capitalization Ratio 
     greater than 50%                             .3500% 
 
For purposes of the foregoing, the Facility Fee Percentage for 
any date shall be determined by reference to the Debt/Capi- 
talization Ratio as of the last day of the Company's fiscal 
quarter most recently ended as of such date and any change in the 
Facility Fee Percentage shall become effective upon the delivery 
to the Agent of a certificate of a Responsible Officer of the 
Company with respect to the financial statements to be delivered 
pursuant to Section 5.4 for the fiscal quarter or year most 
recently ended, as the case may be, (a) setting forth in 
reasonable detail the calculation of the Debt/Capitalization 
Ratio for and at the end of such fiscal quarter or year and (b) 
stating that the signer has reviewed the terms of this Agreement 
and other Loan Documents and has made, or caused to be made under 
such officer's supervision, a review in reasonable detail of the 
transactions and condition of the Company, during the accounting 
period, and that the signer does not have knowledge of the 
existence as at the date of such officer's certificate of any 
Event of Default or Default.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, at 
any time during which the Company has failed to deliver the 
certificate referred to above with respect to a fiscal quarter or 
year following the date that delivery of financial statements 
relating to such fiscal quarter or year are required to be 
delivered under Section 5.4, the Debt/Capitalization Ratio shall 
be deemed, solely for the purposes of this definition, to be 
greater than 50% until such time as the Company shall have 
delivered such certificate and financial statements. 
 
           "Federal Funds Effective Rate" shall mean, for any day, 
the weighted average of the rates on overnight Federal funds 
transactions with members of the Federal Reserve System arranged 
by Federal funds brokers, as published on the next succeeding 
Business Day by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or, if such 
rate is not so published for any day which is a Business Day, the 
average of the quotations for the day of such transactions 
received by the Agent from three Federal funds brokers of 
recognized standing selected by it. 
 
           "Fees" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in 
Section 2.5 
 
           "Financial Officer" of any corporation shall mean the 
chief financial officer, principal accounting officer, Treasurer 
or Controller of such corporation. 
 
           "GAAP" shall mean generally accepted accounting 
principles. 
 
           "Governmental Authority" shall mean any Federal, state, 
local or foreign court or governmental agency, authority, 
instrumentality or regulatory body. 
 
           "Guarantee" of or by any person shall mean any obli- 
gation, contingent or otherwise, of such person guaranteeing or 
having the economic effect of guaranteeing any Indebtedness of 
any other person (the "primary obligor") in any manner, whether 
directly or indirectly, and including any obligation of such 
person, direct or indirect, (a) to purchase or pay (or advance or 
supply funds for the purchase or payment of) such Indebtedness or 
to purchase (or to advance or supply funds for the purchase of) 
any security for the payment of such Indebtedness, (b) to 
purchase property, securities or services for the purpose of 
assuring the owner of such Indebtedness of the payment of such 
Indebtedness or (c) to maintain working capital, equity capital 
or other financial statement condition or liquidity of the 
primary obligor so as to enable the primary obligor to pay such 
Indebtedness; provided that the term Guarantee shall not include 
endorsements for collection or deposit, in either case in the 
ordinary course of business. 
 
           "Indebtedness" of any person shall mean, without 



duplication, (a) all obligations of such person for borrowed 
money or with respect to deposits or advances of any kind, (b) 
all obligations of such person evidenced by bonds, debentures, 
notes or similar instruments, (c) all obligations of such person 
upon which interest charges are customarily paid (other than 
accounts payable), (d) all obligations of such person under 
conditional sale or other title retention agreements relating to 
property or assets purchased by such person, (e) all obligations 
of such person issued or assumed as the deferred purchase price 
of property or services, (f) all Indebtedness of others secured 
by (or for which the holder of such Indebtedness has an existing 
right, contingent or otherwise, to be secured by) any Lien on 
property owned or acquired by such person, whether or not the 
obligations secured thereby have been assumed, provided that the 
amount of such Indebtedness shall be deemed to be the lesser of 
(i) the outstanding principal amount of such Indebtedness plus 
all accrued and unpaid interest relating thereto and (ii) the 
fair market value of the property secured by any such Lien, (g) 
all Guarantees by such person of Indebtedness of others, (h) all 
Capital Lease Obligations of such person, (i) all obligations of 
such person in respect of interest rate protection agreements, 
foreign currency exchange agreements or other interest or 
exchange rate hedging arrangements and (j) all obligations of 
such person as an account party in respect of letters of credit 
and bankers' acceptances.  The Indebtedness of any person shall 
include the Indebtedness of any partnership in which such person 
is a general partner unless such Indebtedness is without any 
recourse whatsoever to such person as a general partner of any 
such partnership. 
 
           "Interest Payment Date" shall mean, with respect to any 
Loan, the last day of each Interest Period applicable thereto 
and, in the case of Eurodollar Loan with an Interest Period of 
more than three months' duration, each day that would have been 
the Interest Payment Date for such Loan had successive Interest 
Periods of 3 months been applicable to such Loan and, in 
addition, the date of any refinancing or conversion of such Loan 
with or to a Loan of a different Type. 
 
           "Interest Period" shall mean (a) as to any Eurodollar 
Borrowing, the period commencing on the date of the Borrowing and 
ending on the numerically corresponding day (or if there is no 
corresponding day, the last day) in the calendar month that is 1, 
2, 3 or 6 months thereafter, as the Company may elect in 
accordance with Section 2.3 hereof, and (b) as to any Base Rate 
Borrowing, the period commencing on the date of such Borrowing 
and ending on the date 90 days thereafter or, if earlier, on the 
Maturity Date or the date of prepayment of such Borrowing; 
provided that if any Interest Period would end on a day which 
shall not be a Business Day, such Interest Period shall be 
extended to the next succeeding Business Day, unless, with 
respect to Eurodollar Loans only, such next succeeding Business 
Day would fall in the next calendar month, in which case such 
Interest Period shall end on the next preceding Business Day.  
Interest shall accrue from and including the first day of an 
Interest Period to but excluding the last day of such Interest 
Period. 
 
           "LIBO Rate" shall mean, with respect to any Eurodollar 
Loan for any Interest Period, the rate per annum designated on 
Telerate page 3750 (or such other page as may replace such page 
for the purpose of displaying the London interbank offered rate) 
for the term of such Interest Period as of 11:00 a.m. London time 
two Business Days prior to the commencement of such Interest 
Period; provided that if no such rate is designated, LIBO Rate 
shall mean the arithmetic mean (rounded upwards, if necessary, to 
the next 1/16 of 1%) of the rates per annum at which dollar 
deposits approximately equal in principal amount to LTCB Trust's 
portion of such Loan and for a maturity comparable to such In- 
terest Period are offered by three prime banks in the London 
interbank market (selected by the Agent) to the principal London 
office of LTCB, in immediately available funds at approximately 
11:00 a.m., London time, two Business Days prior to the 
commencement of such Interest Period. 
 
           "LIBO Reserve Percentage" shall mean, for any Interest 
Period for any Eurodollar Loan, a fraction, the numerator of 
which is the number one and the denominator of which is the 
number one minus the reserve percentage (expressed as a decimal) 
equal to the aggregate of maximum reserve requirements (including 
any basic, emergency, supplemental, marginal and other reserves 



and taking into account any transitional adjustments or other 
scheduled changes in reserve requirements) specified under 
regulations from time to time by the Board and then applicable to 
assets or liabilities consisting of and including "Eurocurrency 
liabilities", as then defined in Regulation D, having a term 
approximately equal or comparable to such Interest Period. 
 
           "Lien" shall mean, with respect to any asset, (a) any 
mortgage, deed of trust, lien, pledge, encumbrance, charge or 
security interest in or on such asset, (b) the interest of a 
vendor or a lessor under any conditional sale agreement, capital 
lease or title retention agreement relating to such asset and (c) 
in the case of securities, any purchase option, call or similar 
right of a third party with respect to such securities. 
 
           "Loan" shall mean a Standby Loan, whether made as a 
Eurodollar Loan or a Base Rate Loan. 
 
           "Loan Documents" shall mean this Agreement and the 
Notes. 
 
           "LTCB" shall mean The Long-Term Credit Bank of Japan, 
Limited, a Japanese bank, and its successors. 
 
           "LTCB Trust" shall mean LTCB Trust Company, a New York 
trust company, and its successors. 
 
           "Margin Stock" shall have the meaning given such term 
under Regulation U. 
 
           "Material Adverse Effect" shall mean (a) a materially 
adverse effect on the business, assets, operations, prospects or 
condition, financial or otherwise, of the Company and the 
Subsidiaries taken as a whole, (b) material impairment of the 
ability of the Company to perform any of its obligations under 
any Loan Document to which it is or will be a party or (c) 
material impairment of the rights of or benefits available to the 
Banks under any Loan Document. 
 
           "Maturity Date" shall mean the fifth anniversary of the 
date of this Agreement, or any anniversary of such date to which 
the Maturity Date shall have been extended pursuant to Section 
2.10. 
 
           "Multiemployer Plan" shall mean a multiemployer plan as 
defined in Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA to which the Company or 
any ERISA Affiliate (other than one considered an ERISA Affiliate 
only pursuant to subsection (m) or (o) of Section 414 of the 
Code) is making or accruing an obligation to make contributions, 
or has within any of the preceding five plan years made or 
accrued an obligation to make contributions. 
 
           "Note" shall mean a Standby Note of the Company 
executed and delivered as provided in Section 2.6. 
 
           "PBGC" shall mean the Pension Benefit Guaranty Cor- 
poration referred to and defined in ERISA. 
 
           "person" shall mean any natural person, corporation, 
business trust, joint venture, association, company, partnership 
or government, or any agency or political subdivision thereof. 
 
           "Plan" shall mean any pension plan (other than a 
Multiemployer Plan) subject to the provisions of Title IV of 
ERISA or Section 412 of the Code which is maintained for em- 
ployees of the Company or any ERISA Affiliate. 
 
           "Prime Rate" shall mean, at any time, the rate of 
interest per annum adopted by LTCB in New York City as its 
reference rate for the determination of interest rates for loans 
of varying maturities in dollars to United States residents of 
varying degrees of creditworthiness and being quoted at such time 
by LTCB in New York City as its "prime rate".  Each change in the 
rate of interest payable hereunder by the Company due to a change 
in the Prime Rate shall be effective as of the opening of 
business on the date such change in the Prime Rate shall have 
been publicly announced to be effective.  The Prime Rate is not 
intended to be the lowest rate of interest charged by the Agent 
or any Bank in connection with extensions of credit to debtors. 
 
           "Register" shall have the meaning given such term in 



Section 9.4(d). 
 
           "Regulation D" shall mean Regulation D of the Board, as 
the same is from time to time in effect, and all official rulings 
and interpretations thereunder or thereof. 
 
           "Regulation G" shall mean Regulation G of the Board, as 
the same is from time to time in effect, and all official rulings 
and interpretations thereunder or thereof. 
 
           "Regulation U" shall mean Regulation U of the Board, as 
the same is from time to time in effect, and all official rulings 
and interpretations thereunder or thereof. 
 
           "Regulation X" shall mean Regulation X of the Board, as 
the same is from time to time in effect, and all official rulings 
and interpretations thereunder or thereof. 
 
           "Reportable Event" shall mean any reportable event as 
defined in Section 4043(b) of ERISA or the regulations issued 
thereunder with respect to a Plan (other than a Plan maintained 
by an ERISA Affiliate which is considered an ERISA Affiliate only 
pursuant to subsection (m) or (o) of Section 414 of the Code). 
 
           "Required Banks" shall mean, at any time, Banks having 
Commitments representing at least 66-2/3% of the Total Commitment 
and, for purposes of acceleration pursuant to clause (ii) of 
Article VII and at any time when no Commitment is in effect, 
Banks holding Loans representing at least 66-2/3% of the 
aggregate principal amount of the Loans outstanding or if all 
Loans have been repaid and no Commitments are in effect, which 
held 66-2/3% of the aggregate principal amount of the Loans 
outstanding immediately prior to such repayment. 
 
           "Responsible Officer" of any corporation shall mean any 
executive officer or Financial Officer of such corporation and 
any other officer or similar official thereof responsible for the 
administration of the obligations of such corporation in respect 
of this Agreement. 
 
           "Significant Subsidiary" shall mean any Subsidiary 
whose gross revenues or assets constitute 1% or more of con- 
solidated gross revenues or consolidated assets of the Company 
and its Subsidiaries. 
 
           "Standby Borrowing" shall mean a borrowing consisting 
of simultaneous Standby Loans from each of the Banks. 
 
           "Standby Borrowing Request" shall mean a request made 
pursuant to Section 2.3 in the form of Exhibit A. 
 
           "Standby Loans" or "Loans" shall mean the revolving 
loans made by the Banks to the Company pursuant to Section 2.3.  
Each Standby Loan shall be a Eurodollar Loan or a Base Rate Loan. 
 
           "Standby Note" or "Note" shall mean a promissory note 
of the Company in the form of Exhibit B executed and delivered as 
provided in Section 2.6. 
  
           "subsidiary" shall mean, with respect to any person 
(herein referred to as the "parent"), any corporation, part- 
nership, association or other business entity (a) of which 
securities or other ownership interests representing more than 
50% of the equity or more than 50% of the ordinary voting power 
or more than 50% of the general partnership interests are, at the 
time any determination is being made, owned, controlled or held, 
or (b) which is, at the time any determination is made, otherwise 
Controlled, by the parent or one or more subsidiaries of the 
parent or by the parent and one or more subsidiaries of the 
parent. 
 
           "Subsidiary" shall mean any subsidiary of the Company. 
 
           "Total Commitment" shall mean at any time the aggregate 
amount of the Banks' Commitments, as in effect at such time. 
 
           "Type", when used in respect of any Loan or Borrowing, 
shall refer to the Rate by reference to which interest on such 
Loan or on the Loans comprising such Borrowing is determined.  
For purposes hereof, "Rate" shall include the Adjusted LIBO Rate 
and the Base Rate. 



 
           "Withdrawal Liability" shall mean liability to a 
Multiemployer Plan as a result of a complete or partial with- 
drawal from such Multiemployer Plan, as such terms are defined in 
Part I of Subtitle E of Title IV of ERISA. 
 
           SECTION 1.2.    Terms Generally.  The definitions in 
Section 1.1 shall apply equally to both the singular and plural 
forms of the terms defined.  Whenever the context may require, 
any pronoun shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine 
and neuter forms.  The words "include", "includes" and 
"including" shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase "without 
limitation".  All references herein to Articles, Sections, 
Exhibits and Schedules shall be deemed references to Articles and 
Sections of, and Exhibits and Schedules to, this Agreement unless 
the context shall otherwise require.  Except as otherwise 
expressly provided herein, all terms of an accounting or 
financial nature shall be construed in accordance with GAAP, as 
in effect from time to time; provided that, for purposes of 
determining compliance with any covenant set forth in Article VI, 
such terms shall be construed in accordance with GAAP as in 
effect on the date of this Agreement applied on a basis 
consistent with the application used in the Company's audited 
financial statements referred to in Section 3.4. 
 
 
II.  THE CREDITS 
 
           SECTION 2.1.    Commitments.  (a)  Subject to the terms 
and conditions and relying upon the representations and war- 
ranties herein set forth, each Bank agrees, severally and not 
jointly, to make Standby Loans to the Company, at any time and 
from time to time on and after the date hereof and until the 
earlier of the Maturity Date and the termination of the 
Commitment of such Bank, in an aggregate principal amount at any 
time outstanding not to exceed such Bank's Commitment subject, 
however, to the conditions that the outstanding aggregate 
principal amount of all Standby Loans made by a Bank shall equal 
the product of (i) the percentage which its Commitment represents 
of the Total Commitment times (ii) the outstanding aggregate 
principal amount of all Standby Loans requested from the Banks 
pursuant to Section 2.3.  Each Bank's Commitment is set forth 
opposite its respective name in Schedule 2.1.  Such Commitments 
may be terminated, reduced or extended from time to time pursuant 
to Section 2.10. 
 
           Within the foregoing limits, the Company may borrow, 
repay, prepay and reborrow hereunder, on and after the date 
hereof and prior to the Maturity Date, subject to the terms, 
provisions and limitations set forth herein. 
 
           SECTION 2.2.    Loans.  (a) Each Standby Loan shall be 
made as part of a Borrowing consisting of Loans made by the  the 
Banks ratably in accordance with their respective Commitments; 
provided that the failure of any Bank to make any Standby Loan 
shall not in itself relieve any other Bank of its obligation to 
lend hereunder (it being understood, however, that no Bank shall 
be responsible for the failure of any other Bank to make any Loan 
required to be made by such other Bank).  Standby Loans 
comprising each Borrowing shall be in an aggregate principal 
amount which is an integral multiple of $1,000,000 and not less 
than $5,000,000 (or an aggregate principal amount equal to the 
remaining balance of the available Commitments). 
 
           (b)  Each Standby Borrowing shall be comprised entirely 
of Eurodollar Loans or Base Rate Loans, as the Company may 
request pursuant to Section 2.3.  Each Bank may at its option 
make any Eurodollar Loan by causing any domestic or foreign 
branch or Affiliate of such Bank to make such Loan; provided that 
any exercise of such option shall not affect the obligation of 
the Company to repay such Loan in accordance with the terms of 
this Agreement and the applicable Note.  Borrowings of more than 
one Type may be outstanding at the same time.   
 
           (c)  Subject to Section 2.4, each Bank shall make each 
Loan to be made by it hereunder on the proposed date thereof by 
wire transfer of immediately available funds to the Agent in New 
York, New York, not later than 12:00 noon, New York City time, 
and the Agent shall by 3:00 p.m., New York City time, credit the 
amounts so received to the general deposit account of the Company 
with Chemical Bank or, if a Borrowing shall not occur on such 



date because any condition precedent herein specified shall not 
have been met, return the amounts so received to the respective 
Banks.  Subject to Section 2.4, Standby Loans shall be made by 
the Banks pro rata in accordance with Section 2.15.  Unless the 
Agent shall have received notice from a Bank prior to the date of 
any Borrowing that such Bank will not make available to the Agent 
such Bank's portion of such Borrowing, the Agent may assume that 
such Bank has made such portion available to the Agent on the 
date of such Borrowing in accordance with this paragraph (c) and 
the Agent may, in reliance upon such assumption, make available 
to the Company on such date a corresponding amount.  If and to 
the extent that such Bank shall not have made such portion 
available to the Agent, such Bank and the Company (without 
prejudice to the Company's rights against the defaulting Bank) 
severally agree to repay to the Agent forthwith on demand such 
corresponding amount together with interest thereon, for each day 
from the date such amount is made available to the Company until 
the date such amount is repaid to the Agent at (i) in the case of 
the Company, the interest rate applicable at the time to the 
Loans comprising such Borrowing and (ii) in the case of such 
Bank, the Federal Funds Effective Rate.  If such Bank shall repay 
to the Agent such corresponding amount, such amount shall 
constitute such Bank's Loan as part of such Borrowing for 
purposes of this Agreement. 
 
           (d)  Notwithstanding any other provision of this 
Agreement, the Company shall not be entitled to request any 
Borrowing if the Interest Period requested with respect thereto 
would end after the Maturity Date. 
 
           SECTION 2.3.    Standby Borrowing Procedure.  In order 
to request a Standby Borrowing, the Company shall give written or 
telex notice (or telephone notice promptly confirmed in writing 
or by telex) to the Agent in the form of Exhibit A (a) in the 
case of a Eurodollar Borrowing, not later than 10:00 a.m., New 
York City time, three Business Days before a proposed Borrowing 
and (b) in the case of a Base Rate Borrowing, not later than 
10:30 a.m., New York City time, on the day of a proposed 
Borrowing.  Such notice shall be irrevocable and shall refer to 
this Agreement and specify (i) whether the Borrowing then being 
requested in to be a Eurodollar Borrowing or a Base Rate 
Borrowing; (ii) the date of the Borrowing (which shall be a 
Business Day) and the amount thereof; (iii) if such Borrowing is 
to be a Eurodollar Borrowing, the Interest Period with respect 
thereto; and (iv) any other information required in said Exhibit 
A.  If no election as to the Type of Borrowing is specified in 
any such notice, then the requested Borrowing shall be a Base 
Rate Borrowing.  If no Interest Period with respect to any 
Eurodollar Borrowing is specified in such notice, then the 
Company shall be deemed to have selected an Interest Period of 
one month's duration.  If the Company shall not have given notice 
in accordance with this Section 2.3 of its election to refinance 
a Standby Borrowing prior to the end of the Interest Period in 
effect for such Borrowing, then the Company shall (unless such 
Borrowing is repaid at the end of such Interest Period) be deemed 
to have given notice of an election to refinance such Borrowing 
with a Base Rate Borrowing.  The Agent shall promptly advise the 
Banks of any notice given pursuant to this Section 2.3 and of 
each Bank's portion of the requested Borrowing. 
 
           SECTION 2.4.    Refinancings.  The Company may refinance 
all or any part of any Borrowing with a Borrowing of the same or 
a different Type made pursuant to Section 2.3, subject to the 
conditions and limitations set forth herein and elsewhere in this 
Agreement.  Any Borrowing or part thereof so refinanced shall be 
deemed to be repaid in accordance with Section 2.6 with the 
proceeds of a new Borrowing hereunder and the proceeds of the new 
Borrowing, to the extent they do not exceed the principal amount 
of the Borrowing being refinanced, shall not be paid by the Banks 
to the Agent or by the Agent to the Company pursuant to Section 
2.2(c); provided that (i) if the principal amount extended by a 
Bank in a refinancing is greater than the principal amount 
extended by such Bank in the Borrowing being refinanced, then 
such Bank shall pay such difference to the Agent for distribution 
to the Banks described in (ii) below, (ii) if the principal 
amount extended by a Bank in the Borrowing being refinanced is 
greater than the principal amount being extended by such Bank in 
the refinancing, the Agent shall return the difference to such 
Bank out of amounts received pursuant to (i) above, and (iii) to 
the extent any Bank fails to pay the Agent amounts due from it 
pursuant to (i) above, any Loan or portion thereof being 



refinanced shall not be deemed repaid in accordance with Section 
2.6 and shall be payable by the Company (without prejudice to the 
Company's rights against the defaulting Bank). 
 
           SECTION 2.5.    Fees.  (a) The Company agrees to pay 
each Bank, through the Agent, on each March 31, June 30, 
September 30 and December 31, commencing September 30, 1994, and 
on the date on which the Commitment of such Bank shall be 
terminated as provided herein, a facility fee (a "Facility Fee") 
equal to the Facility Fee Percentage of the daily average amount 
of the Commitment of such Lender, whether used or unused, during 
the preceding quarter (or other period commencing with the date 
of this Agreement or ending with the Maturity Date or any date on 
which the Commitment of such Bank shall be terminated).  All 
Facility Fees shall be computed on the basis of the actual number 
of days elapsed over a 360 day year.  The Facility Fee due to 
each Bank shall commence to accrue on the date of this Agreement 
and shall cease to accrue on the earlier of the Maturity Date and 
the termination of the Commitment of such Bank as provided 
herein. 
 
           (b) The Company agrees to pay to the Agent for its own 
account the fees set forth in the letter dated July 22, 1994 
between the Company and the Agent at the times and in the amounts 
set forth therein (collectively with the Facility Fee, the 
"Fees"). 
 
           (c)  All Fees shall be paid on the dates due, in 
immediately available funds, to the Agent for distribution, if 
and as appropriate, among the Banks.  Once paid, none of the Fees 
shall be refundable under any circumstances. 
 
           SECTION 2.6.    Notes; Repayment of Loans.  The Standby 
Loans made by each Bank shall be evidenced by a single Standby 
Note duly executed on behalf of the Company, dated the Closing 
Date, in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit B with 
the blanks appropriately filled, payable to the order of such 
Bank in a principal amount equal to the Commitment of such Bank.  
The outstanding principal balance of each Standby Loan, as 
evidenced by the relevant Note, shall be payable on the last day 
of the Interest Period applicable to such Loan or, if earlier, on 
the Maturity Date.  Each Note shall bear interest from the date 
thereof on the outstanding principal balance thereof as set forth 
in Section 2.7.  Each Bank shall, and is hereby authorized by the 
Company to, endorse on the schedule attached to the relevant Note 
held by such Bank (or on a continuation of such schedule attached 
to each such Note and made a part thereof), or otherwise to 
record in such Bank's internal records, an appropriate, notation 
evidencing the date and amount of the disbursement of each 
Standby Loan of such Bank, each payment or prepayment of 
principal of any Standby Loan, and the other information provided 
for on such schedule; provided that the failure of any Bank to 
make such a notation or any error therein shall not in any manner 
affect the obligation of the Company to repay the Standby Loans 
made by such Bank or interest thereon in accordance with the 
terms of this Agreement or the relevant Note. 
 
           SECTION 2.7.  Interest on Loans.  (a)  Subject to the 
provisions of Sections 2.8, 2.13 and 9.9, the Loans comprising 
each Eurodollar Borrowing shall bear interest (computed on the 
basis of the actual number of days elapsed over a year of 360 
days) at a rate per annum equal to the Adjusted LIBO Rate for the 
Interest Period in effect for such Borrowing plus the Applicable 
Spread in effect at such time. 
 
           (b)  Subject to the provisions of Sections 2.8, 2.13 
and 9.9, the Loans comprising each Base Rate Borrowing shall bear 
interest (computed on the basis of the actual number of days 
elapsed over a year of 365 or 366 days, as the case may be) at a 
rate per annum equal to the Base Rate. 
 
           (c)  Interest on each Loan shall be payable on the 
Interest Payment Dates applicable to such Loan except as 
otherwise provided in this Agreement, on the Maturity Date and on 
any other date on which such Loan shall be paid in full.  The 
applicable Adjusted LIBO Rate or Base Rate for each Interest 
Period or day within an Interest Period, as the case may be, 
shall be determined by the Agent, and such determination shall be 
conclusive absent manifest error. 
 
           SECTION 2.8.  Default Interest.  If the Company shall 



default in the payment of the principal of or interest on any 
Loan or any other amount becoming due hereunder or under the 
Notes, by acceleration or otherwise, the Company shall on demand 
from time to time pay interest, to the extent permitted by law, 
on such defaulted amount up to (but not including) the date of 
actual payment (after as well as before judgment) at a rate per 
annum (computed on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed 
over a year of 360 days) equal to the Base Rate in effect from 
time to time plus 2%. 
 
           SECTION 2.9.    Alternate Rate of Interest.  In the 
event, and on each occasion, that on the day two Business Days 
prior to the commencement of any Interest Period for a Eurodollar 
Borrowing the Agent shall have determined that dollar deposits in 
the principal amounts of the Loans comprising such Borrowing are 
not generally available in the London interbank market, or that 
the rates at which such dollar deposits are being offered will 
not adequately and fairly reflect the cost to any Bank, in such 
Bank's reasonable judgment, of making or maintaining its 
Eurodollar Loan during such Interest Period, or that reasonable 
means do not exist for ascertaining the LIBO Rate, the Agent 
shall, as soon as practicable thereafter, give written or telex 
notice of such determination to the Company and the Banks.  In 
the event of any such determination, until the Agent shall have 
advised the Company and the Banks that the circumstances giving 
rise to such notice no longer exist, any request by the Company 
for a Eurodollar Borrowing pursuant to Section 2.3 shall be 
deemed to be a request for a Base Rate Borrowing.  Each 
determination by the Agent hereunder shall be conclusive absent 
manifest error. 
 
           SECTION 2.10.   Termination, Reduction and Extension of 
Commitments.  (a) The Commitments shall be automatically 
terminated on the Maturity Date. 
 
           (b)  Upon at least three Business Days' prior 
irrevocable written or telex notice to the Agent, the Company may 
at any time in whole permanently terminate, or from time to time 
permanently reduce, the Commitments; provided that each partial 
reduction of the Commitments shall be in an integral multiple of 
$1,000,000 and in a minimum principal amount of $10,000,000. 
 
           (c)  Each reduction in the Commitments hereunder shall 
be made ratably among the Banks in accordance with their 
respective applicable Commitments.  The Company shall pay to the 
Agent for the account of the Banks, on the date of each 
termination or reduction, the Facility Fees on the amount of the 
Commitments so terminated or reduced accrued through the date of 
such termination or reduction. 
 
           (d)  Not later than the date 45 days prior to (i) the 
first anniversary of the date hereof or (ii) any anniversary of 
the date hereof during the 45 days prior to which the Commitments 
shall have been extended as provided in this paragraph (d), the 
Company may deliver to the Agent (which shall promptly transmit 
to each Bank) a notice requesting that the Commitments be 
extended to the first anniversary of the Maturity Date at the 
time in effect.  Within 30 days after its receipt of any such 
notice, each Bank shall notify the Agent of its willingness or 
unwillingness so to extend its Commitment.  In the event that 
each Bank shall be willing to extend its Commitment, the Agent 
shall so notify the Company and each Bank and the Maturity Date 
shall without further act be extended to the first anniversary of 
the date which shall theretofore have been the Maturity Date.  In 
any other event, no such extension shall be effected. 
 
           SECTION 2.11.   Prepayment.  (a) The Company shall have 
the right at any time and from time to time to prepay any Standby 
Borrowing, in whole or in part, upon at least three Business 
Days' prior written or telex notice (or telephone notice promptly 
confirmed by written or telex notice) to the Agent; provided that 
(i) each partial prepayment shall be in an amount which is an 
integral multiple of $1,000,000 and not less than $5,000,000 and 
(ii) partial prepayments shall be applied to the Loans of all the 
Banks pro rata in accordance with the outstanding principal 
amounts thereof. 
 
           (b)  On the date of any termination or reduction of the 
Commitments pursuant to Section 2.10, the Company shall pay or 
prepay so much of the Standby Borrowings as shall be necessary in 
order that the aggregate principal amount of the Loans 



outstanding will not exceed the aggregate Commitments after 
giving effect to such termination or reduction. 
 
           (c)  Each notice of prepayment pursuant to Section 
2.11(a) shall specify the prepayment date and the principal 
amount of each Borrowing (or portion thereof) to be prepaid, 
shall be irrevocable and shall commit the Company to prepay such 
Borrowing by the amount stated therein on the date stated 
therein.  All prepayments under this Section 2.11 shall be 
subject to Section 2.14 but otherwise without premium or penalty.  
All prepayments under this Section 2.11 shall be accompanied by 
accrued interest on the principal amount being prepaid to the 
date of payment. 
 
           SECTION 2.12.   Reserve Requirements; Change in Cir- 
cumstances.  (a)  Notwithstanding any other provision herein, if 
after the date of this Agreement any change in applicable law or 
regulation or in the interpretation or administration thereof by 
any governmental authority charged with the interpretation or 
administration thereof (whether or not having the force of law) 
shall change the basis of taxation of payments to any Bank of the 
principal of or interest on any Eurodollar Loan made by such Bank 
or fees or other amounts payable hereunder (other than changes in 
respect of taxes imposed on the overall net income of such Bank 
by the jurisdiction in which such Bank has its principal office 
or by any political subdivision or taxing authority therein), 
shall impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve, special 
deposit or similar requirement against assets of, deposits with 
or for the account of or credit extended by, such Bank, or shall 
impose on such Bank or the London interbank market any other 
condition affecting this Agreement or any Eurodollar Loan made by 
such Bank, and the result of any of the foregoing shall be to 
increase the cost to such Bank of making or maintaining any 
Eurodollar Loan or to reduce the amount of any sum received or 
receivable by such Bank hereunder (whether of principal, interest 
or otherwise) by an amount deemed by such Bank to be material, 
then the Company shall pay to such Bank upon demand such 
additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Bank for 
such additional cost incurred or reduction suffered. 
 
           (b)  If any Bank shall have determined that the 
applicability of any law, rule, regulation or guideline adopted 
pursuant to or arising out of the July 1988 report of the Basel 
Committee on Banking Regulations and Supervisory Practices 
entitled "International Convergence of Capital Measurement and 
Capital Standards", or the adoption after the date hereof of any 
other law, rule, regulation or guideline regarding capital 
adequacy, or any change in any of the foregoing or in the 
interpretation or administration of any of the foregoing by any 
governmental authority, central bank or comparable agency charged 
with the interpretation or administration thereof, or compliance 
by any Bank (or any lending office of such Bank) or any Bank's 
holding company with any request or directive regarding capital 
adequacy (whether or not having the force of law) of any such 
authority, central bank or comparable agency, has or would have 
the effect of reducing the rate of return on such Bank's capital 
or on the capital of such Bank's holding company, if any, as a 
consequence of this Agreement or the Loans made by such Bank 
pursuant hereto to a level below that which such Bank or such 
Bank's holding company could have achieved but for such adoption, 
change or compliance (taking into consideration such Bank's 
policies and the policies of such Bank's holding company with 
respect to capital adequacy) by an amount deemed by such Bank to 
be material, then from time to time the Company shall pay to such 
Bank such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such 
Bank or such Bank's holding company for any such reduction 
suffered. 
 
           (c)  A certificate of a Bank setting forth such amount 
or amounts as shall be necessary to compensate such Bank (or 
participating banks or other entities pursuant to Section 9.4) as 
specified in paragraph (a) or (b) above, as the case may be, 
shall be delivered to the Company and shall be conclusive absent 
manifest error.  The Company shall pay each Bank the amount shown 
as due on any such certificate delivered by it within 10 days 
after its receipt of the same. 
 
           (d)  Failure on the part of any Bank to demand com- 
pensation for any increased costs or reduction in amounts 
received or receivable or reduction in return on capital with 
respect to any period shall not constitute a waiver of such 



Bank's right with respect to such period or any other period.  
The protection of this Section shall be available to each Bank 
regardless of any possible contention of invalidity or inap- 
plicability of the law, rule, regulation, guideline or other 
change or condition which shall have been imposed. 
 
           SECTION 2.13.   Change in Legality.  (a) Notwithstanding 
any other provision herein, if any change in any law or 
regulation or in the interpretation thereof by any Governmental 
Authority charged with the administration or interpretation 
thereof shall make it unlawful for any Bank to make or maintain 
any Eurodollar Loan or to give effect to its obligations as 
contemplated hereby with respect to any Eurodollar Loan, then, by 
written notice to the Company and to the Agent, such Bank may: 
 
        (i)declare that Eurodollar Loans will not thereafter be made  
  by such Bank hereunder, whereupon any request by the Company for a 
  Eurodollar Borrowing shall, as to such Bank only, be deemed a 
  request for a Base Rate Loan unless such declaration shall be 
  subsequently withdrawn; and  
 
        (ii)require that all outstanding Eurodollar Loans made 
  by it be converted to Base Rate Loans, in which event all  
  such Eurodollar Loans shall be automatically converted to  
  Base Rate Loans as of the effective date of such notice as  
  provided in paragraph (b) below. 
 
In the event any Bank shall exercise its rights under (i) or (ii) 
above, all payments and prepayments of principal which would 
otherwise have been applied to repay the Eurodollar Loans that 
would have been made by such Bank or other converted Eurodollar 
Loans of such Bank shall instead be applied to repay the Base 
Rate Loans made by such Bank in lieu of, or resulting from the 
conversion of, such Eurodollar Loans. 
 
        (b)   For purposes of this Section 2.13, a notice to the 
Company by any Bank shall be effective as to each Eurodollar 
Loan, if lawful, on the last day of the Interest Period currently 
applicable to such Eurodollar Loan; in all other cases such 
notice shall be effective on the date of receipt by the Company. 
 
        SECTION 2.14.    Indemnity.  The Company shall indemnify 
each Bank against any loss or expense which such Bank may sustain 
or incur as a consequence of (a) any failure by the Company to 
fulfill on the date of any Borrowing hereunder the applicable 
conditions set forth in Article IV, (b) any failure by the 
Company to borrow or to refinance or continue any Loan hereunder 
after irrevocable notice of such borrowing, refinancing or 
continuation has been given pursuant to Section 2.3, (c) any 
payment, prepayment or conversion of a Eurodollar Loan required 
by any other provision of this Agreement or otherwise made or 
deemed made on a date other than the last day of the Interest 
Period applicable thereto, (d) any default in payment or 
prepayment of the principal amount of any Loan or any part 
thereof or interest accrued thereon, as and when due and payable 
(at the due date thereof, by irrevocable notice of prepayment or 
otherwise) or (e) the occurrence of any Event of Default, 
including, in each such case, any loss or reasonable expense 
sustained or incurred or to be sustained or incurred in 
liquidating or employing deposits from third parties acquired to 
effect or maintain such Loan or any part thereof as a Eurodollar 
Loan.  Such loss or reasonable expense shall include, without 
limitation, an amount equal to the excess, if any, as reasonably 
determined by such Bank, of (i) its cost of obtaining the funds 
for the Loan being paid, prepaid, converted or not borrowed 
(based on the Adjusted LIBO Rate applicable thereto) for the 
period from the date of such payment, prepayment, conversion or 
failure to borrow to the last day of the Interest Period for such 
Loan (or, in the case of a failure to borrow, the Interest Period 
for such Loan which would have commenced on the date of such 
failure) over (ii) the amount of interest (as reasonably 
determined by such Bank) that would be realized by such Bank in 
reemploying the funds so paid, prepaid, converted or not borrowed 
for such period or Interest Period, as the case may be.  A 
certificate of any Bank setting forth any amount or amounts which 
such Bank is entitled to receive pursuant to this Section shall 
be delivered to the Company and shall be conclusive absent 
manifest error. 
 
        SECTION 2.15.    Pro Rata Treatment.  Except as required 
under Sections 2.12 and 2.13, each Standby Borrowing, each pay- 



ment or prepayment of principal of any Standby Borrowing, each 
payment of interest on the Standby Loans, each payment of the 
Facility Fees, each reduction of the Commitments and each 
refinancing of any Borrowing with a Standby Borrowing or any 
Type, shall be allocated pro rata among the Banks in accordance 
with their respective Commitments (or, if such Commitments shall 
have expired or been terminated, in accordance with the re- 
spective principal amounts of their outstanding Standby Loans).  
Each Bank agrees that in computing such Bank's portion of any 
Borrowing to be made hereunder, the Agent may, in its discretion, 
round each Bank's percentage of such Borrowing to the next higher 
or lower whole dollar amount. 
 
        SECTION 2.16.    Sharing of Setoffs.  Each Bank agrees that 
if it shall, through the exercise of a right of banker's lien, 
setoff or counterclaim against the Company, or pursuant to a 
secured claim under Section 506 of Title 11 of the United States 
Code or other security or interest arising from, or in lieu of, 
such secured claim, received by such Bank under any applicable 
bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law or otherwise, or by 
any other means, obtain payment (voluntary or involuntary) in 
respect of any Loan or Loans as a result of which the unpaid 
principal portion of its Loans shall be proportionately less than 
the unpaid principal portion of the Loans of any other Bank, it 
shall promptly purchase from such other Bank at face value a 
participation in the Loans of such other Bank, so that the 
aggregate unpaid principal amount of the Loans and participations 
in the Loans held by each Bank shall be in the same proportion to 
the aggregate unpaid principal amount of all Loans then 
outstanding as the principal amount of its Loans prior to such 
exercise of banker's lien, setoff or counterclaim or other event 
was to the principal amount of all Loans outstanding prior to 
such exercise of banker's lien, setoff or counterclaim or other 
event; provided that, if any such purchase or purchases or 
adjustments shall be made pursuant to this Section and the 
payment giving rise thereto shall thereafter be recovered, such 
purchase or purchases or adjustments shall be rescinded to the 
extent of such recovery and the purchase price or prices or 
adjustment restored without interest.  The Company expressly 
consents to the foregoing arrangements and agrees that any Bank 
holding a participation in any Loan deemed to have been so 
purchased may exercise any and all rights of banker's lien, 
setoff or counterclaim with respect to any and all moneys owing 
by the Company to such Bank by reason thereof as fully as if such 
Bank had made a Loan directly to the Company in the amount of 
such participation. 
 
        SECTION 2.17.    Payments.  (a) The Company shall make each 
payment (including principal of or interest on any Loan or any 
Fees or other amounts) hereunder and under any other Loan 
Document not later than 12:00 noon, New York City time, on the 
date when due in dollars and in immediately available funds, to 
the Agent at its account no. 04203606 at Bankers Trust Company, 
New York, New York, ABA #021001033 attention:  Loan Operations; 
reference: Tredegar Industries, Inc., or at such other place or 
in such other manner as the Agent may notify the Company from 
time to time, without set-off, counterclaim or deduction of any 
kind. 
 
        (b)   Whenever any payment (including principal of or 
interest on any Loans or any Fees or other amounts) hereunder or 
under any other Loan Document shall become due, or otherwise 
would occur, on a day that is not a Business Day, such payment 
may be made on the next succeeding Business Day, and such 
extension of time shall in such case be included in the 
computation of interest or Fees, if applicable. 
 
        SECTION 2.18.    Taxes.  DQT Any and all payments by the 
Company hereunder shall be made, in accordance with Section 2.17, 
free and clear of and without deduction for any and all present 
or future taxes, levies, imposts, deductions, charges or 
withholdings, and all liabilities with respect thereto, excluding 
taxes imposed on the Agent's or any Bank's income, and franchise 
taxes imposed on the Agent or any Bank, by the United States or 
any jurisdiction under the laws of which it is organized or any 
political subdivision thereof (all such nonexcluded taxes, 
levies, imposts, deductions, charges, withholdings and 
liabilities being hereinafter referred to as "Taxes").  If the 
Company shall be required by law to deduct any Taxes from or in 
respect of any sum payable hereunder to the Banks or the Agent 
(i) the sum payable shall be increased by the amount necessary so 



that after making all required deductions (including deductions 
applicable to additional sums payable under this Section 2.18) 
such Bank or the Agent (as the case may be) shall receive an 
amount equal to the sum it would have received had no such 
deductions been made, (ii) the Company shall make such deductions 
and (iii) the Company shall pay the full amount deducted to the 
relevant taxing authority or other Governmental Authority in 
accordance with applicable law. 
 
        (b)   In addition, the Company agrees to pay any present 
or future stamp or documentary taxes or any other excise or 
property taxes, charges or similar levies which arise from any 
payment made hereunder or from the execution, delivery or 
registration of, or otherwise with respect to, this Agreement or 
any other Loan Document (hereinafter referred to as "Other 
Taxes"). 
 
        (c)   The Company will indemnify each Bank and the Agent 
for the full amount of Taxes and Other Taxes (including any Taxes 
or Other Taxes imposed by any jurisdiction on amounts payable 
under this Section 2.18) paid by such Bank or the Agent, as the 
case may be, and any liability (including penalties, interest and 
expenses) arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or 
not such Taxes or Other Taxes were correctly or legally asserted 
by the relevant taxing authority or other Governmental Authority.  
Such indemnification shall be made within 30 days after the date 
any Bank or the Agent, as the case may be, makes written demand 
therefor.  If a Bank or the Agent shall become aware that it is 
entitled to receive a refund in respect of Taxes or Other Taxes, 
it shall promptly notify the Company of the availability of such 
refund and shall, within 30 days after receipt of a request by 
the Company, apply for such refund at the Company's expense.  If 
any Bank or the Agent receives a refund in respect of any Taxes 
or Other Taxes for which such Bank or the Agent has received 
payment from the Company hereunder it shall promptly notify the 
Company of such refund and shall, within 30 days after receipt of 
a request by the Company (or promptly upon receipt, if the 
Company has requested application for such refund pursuant 
hereto), repay such refund to the Company without interest; 
provided that the Company, upon the request of such Bank or the 
Agent, agrees to return such refund (plus penalties, interest or 
other charges) to such Bank or the Agent in the event such Bank 
or the Agent is required to repay such refund. 
 
        (d)   Within 30 days after the date of any payment of 
Taxes or Other Taxes withheld by the Company in respect of any 
payment to any Bank or the Agent, the Company will furnish to the 
Agent, at its address referred to in Schedule 2.1, the original 
or a certified copy of a receipt evidencing payment thereof. 
 
        (e)   Without prejudice to the survival of any other 
agreement contained herein, the agreements and obligations 
contained in this Section 2.18 shall survive the payment in full 
of the principal of and interest on all Loans made hereunder. 
 
        (f)   Each Bank which is organized outside the United 
States shall promptly notify the Company of any change in its 
funding office and upon written request of the Company shall, 
prior to the immediately following due date of any payment by the 
Company hereunder, deliver to the Company such certificates, 
documents or other evidence, as required by the Code or Treasury 
Regulations issued pursuant thereto, including Internal Revenue 
Service Form 4224 and any other certificate or statement of 
exemption required by Treasury Regulation Section 1.1441-1(a) or 
Section 1.1441-6(c) or any subsequent version thereof, properly 
completed and duly executed by such Bank establishing that such 
payment is (i) not subject to withholding under the Code because 
such payment is effectively connected with the conduct by such 
Bank of a trade or business in the United States or (ii) totally 
exempt (or payable at a reduced rate of withholding) from United 
States tax under a provision of an applicable tax treaty.  Unless 
the Company and the Agent have received forms or other documents 
satisfactory to them indicating that payments hereunder or under 
the Notes are not subject to United States withholding tax or are 
subject to such tax at a rate reduced by an applicable tax trea- 
ty, the Company or the Agent shall withhold taxes from such 
payments at the applicable statutory rate in the case of payments 
to or for any Bank or assignee organized under the laws of a 
jurisdiction outside the United States. 
 
        (g)   Any Bank claiming any additional amounts payable 



pursuant to this Section 2.18 shall use reasonable efforts 
(consistent with legal and regulatory restrictions) to file any 
certificate or document requested by the Company or to change the 
jurisdiction of its applicable lending office if the making of 
such a filing or change would avoid the need for or reduce the 
amount of any such additional amounts which may thereafter accrue 
and would not, in the sole determination of such Bank, be 
otherwise disadvantageous to such Bank. 
 
 
III.    REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 
 
        The Company represents and warrants to each of the Banks 
that: 
 
        SECTION 3.1.     Organization; Powers.  Each of the Company 
and the Subsidiaries (a) is a corporation duly organized, validly 
existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction 
of its organization, (b) has all requisite power and authority to 
own its property and assets and to carry on its business as now 
conducted and as proposed to be conducted, (c) is qualified to do 
business in every jurisdiction where such qualification is 
required, except where the failure so to qualify would not result 
in a Material Adverse Effect, and (d) in the case of the Company, 
has the corporate power and authority to execute, deliver and 
perform its obligations under each of the Loan Documents and each 
other agreement or instrument contemplated thereby to which it is 
or will be a party and to borrow hereunder. 
 
        SECTION 3.2.     Authorization.  The execution, delivery 
and performance by the Company of each of the Loan Documents and 
the actions taken by the Company in connection with the 
borrowings hereunder (a) have been duly authorized by all 
requisite corporate and, if required, stockholder action and (b) 
will not (i) violate (A) any provision of law, statute, rule or 
regulation, or of the certificate or articles of incorporation or 
other constitutive documents or by-laws of the Company or any 
Subsidiary, (B) any order of any Governmental Authority 
applicable to the Company or (C) any provision of any indenture, 
agreement or other instrument to which the Company or any 
Subsidiary is a party or by which any of them or any of their 
property is or may be bound, (ii) be in conflict with, result in 
a breach of or constitute (alone or with notice or lapse of time 
or both) a default under any such indenture, agreement or other 
instrument or (iii) result in the creation or imposition of any 
Lien upon any property or assets of the Company or any Subsidiary 
except Liens set forth on Schedule 6.1. 
 
        SECTION 3.3.     Enforceability.  This Agreement has been 
duly executed and delivered by the Company and constitutes, and 
each other Loan Document when executed and delivered by the 
Company will constitute, a legal, valid and binding obligation of 
the Company enforceable against the Company in accordance with 
its terms. 
 
        SECTION 3.4.     Financial Statements.  The Company has 
heretofore furnished to the Banks (a) consolidated balance sheets 
and statements of income and changes in stockholders' equity and 
cash flows as of and for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1993, 
audited by and accompanied by the opinion of Coopers & Lybrand, 
independent public accountants, and (b) its consolidated balance 
sheets and statements of income and consolidated statement of 
cash flows as of and for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 1994, 
certified by the its chief financial officer.  Such financial 
statements present fairly the financial condition and results of 
operations of the Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries as of 
such dates and for such periods.  Such balance sheets and the 
notes thereto disclose all material liabilities, direct or 
contingent, of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of the dates 
thereof.  Such financial statements were prepared in accordance 
with GAAP applied on a consistent basis. 
 
        SECTION 3.5.     No Material Adverse Change.  There has 
been no material adverse change in the business, assets, 
operations, prospects or condition, financial or otherwise, of 
the Company and the Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, since March 
31, 1994. 
 
        SECTION 3.6.     Title to Properties and Possession Under 
Leases.  (a) Each of the Company and the Subsidiaries has, on the 
Closing Date and at all times thereafter, good and marketable 



title to, or valid leasehold interests in, all its material 
properties and assets, except for minor defects in title that do 
not interfere with its ability to conduct its business as 
currently conducted or to utilize such properties and assets for 
their intended purposes and except for Liens permitted by Section 
6.1.  All such material properties and assets are free and clear 
of Liens, other than Liens expressly permitted by Section 6.1. 
 
        (b)   Each of the Company and the Subsidiaries (or their 
respective predecessors) has complied with all obligations under 
all material leases to which it is a party and all such leases 
are in full force and effect.  Each of the Company and the 
Subsidiaries enjoys peaceful and undisturbed possession under all 
such material leases. 
 
        SECTION 3.7.     The Subsidiaries and the Company.  Sched- 
ule 3.7 sets forth as of the Closing Date a list of all 
Subsidiaries and the percentage ownership interest of the Company 
therein. 
 
        SECTION 3.8.     Litigation; Compliance with Laws.  (a) 
Except as set forth in Schedule 3.8, there are not any actions, 
suits or proceedings at law or in equity or by or before any 
Governmental Authority now pending or, to the knowledge of the 
Company, threatened against or affecting the Company or any 
Subsidiary or any business, property or rights of any such person 
(i) which involve any Loan Document or (ii) as to which there is 
a reasonable possibility of an adverse determination and which, 
if adversely determined, could, individually or in the aggregate, 
result in a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
        (b)   Neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries is 
in violation of any law, rule or regulation, or in default with 
respect to any judgment, writ, injunction or decree of any 
Governmental Authority, where such violation or default could 
result in a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
        SECTION 3.9.     Agreements.  (a) Neither the Company nor 
any of the Subsidiaries is a party to any agreement or instrument 
or subject to any corporate restriction that has resulted or, in 
the absence of a material default by the Company or such 
Subsidiary, could result in a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
        (b)   Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is 
in default in any manner under any provision of any indenture or 
other agreement or instrument evidencing Indebtedness, or any 
other material agreement or instrument to which it is a party or 
by which it or any of its properties or assets are or may be 
bound, where such default could result in a Material Adverse 
Effect. 
 
        SECTION 3.10.    Federal Reserve Regulations. (a) Neither 
the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries is engaged principally, 
or as one of its important activities, in the business of 
extending credit for the purpose of purchasing or carrying Margin 
Stock. 
 
        (b)   No part of the proceeds of any Loan will be used, 
whether directly or indirectly, and whether immediately, 
incidentally or ultimately, for any purpose which entails a 
violation of, or which is inconsistent with, the provisions of 
the Regulations of the Board, including Regulation G, U or X. 
 
        SECTION 3.11.    Investment Company Act; Public Utility 
Holding Company Act.  Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary is 
(a) an "investment company" as defined in, or subject to 
regulation under, the Investment Company Act of 1940 or (b) a 
"holding company" as defined in, or subject to regulation under, 
the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935. 
 
        SECTION 3.12.    Use of Proceeds.  The Company will use the 
proceeds of the Loans only for the purposes specified in the 
preamble to this Agreement. 
 
        SECTION 3.13.    Tax Returns.  Each of the Company and the 
Subsidiaries has filed or caused to be filed all Federal, state 
and local tax returns required to have been filed by it and has 
paid or caused to be paid all taxes shown to be due and payable 
on such returns or on any assessments received by it, except 
taxes that are being contested in accordance with Section 5.3. 
 



        SECTION 3.14.    No Material Misstatements.  No infor- 
mation, report, financial statement, exhibit or schedule fur- 
nished by or on behalf of the Company to the Agent or any Bank in 
connection with the negotiation of any Loan Document or included 
therein or delivered pursuant thereto contained or contains or, 
when delivered, will contain any material misstatement of fact or 
omitted or omits or, when delivered, will omit to state any 
material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the 
light of the circumstances under which they were or are or, when 
delivered, will be made, not misleading. 
 
        SECTION 3.15.    Employee Benefit Plans.  Each of the 
Company and its ERISA Affiliates is in compliance in all material 
respects with the applicable provisions of ERISA and the 
regulations and published interpretations thereunder.  No 
Reportable Event has occurred as to which the Company or any 
ERISA Affiliate was required to file a report with the PBGC, and 
the present value of all benefit liabilities under each Plan 
(based on those assumptions used to fund such Plan) did not, as 
of the last annual valuation date applicable thereto, exceed by 
more than $1,000,000 the value of the assets of such Plan.  
Neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate has incurred any 
Withdrawal Liability that could result in a Material Adverse 
Effect.  Neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate has received 
any notification that any Multiemployer Plan is in reorganization 
or has been terminated within the meaning of Title IV of ERISA, 
and no Multiemployer Plan is reasonably expected to be in 
reorganization or to be terminated where such reorganization or 
termination has resulted or could reasonably be expected to 
result, through increases in the contributions required to be 
made to such Plan or otherwise, in a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
        SECTION 3.16.    Environmental Matters.  Each of the 
Company and the Subsidiaries, and each of their respective 
businesses, has complied in all material respects with all 
Federal, state, local and other statutes, ordinances, orders, 
judgments, rulings and regulations relating to environmental 
pollution or to environmental regulation or control.  Neither the 
Company nor any Subsidiary has received notice of any failure so 
to comply which alone or together with any other such failure 
could result in a Material Adverse Effect.  The Company's and the 
Subsidiaries' plants do not manage any hazardous wastes, 
hazardous substances, hazardous materials, toxic substances or 
toxic pollutants, as those terms are used in the Resource 
Conservation and Recovery Act, the Comprehensive Environmental 
Response Compensation and Liability Act, the Hazardous Materials 
Transportation Act, the Toxic Substance Control Act, the Clean 
Air Act or the Clean Water Act, in violation of any regulations 
promulgated pursuant thereto or in any other applicable law where 
such violation could result, individually or together with other 
violations, in a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
        SECTION 3.17.    Solvency.  On the date hereof and on the 
date of each Borrowing hereunder after giving effect to each Loan 
to be made and the use of the proceeds thereof, (a) the fair 
salable value of the assets of the Company will exceed the amount 
that will be required to be paid on or in respect of the existing 
debts and other liabilities (including contingent liabilities) of 
the Company as they mature; (b) the assets of the Company will 
not constitute unreasonably small capital to carry out its 
business as conducted or as proposed to be conducted; and (c) the 
Company will not intend to, and will not believe that it will, 
incur debts beyond its ability to pay such debts as they mature 
(taking into account the timing and amounts of cash to be 
received by it and the amounts to be payable on or in respect of 
its obligations). 
 
 
IV.     CONDITIONS OF LENDING 
 
        SECTION 4.1.     All Borrowings.  The obligations of the 
Banks to make Loans hereunder on the date of each Borrowing 
hereunder, including each Borrowing in which Loans are refinanced 
with new Loans as contemplated by Section 2.4, shall be subject 
to satisfaction of the following conditions precedent: 
 
        (a)   The Agent shall have received a notice of such 
  Borrowing as required by Section 2.3. 
 
        (b)   The representations and warranties set forth in 
  Article III (excluding, in the case of a refinancing of a 



  Standby Borrowing with a new Standby Borrowing that does not 
  increase the aggregate principal amount of the Loans of any 
  Bank outstanding, the representations set forth in Sections 
  3.5 and 3.8(a)) shall be true and correct in all material 
  respects on and as of the date of such Borrowing with the same 
  effect as if made on and as of such date, except to the extent 
  that such representations and warranties expressly relate to 
  an earlier date. 
 
        (c)   The Company shall be in compliance with all the 
  terms and provisions set forth herein on its part to be 
  observed or performed, and at the time of and immediately 
  after such Borrowing no Event of Default or Default shall have 
  occurred and be continuing. 
 
        (d)   Each Bank that shall not have previously received an 
  appropriate Note shall have received a duly executed Standby 
  Note payable to its order and otherwise complying with the 
  provisions of Section 2.6. 
 
Each Borrowing shall be deemed to constitute a representation and 
warranty by the Company on the date of such Borrowing as to the 
matters specified in paragraphs (b) and (c) of this Section 4.1. 
 
        SECTION 4.2.     Effectiveness of Agreement.  The 
obligations of the Banks to make Loans hereunder shall be subject 
to satisfaction on the Closing Date of the following additional 
conditions precedent: 
 
        (a)   Each Bank shall have received a duly executed 
  Standby Note complying with the provisions of Section 2.6. 
 
        (b)   The Agent shall have received a favorable written 
  opinion of Nancy M. Taylor, counsel for the Company, dated the 
  Closing Date and addressed to the Banks, to the effect set 
  forth in Exhibit E hereto. 
 
        (d)   All legal matters incident to this Agreement and the 
  borrowings hereunder shall be satisfactory to the Banks and 
  their counsel and to Christy & Viener, special New York 
  counsel for the Agent. 
 
        (e)   The Agent shall have received (i) a copy of the 
  certificate or articles of incorporation, including all 
  amendments thereto, of the Company, certified as of a recent 
  date by the Secretary of State of the state of its 
  organization, and a certificate as to the good standing of the 
  Company as of a recent date, from such Secretary of State; 
  (ii) a certificate of the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of 
  the Company dated the Closing Date and certifying (A) that 
  attached thereto is a true and complete copy of the by-laws of 
  the Company as in effect on the Closing Date and at all times 
  since a date prior to the date of the resolutions described in 
  clause (B) below, (B) that attached thereto is a true and 
  complete copy of resolutions duly adopted by the Board of 
  Directors of the Company authorizing the execution, delivery 
  and performance of the Loan Documents and the borrowings 
  hereunder, and that such resolutions have not been modified, 
  rescinded or amended and are in full force and effect, (C) 
  that the certificate or articles of incorporation of the 
  Company have not been amended since the date of the last 
  amendment thereto shown on the certificate of good standing 
  furnished pursuant to clause (i) above, and (D) as to the 
  incumbency and specimen signature of each officer executing 
  any Loan Document or any other document delivered in 
  connection herewith on behalf of the Company; (iii) a 
  certificate of another officer as to the incumbency and 
  specimen signature of the Secretary or Assistant Secretary 
  executing the certificate pursuant to (ii) above; and (iv) 
  such other documents as the Banks or their counsel or Christy 
  & Viener, special New York counsel for the Agent, may 
  reasonably request. 
 
        (f)   The Agent shall have received a certificate, dated 
  the Closing Date and signed by a Financial Officer of the 
  Company, confirming compliance with the conditions precedent 
  set forth in paragraphs (b) and (c) of Section 4.1. 
 
        (g)   All principal of all loans, interest accrued thereon 
  to the date of repayment and all other amounts outstanding 
  under the Loan Agreement, dated as of June 8, 1992, as 



  amended, among the Company, the banks named therein and LTCB 
  Trust as agent for such banks shall have been repaid in full. 
 
 
V.      AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS 
 
        The Company covenants and agrees with each Bank and the 
Agent that so long as this Agreement shall remain in effect or 
the principal of or interest on any Loan, any Fees or any other 
expenses or amounts payable under any Loan Document shall be 
unpaid, unless the Required Banks shall otherwise consent in 
writing, the Company will, and will cause each of the 
Subsidiaries to: 
 
        SECTION 5.1.     Existence; Businesses and Properties; 
Compliance.   (a) Do or cause to be done all things necessary to 
preserve, renew and keep in full force and effect its legal 
existence, except as otherwise expressly permitted under Section 
6.4. 
 
        (b)   Do or cause to be done all things necessary to 
obtain, preserve, renew, extend and keep in full force and effect 
the rights, licenses, permits, franchises, authorizations, 
patents, copyrights, trademarks and trade names material to the 
conduct of its business; maintain and operate such business in 
substantially the manner in which it is presently conducted and 
operated; comply in all material respects with all applicable 
laws, rules, regulations and orders of any Governmental 
Authority, whether now in effect or hereafter enacted; and at all 
times maintain and preserve all property material to the conduct 
of such business and keep such property in good repair, working 
order and condition and from time to time make, or cause to be 
made, all needful and proper repairs, renewals, additions, 
improvements and replacements thereto necessary in order that the 
business carried on in connection therewith may be properly 
conducted at all times. 
 
        SECTION 5.2.     Insurance.  Keep its insurable properties 
adequately insured at all times by financially sound and 
reputable insurers; maintain such other insurance, to such extent 
and against such risks, including fire and other risks insured 
against by extended coverage, as is customary with companies in 
the same or similar businesses, including public liability 
insurance against claims for personal injury or death or property 
damage occurring upon, in, about or in connection with the use of 
any properties owned, occupied or controlled by it; and maintain 
such other insurance as may be required by law. 
 
        SECTION 5.3.     Obligations and Taxes.  Pay its In- 
debtedness and other obligations promptly and in accordance with 
their terms and pay and discharge promptly all taxes, assessments 
and governmental charges or levies imposed upon it or upon its 
income or profits or in respect of its property, before the same 
shall become delinquent or in default, as well as all lawful 
claims for labor, materials and supplies or otherwise which, if 
unpaid, might give rise to a Lien upon such properties or any 
part thereof; provided that such payment and discharge shall not 
be required with respect to any such tax, assessment, charge, 
levy or claim so long as the validity or amount thereof shall be 
contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and the 
Company shall have set aside on its books adequate reserves with 
respect thereto. 
 
        SECTION 5.4.     Financial Statements, Reports, etc.  In 
the case of the Company, furnish to the Agent and each Bank: 
 
        (a)   within 90 days after the end of each fiscal year, 
  its consolidated balance sheets and related statements of 
  income and cash flows, showing the financial condition of the 
  Company and its consolidated subsidiaries as of the close of 
  such fiscal year and the results of its operations and the 
  operations of such subsidiaries during such year, all audited 
  by Coopers & Lybrand or other independent public accountants 
  of recognized national standing acceptable to the Required 
  Banks and accompanied by an opinion of such accountants (which 
  shall not be qualified in any material respect) to the effect 
  that such consolidated financial statements fairly present the 
  financial condition and results of operations of the Company 
  on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP; 
 
        (b)   within 45 days after the end of each of the first 



  three fiscal quarters of each fiscal year, its consolidated 
  balance sheets and related statements of income and cash 
  flows, showing the financial condition of the Company and its 
  consolidated Subsidiaries as of the close of such fiscal 
  quarter and the results of its operations and the operations 
  of such Subsidiaries during such fiscal quarter and the then 
  elapsed portion of the fiscal year, all certified by one of 
  its Financial Officers as fairly presenting the financial 
  condition and results of operations of the Company on a 
  consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP, subject to normal 
  year-end audit adjustments; 
 
        (c)   concurrently with any delivery of financial 
  statements under (a) or (b) above, a certificate of the 
  accounting firm or Financial Officer opining on or certifying 
  such statements (which certificate, when furnished by an 
  accounting firm, may be limited to accounting matters and 
  disclaim responsibility for legal interpretations) (i) 
  certifying that no Event of Default or Default has occurred 
  or, if such an Event of Default or Default has occurred, 
  specifying the nature and extent thereof and any corrective 
  action taken or proposed to be taken with respect thereto and 
  (ii) setting forth computations in reasonable detail 
  satisfactory to the Agent demonstrating compliance with the 
  covenants contained in Sections 6.5, 6.7 and 6.8; 
 
        (d)   promptly after the same become publicly available, 
  copies of all periodic and other reports, proxy statements, 
  registration statements and other materials filed by it with 
  the Securities and Exchange Commission, or any governmental 
  authority succeeding to any of or all the functions of said 
  Commission, or with any national securities exchange, or 
  distributed to its shareholders, as the case may be; and 
 
        (e)   promptly, from time to time, such other information 
  regarding the operations, business affairs and financial 
  condition of the Company or any Subsidiary, or compliance with 
  the terms of any Loan Document, as the Agent or any Bank may 
  reasonably request. 
 
        SECTION 5.5.     Litigation and Other Notices.  Furnish to 
the Agent and each Bank prompt notice of the following: 
 
        (a)   any Event of Default or Default, specifying the 
  nature and extent thereof and the corrective action (if any) 
  proposed to be taken with respect thereto; 
 
        (b)   the filing or commencement of, or any threat or 
  notice of intention of any person to file or commence, any 
  action, suit or proceeding, whether at law or in equity or by 
  or before any Governmental Authority, against the Company or 
  any Affiliate thereof which, if adversely determined, could 
  result in a Material Adverse Effect; and 
 
        (c)   any development that has resulted in, or could 
  reasonably be anticipated to result in, a Material Adverse 
  Effect. 
 
        SECTION 5.6.     ERISA.  (a) Comply in all material 
respects with the applicable provisions of ERISA and (b) furnish 
to the Agent and each Bank (i) as soon as possible, and in any 
event within 30 days after any Responsible Officer of the Company 
or any ERISA Affiliate either knows or has reason to know that 
any Reportable Event has occurred that alone or together with any 
other Reportable Event could reasonably be expected to result in 
liability of the Company to the PBGC in an aggregate amount 
exceeding $5,000,000, a statement of a Financial Officer setting 
forth details as to such Reportable Event and the action proposed 
to be taken with respect thereto, together with a copy of the 
notice, if any, of such Reportable Event given to the PBGC, (ii) 
promptly after receipt thereof, a copy of any notice the Company 
or any ERISA Affiliate may receive from the PBGC relating to the 
intention of the PBGC to terminate any Plan or Plans (other than 
a Plan maintained by an ERISA Affiliate which is considered an 
ERISA Affiliate only pursuant to subsection (m) or (o) of Section 
412 of the Code) or to appoint a trustee to administer any Plan 
or Plans, (iii) within 20 days after the due date for filing with 
the PBGC pursuant to Section 412(n) of the Code of a notice of 
failure to make a required installment or other payment with 
respect to a Plan, a statement of a Financial Officer setting 
forth details as to such failure and the action proposed to be 



taken with respect thereto, together with a copy of such notice 
given to the PBGC and (iv) promptly and in any event within 30 
days after receipt thereof by the Company or any ERISA Affiliate 
from the sponsor of a Multiemployer Plan, a copy of each notice 
received by the Company or any ERISA Affiliate concerning (A) the 
imposition of Withdrawal Liability or (B) a determination that a 
Multiemployer Plan is, or is expected to be, terminated or in 
reorganization, in each case within the meaning of Title IV of 
ERISA. 
 
        SECTION 5.7.     Maintaining Records; Access to Properties 
and Inspections.  Maintain all financial records in accordance 
with GAAP and permit any representatives designated by any Bank 
to visit and inspect the financial records and the properties of 
the Company or any Subsidiary at reasonable times and as often as 
requested and to make extracts from and copies of such financial 
records, and permit any representatives designated by any Bank to 
discuss the affairs, finances and condition of the Company or any 
Subsidiary with the officers thereof and independent accountants 
therefor. 
 
        SECTION 5.8.     Use of Proceeds.  Use the proceeds of the 
Loans only for the purposes set forth in the preamble to this 
Agreement. 
 
 
VI.     NEGATIVE COVENANTS 
 
        The Company covenants and agrees with each Bank and the 
Agent that, so long as this Agreement shall remain in effect or 
the principal of or interest on any Loan, any Fees or any other 
expenses or amounts payable under any Loan Document shall be 
unpaid, unless the Required Banks shall otherwise consent in 
writing, the Company will not, and will not cause or permit any 
of the Subsidiaries to: 
 
        SECTION 6.1.     Liens.  Create, incur, assume or permit to 
exist any Lien on any property or assets (including stock or 
other securities of any person, including any Subsidiary, but 
excluding Margin Stock to the extent that the book value of such 
Margin Stock does not exceed 25% of the book value of the assets 
and properties that would be subject to this Section 6.1 without 
giving effect to this parenthetical phrase, or such other maximum 
amount or percentage as is then provided for or permitted under 
Regulation U or any successor regulation in order that no Loan 
shall be deemed "indirectly secured" by Margin Stock for purposes 
of such regulation), now owned or hereafter acquired by it or on 
any income or rights in respect of any thereof, except: 
 
        (a)   Liens on property or assets of the Company and its 
  Subsidiaries existing on the date hereof and set forth in 
  Schedule 6.1; provided that such Liens shall secure only those 
  obligations which they secure on the date hereof; 
 
        (b)   any Lien existing on any property or asset prior to 
  the acquisition thereof by the Company or any Subsidiary; 
  provided that (i) such Lien is not created in contemplation of 
  or in connection with such acquisition and (ii) such Lien does 
  not apply to any other property or assets of the Company or 
  any Subsidiary; 
 
        (c)   Liens for taxes not yet due or which are being 
  contested in compliance with Section 5.3; 
 
        (d)   carriers', warehousemen's, mechanic's, 
  materialmen's, repairmen's or other like Liens arising in the 
  ordinary course of business and securing obligations which are 
  not due or which are being contested in compliance with 
  Section 5.3; 
 
        (e)   pledges and deposits made in the ordinary course of 
  business in compliance with workmen's compensation, 
  unemployment insurance and other social security laws or 
  regulations; 
 
        (f)   deposits to secure the performance of bids, trade 
  contracts (other than for Indebtedness), leases (other than 
  Capital Lease Obligations), statutory obligations, surety and 
  appeal bonds, performance bonds and other obligations of a 
  like nature incurred in the ordinary course of business; 
 



        \10   zoning restrictions, easements, rights-of-way, 
  restrictions on use of real property and other similar 
  encumbrances incurred in the ordinary course of business 
  which, in the aggregate, are not substantial in amount and do 
  not materially detract from the value of the property subject 
  thereto or interfere with the ordinary conduct of the business 
  of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries; 
 
        (h)   purchase money security interests in real property, 
  improvements thereto or equipment hereafter acquired (or, in 
  the case of improvements, constructed) by the Company or any 
  Subsidiary; provided that (i) such security interests are 
  incurred, and the Indebtedness secured thereby is created, 
  within 90 days after such acquisition (or construction), (ii) 
  the Indebtedness secured thereby does not exceed 80% of the 
  lesser of the cost or the fair market value of such real 
  property, improvements or equipment at the time of such 
  acquisition (or construction) and (iii) such security 
  interests do not apply to any other property or assets of the 
  Company or any Subsidiary; and 
 
        (i)   Liens other than those referred to in subparagraphs 
  (a) through (h) above, provided that the sum of the aggregate 
  amount of all Indebtedness or other obligations which are 
  secured or evidenced by Liens other than those referred to in 
  subparagraphs (a) through (h) above plus the fair market value 
  in the aggregate of properties sold by the Company in the sale 
  and lease-back transactions permitted under Section 6.2, does 
  not at any time exceed an amount equal to 10% of Consolidated 
  Stockholders' Equity. 
 
        SECTION 6.2.     Sale and Lease-Back Transactions.  Enter 
into any arrangement, directly or indirectly, with any person 
whereby it shall sell or transfer any property, real or personal, 
used or useful in its business, whether now owned or hereafter 
acquired, and thereafter rent or lease such property or other 
property which it intends to use for substantially the same 
purpose or purposes as the property being sold or transferred; 
provided that the Company shall be permitted to enter into any 
such arrangements to the extent that the sum of the fair market 
value in the aggregate of properties sold by the Company pursuant 
to all such arrangements, plus the aggregate amount of 
indebtedness secured by Liens under paragraph (i) of Section 6.1, 
is not greater than 10% of Consolidated Stockholders' Equity. 
 
        SECTION 6.3.     Obligations of Subsidiaries.  Permit the 
Subsidiaries to incur Indebtedness, except for Indebtedness which 
in the aggregate for all the Subsidiaries constitutes not more 
than 10% of Consolidated Stockholders' Equity at any time or 
Indebtedness to the Company incurred by the Subsidiaries in the 
ordinary course of business. 
 
        SECTION 6.4.     Mergers, Consolidations and Sales of 
Assets.  Merge into or consolidate with any other person, or 
permit any other person to merge into or consolidate with it, or 
sell, transfer, lease or otherwise dispose of (in one transaction 
or in a series of transactions) all or any substantial part of 
its assets (whether now owned or hereafter acquired) or any 
capital stock of any Subsidiary, or purchase, lease or otherwise 
acquire (in one transaction or a series of transactions) all or 
any substantial part of the assets or capital stock of any other 
person (excluding the sale of The Elk Horn Coal Corporation and 
its subsidiaries), except that (a) the Company and any Subsidiary 
may purchase and sell inventory in the ordinary course of 
business and (b) if at the time thereof and immediately after 
giving effect thereto no Event of Default or Default shall have 
occurred and be continuing (i) any entity may merge into the 
Company or any wholly owned Subsidiary in a transaction in which 
the Company or such wholly owned Subsidiary, as the case may be, 
is the surviving corporation, and (ii) the Company and any 
Subsidiary may acquire all or any substantial part of the assets 
or capital stock of any other person.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, nothing in this Section 6.4 shall prevent the Company 
and its Subsidiaries from selling, transferring, leasing or 
otherwise disposing of (in one transaction or in a series of 
transactions) during any fiscal year in arms' length transactions 
(A) assets the fair market value of which is not more than 5% of 
the consolidated assets of the Company calculated in accordance 
with GAAP, determined as of the beginning of such fiscal year, 
and (B) any other assets to the extent that the Commitments of 
the Banks are permanently reduced pursuant to Section 2.10 by an 



aggregate amount at least equal to the amount of the proceeds 
received by the Company from the sale of such assets.  
 
        SECTION 6.5.     Dividends and Distributions.  Declare or 
pay, directly or indirectly, any dividend or make any other 
distribution (by reduction of capital or otherwise), whether in 
cash, property, securities or a combination thereof, with respect 
to any shares of its capital stock or set aside any amount for 
any such purpose; provided that (a) any Subsidiary may declare 
and pay dividends or make other distributions to the Company, and 
(b) if at the time of and after giving effect thereto no Event of 
Default or Default shall have occurred and be continuing, the 
Company may at any time declare and pay dividends in an aggregate 
amount not at any time to exceed $48,000,000 plus the Company's 
Consolidated Net Income for the period (which shall be treated as 
a single accounting period) beginning on April 1, 1994, and 
ending on the last day of the fiscal quarter for which financial 
statements of the Company shall at such time most recently have 
been delivered pursuant to Section 5.4. 
 
        SECTION 6.6.     Transactions with Affiliates.  Sell or 
transfer any property or assets to, or purchase or acquire any 
property or assets from, or otherwise engage in any other 
transactions with, any of its Affiliates, except that as long as 
no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be 
continuing, the Company or any Subsidiary may engage in any of 
the foregoing transactions in the ordinary course of business at 
prices and on terms and conditions not less favorable to the 
Company or such Subsidiary than could be obtained on an arm's- 
length basis from unrelated third parties. 
 
        SECTION 6.7.     Consolidated Stockholders' Equity.  Permit 
Consolidated Stockholders' Equity of the Company to be less than 
$100,000,000 at any time. 
 
        SECTION 6.8.     Debt Ratio.  Permit the ratio of 
Consolidated Total Debt to Consolidated Total Capitalization to 
exceed 0.6 to 1.00 at any time. 
 
 
VII.    EVENTS OF DEFAULT 
 
        In case of the happening of any of the following events 
("Events of Default"): 
 
        (a)   any representation or warranty made or deemed made 
  in or in connection with any Loan Document or the borrowings 
  hereunder, or any representation, warranty, statement or 
  information contained in any report, certificate, financial 
  statement or other instrument furnished in connection with or 
  pursuant to any Loan Document, shall prove to have been false 
  or misleading in any material respect when so made, deemed 
  made or furnished; 
 
        (b)   default shall be made in the payment of any 
  principal of any Loan when and as the same shall become due 
  and payable, whether at the due date thereof or at a date 
  fixed for prepayment thereof or by acceleration thereof or 
  otherwise; 
 
        (c)   default shall be made in the payment of any interest 
  on any Loan or any Fee or any other amount (other than an 
  amount referred to in (b) above) due under any Loan Document, 
  when and as the same shall become due and payable, and such 
  default shall continue unremedied for a period of five 
  Business Days; 
 
        (d)   default shall be made in the due observance or 
  performance by the Company or any Subsidiary of any covenant, 
  condition or agreement contained in Section 5.1(a) or 5.5 or 
  in Article VI; 
 
        (e)   default shall be made in the due observance or 
  performance by the Company or any Subsidiary of any covenant, 
  condition or agreement contained in any Loan Document (other 
  than those specified in (b), (c) or (d) above) and such 
  default shall continue unremedied for a period of ten Business 
  Days after notice thereof from the Agent or any Bank to the 
  Company; 
 
        (f)   the Company or any Subsidiary shall (i) fail to pay 



  any principal or interest, regardless of amount, due in 
  respect of any Indebtedness in an aggregate principal amount 
  in excess of $5,000,000, when and as the same shall become due 
  and payable, or (ii) fail to observe or perform any other 
  term, covenant, condition or agreement on its part to be 
  performed under any agreement or instrument evidencing or 
  governing any such Indebtedness if the effect of any failure 
  referred to in this clause (ii) is to cause, or to permit the 
  holder or holders of such Indebtedness or a trustee on its or 
  their behalf (with or without the giving of notice, the lapse 
  of time or both) to cause such Indebtedness to become due 
  prior to its stated maturity; 
 
        (g)   an involuntary proceeding shall be commenced or an 
  involuntary petition shall be filed in a court of competent 
  jurisdiction seeking (i) relief in respect of the Company or 
  any Subsidiary, or of a substantial part of the property or 
  assets of the Company or a Subsidiary, under Title 11 of the 
  United States Code, as now constituted or hereafter amended, 
  or any other Federal or state bankruptcy, insolvency, 
  receivership or similar law, (ii) the appointment of a 
  receiver, trustee, custodian, sequestrator, conservator or 
  similar official for the Company or any Subsidiary or for a 
  substantial part of the property or assets of the Company or a 
  Subsidiary or (iii) the winding-up or liquidation of the 
  Company or any Subsidiary; and such proceeding or petition 
  shall continue undismissed for 60 days or an order or decree 
  approving or ordering any of the foregoing shall be entered; 
 
        (h)   the Company or any Significant Subsidiary shall (i) 
  voluntarily commence any proceeding or file any petition 
  seeking relief under Title 11 of the United States Code, as 
  now constituted or hereafter amended, or any other Federal or 
  state bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar law, 
  (ii) consent to the institution of, or fail to contest in a 
  timely and appropriate manner, any proceeding or the filing of 
  any petition described in (g) above, (iii) apply for or 
  consent to the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian, 
  sequestrator, conservator or similar official for the Company 
  or such Significant Subsidiary or for a substantial part of 
  the property or assets of the Company or such Significant 
  Subsidiary, (iv) file an answer admitting the material allega- 
  tions of a petition filed against it in any such proceeding, 
  (v) make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, 
  (vi) become unable, admit in writing its inability or fail 
  generally to pay its debts as they become due or (vii) take 
  any action for the purpose of effecting any of the foregoing; 
 
        (i)   one or more judgments for the payment of money in an 
  aggregate amount in excess of $1,000,000 shall be rendered 
  against the Company, any Subsidiary or any combination thereof 
  and the same shall remain undischarged for a period of 30 
  consecutive days during which execution shall not be 
  effectively stayed, or any action shall be legally taken by a 
  judgment creditor to levy upon assets or properties of the 
  Company or any Subsidiary to enforce any such judgment; 
 
        (j)   a Reportable Event or Reportable Events, or a 
  failure to make a required installment or other payment 
  (within the meaning of Section 412(n)(1) of the Code), shall 
  have occurred with respect to any Plan or Plans that 
  reasonably could be expected to result in liability of the 
  Company to the PBGC or to a Plan in an aggregate amount 
  exceeding $5,000,000 and, within 30 days after the reporting 
  of any such Reportable Event to the Agent or after the receipt 
  by the Agent of the statement required pursuant to Section 
  5.6, the Agent shall have notified the Company in writing that 
  (i) the Required Banks have made a determination that, on the 
  basis of such Reportable Event or Reportable Events or the 
  failure to make a required payment, there are reasonable 
  grounds (A) for the termination of such Plan or Plans by the 
  PBGC, (B) for the appointment by the appropriate United States 
  District Court of a trustee to administer such Plan or Plans 
  or (C) for the imposition of a lien in favor of a Plan and 
  (ii) as a result thereof an Event of Default exists hereunder; 
  or a trustee shall be appointed by a United States District 
  Court to administer any such Plan or Plans; or the PBGC shall 
  institute proceedings to terminate any Plan or Plans; 
 
        (k)   (i) the Company or any ERISA Affiliate shall have 
  been notified by the sponsor of a Multiemployer Plan that it 



  has incurred Withdrawal Liability to such Multiemployer Plan, 
  (ii) the Company or such ERISA Affiliate does not have 
  reasonable grounds for contesting such Withdrawal Liability or 
  is not in fact contesting such Withdrawal Liability in a 
  timely and appropriate manner and (iii) the amount of the 
  Withdrawal Liability specified in such notice, when aggregated 
  with all other amounts required to be paid to Multiemployer 
  Plans in connection with Withdrawal Liabilities (determined as 
  of the date or dates of such notification), exceeds $5,000,000 
  or requires payments exceeding $1,000,000 in any year; 
 
        (l)   the Company or any ERISA Affiliate shall have been 
  notified by the sponsor of a Multiemployer Plan that such 
  Multiemployer Plan is in reorganization or is being 
  terminated, within the meaning of Title IV of ERISA, if solely 
  as a result of such reorganization or termination the 
  aggregate annual contributions of the Company and its ERISA 
  Affiliates to all Multiemployer Plans that are then in 
  reorganization or have been or are being terminated have been 
  or will be increased over the amounts required to be 
  contributed to such Multiemployer Plans for their most 
  recently completed plan years by an amount exceeding 
  $1,000,000; or 
 
        (m)   there shall have occurred a Change in Control; 
 
then, and in every such event (other than an event with respect 
to the Company described in paragraph (g) or (h) above), and at 
any time thereafter during the continuance of such event, the 
Agent may, and at the request of the Required Banks shall, by 
notice to the Company, take either or both of the following 
actions, at the same or different times: (i) terminate forthwith 
the Commitments and (ii) declare the Loans then outstanding to be 
forthwith due and payable, whereupon the principal of the Loans, 
together with accrued interest thereon and any unpaid accrued 
Fees and all other liabilities of the Company accrued hereunder 
and under any other Loan Document, shall become forthwith due and 
payable, without presentment, demand, protest or any other notice 
of any kind, all of which are hereby expressly waived by the 
Company, anything contained herein or in any other Loan Document 
to the contrary notwithstanding; and in any event with respect to 
the Company described in paragraph (g) or (h) above, the 
Commitments shall automatically terminate and the principal of 
the Loans then outstanding, together with accrued interest 
thereon and any unpaid accrued Fees and all other liabilities of 
the Company accrued hereunder and under any other Loan Document, 
shall automatically become due and payable, without presentment, 
demand, protest or any other notice of any kind, all of which are 
hereby expressly waived by the Company, anything contained herein 
or in any other Loan Document to the contrary notwithstanding. 
 
 
VIII.  THE AGENT 
 
        In order to expedite the transactions contemplated by 
this Agreement, LTCB Trust is hereby appointed to act as Agent on 
behalf of the Banks.  Each of the Banks, and each subsequent 
holder of any Note by its acceptance thereof, hereby irrevocably 
authorizes the Agent to take such actions on behalf of such Bank 
or holder and to exercise such powers as are specifically 
delegated to the Agent by the terms and provisions hereof, 
together with such actions and powers as are reasonably 
incidental thereto.  The Agent is hereby expressly authorized by 
the Banks, without hereby limiting any implied authority, (a) to 
receive on behalf of the Banks all payments of principal of and 
interest on the Loans and all other amounts due to the Banks 
hereunder, and promptly to distribute to each Bank its proper 
share of each payment so received; (b) to give notice on behalf 
of each of the Banks to the Company of any Event of Default 
specified in this Agreement of which the Agent has actual 
knowledge acquired in connection with its agency hereunder; and 
(c) to distribute to each Bank copies of all notices, financial 
statements and other materials delivered by the Company pursuant 
to this Agreement as received by the Agent. 
 
        Neither the Agent nor any of its directors, officers, 
employees or agents shall be liable as such for any action taken 
or omitted by any of them except for its or his own gross 
negligence or wilful misconduct, or be responsible for any 
statement, warranty or representation herein or the contents of 
any document delivered in connection herewith, or be required to 



ascertain or to make any inquiry concerning the performance or 
observance by the Company of any of the terms, conditions, 
covenants or agreements contained in any Loan Document.  The 
Agent shall not be responsible to the Banks or the holders of the 
Notes for the due execution, genuineness, validity, 
enforceability or effectiveness of this Agreement, the Notes or 
any other Loan Documents or other instruments or agreements.  The 
Agent may deem and treat the payee of any Note as the owner 
thereof for all purposes hereof until it shall have received from 
the payee of such Note notice, given as provided herein, of the 
transfer thereof.  The Agent shall in all cases be fully 
protected in acting, or refraining from acting, in accordance 
with written instructions signed by the Required Banks and, 
except as otherwise specifically provided herein, such 
instructions and any action or inaction pursuant thereto shall be 
binding on all the Banks and each subsequent holder of any Note.  
The Agent shall, in the absence of knowledge to the contrary, be 
entitled to rely on any instrument or document believed by it in 
good faith to be genuine and correct and to have been signed or 
sent by the proper person or persons.  Neither the Agent nor any 
of its directors, officers, employees or agents shall have any 
responsibility to the Company on account of the failure of or 
delay in performance or breach by any Bank of any of its 
obligations hereunder or to any Bank on account of the failure of 
or delay in performance or breach by any other Bank or the 
Company of any of their respective obligations hereunder or under 
any other Loan Document or in connection herewith or therewith.  
The Agent may execute any and all duties hereunder by or through 
agents or employees and shall be entitled to rely upon the advice 
of legal counsel selected by it with respect to all matters aris- 
ing hereunder and shall not be liable for any action taken or 
suffered in good faith by it in accordance with the advice of 
such counsel. 
 
        The Banks hereby acknowledge that the Agent shall be 
under no duty to take any discretionary action permitted to be 
taken by it pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement unless 
it shall be requested in writing to do so by the Required Banks. 
 
        Subject to the appointment and acceptance of a successor 
Agent as provided below, the Agent may resign at any time by 
notifying the Banks and the Company.  Upon any such resignation, 
the Required Banks shall have the right to appoint a successor.  
If no successor shall have been so appointed by the Required 
Banks and shall have accepted such appointment within 30 days 
after the retiring Agent gives notice of its resignation, then 
the retiring Agent may, on behalf of the Banks, appoint a 
successor Agent which shall be a bank with an office in New York, 
New York, and which bank shall have a combined capital and 
surplus of at least $500,000,000, or an Affiliate of any such 
bank.  Upon the acceptance of any appointment as Agent hereunder 
by a successor bank, such successor shall succeed to and become 
vested with all the rights, powers, privileges and duties of the 
retiring Agent and the retiring Agent shall be discharged from 
its duties and obligations hereunder.  After the Agent's 
resignation hereunder, the provisions of this Article and Section 
9.5 shall continue in effect for its benefit in respect of any 
actions taken or omitted to be taken by it while it was acting as 
Agent. 
 
        With respect to the Loan made by it hereunder and the 
Note issued to it, the Agent in its individual capacity and not 
as Agent shall have the same rights and powers as any other Bank 
and may exercise the same as though it were not the Agent, and 
the Agent and its Affiliates may accept deposits from, lend money 
to and generally engage in any kind of business with the Company 
or any Subsidiary or other Affiliate thereof as if it were not 
the Agent. 
 
        Each Bank agrees (i) to reimburse the Agent, on demand, 
in the amount of its pro rata share (based on its Commitment or, 
after the Borrowing, its Loan hereunder) of any expenses incurred 
for the benefit of the Banks by the Agent, including counsel fees 
and compensation of agents and employees paid for services 
rendered on behalf of the Banks, which shall not have been 
reimbursed by the Company and (ii) to indemnify and hold harmless 
the Agent and any of its directors, officers, employees or 
agents, on demand, in the amount of such pro rata share, from and 
against any and all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, 
penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses or 
disbursements of any kind or nature whatsoever which may be 



imposed on, incurred by or asserted against it in its capacity as 
the Agent or any of them in any way relating to or arising out of 
this Agreement or any other Loan Document or any action taken or 
omitted by it or any of them under this Agreement or any other 
Loan Document, to the extent the same shall not have been 
reimbursed by the Company; provided that no Bank shall be liable 
to the Agent for any portion of such liabilities, obligations, 
losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, 
expenses or disbursements resulting from the gross negligence or 
wilful misconduct of the Agent or any of its directors, officers, 
employees or agents. 
 
        Each Bank acknowledges that it has, independently and 
without reliance upon the Agent or any other Bank and based on 
such documents and information as it has deemed appropriate, made 
its own credit analysis and decision to enter into this 
Agreement.  Each Bank also acknowledges that it will, 
independently and without reliance upon the Agent or any other 
Bank and based on such documents and information as it shall from 
time to time deem appropriate, continue to make its own decisions 
in taking or not taking action under or based upon this Agreement 
or any other Loan Document, any related agreement or any document 
furnished hereunder or thereunder. 
 
        The Agent acts initially through the New York office of 
LTCB Trust, but may hereafter change the office at which it 
performs its functions as Agent to any other office of itself or 
any of its Affiliates (including, without limitation, to any 
office of LTCB or LTCB Trust) by giving prompt subsequent notice 
to the Company and the Banks. 
 
 
IX.     MISCELLANEOUS 
 
        SECTION 9.1.     Notices.  Notices and other communications 
provided for herein shall be in writing and shall be delivered by 
hand or overnight courier service, mailed or sent by telex, 
graphic scanning or other telegraphic communications equipment of 
the sending party, as follows: 
 
        (a)   if to the Company, to it at 1100 Boulders Parkway, 
  Richmond, Virginia 23225, Attention of Norman A. Scher 
  (Telecopy No. (804) 330-1010); 
 
        (b)   if to the Agent, to it at 165 Broadway, New York, 
  New York 10006, Attention:  John A. Krob (Telecopy No. (212) 
  608-2371) with a copy to:  The Long-Term Credit Bank of Japan, 
  Limited, Atlanta Representative Office, Suite 2801, Marquis 
  One Tower, 245 Peachtree Center Avenue, N.E., Atlanta, Georgia 
  30303, Attention:  Philip A. Marsden (Telecopy No. (404) 658- 
  9751) and 
 
        (c)   if to a Bank, to it at its address (or telecopy 
  number) set forth in Schedule 2.1. 
 
All notices and other communications given to any party hereto in 
accordance with the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed 
to have been given on the date of receipt if delivered by hand or 
overnight courier service or sent by telex, graphic scanning or 
other telegraphic communications equipment of the sender, or on 
the date five Business Days after dispatch by certified or 
registered mail if mailed, in each case delivered, sent or mailed 
(properly addressed) to such party as provided in this Section 
9.1 or in accordance with the latest unrevoked direction from 
such party given in accordance with this Section 9.1. 
 
        SECTION 9.2.     Survival of Agreement.  All covenants, 
agreements, representations and warranties made by the Company 
herein and in the certificates or other instruments prepared or 
delivered in connection with or pursuant to this Agreement or any 
other Loan Document shall be considered to have been relied upon 
by the Banks and shall survive the making by the Banks of the 
Loans, and the execution and delivery to the Banks of the Notes 
evidencing such Loans, regardless of any investigation made by 
the Banks or on their behalf, and shall continue in full force 
and effect as long as the principal of or any accrued interest on 
any Loan or any Fee or any other amount payable under this 
Agreement or any other Loan Document is outstanding and unpaid 
and so long as the Commitments have not been terminated. 
 
        SECTION 9.3.     Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall 



become effective when it shall have been executed by the Company 
and the Agent and when the Agent shall have received copies 
hereof which, when taken together, bear the signatures of each 
Bank, and thereafter shall be binding upon and inure to the 
benefit of the Company, the Agent and each Bank and their 
respective successors and assigns, except that the Company shall 
not have the right to assign its rights hereunder or any interest 
herein without the prior consent of all the Banks. 
 
        SECTION 9.4.     Successors and Assigns.  (a) Whenever in 
this Agreement any of the parties hereto is referred to, such 
reference shall be deemed to include the successors and (to the 
extent permitted by this Section 9.4) assigns of such party; and 
all covenants, promises and agreements by or on behalf of the 
Company, the Agent or the Banks that are contained in this 
Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of their respective 
successors and assigns. 
 
        (b)   Each Bank may assign to one or more assignees all or 
a portion of its interests, rights and obligations under this 
Agreement (including all or a portion of its Commitment and the 
Loans at the time owing to it and the Note held by it); provided 
that (i) except in the case of an assignment by a Bank to an 
Affiliate of such Bank, the Company and the Agent must give their 
prior written consent to such assignment (which consent shall not 
be unreasonably withheld), (ii) each such assignment shall be of 
a constant, and not a varying, percentage of all the assigning 
Bank's rights and obligations under this Agreement, (iii) the 
amount of the Commitment and Loans of the assigning Bank subject 
to each such assignment (determined as of the date the Assignment 
and Acceptance with respect to such assignment is delivered to 
the Agent), if less than the full remaining amount of such Bank's 
Commitment and Loans, shall not be less than $10,000,000, (iv) 
the parties to each such assignment shall execute and deliver to 
the Agent an Assignment and Acceptance, together with the Note or 
Notes subject to such assignment and a processing and recordation 
fee of $2,000 for the account of the Agent, (v) each assignee 
shall deliver to the Agent a completed Administrative 
Questionnaire and (vi) in the case of an assignment by LTCB Trust 
other than to LTCB or another Affiliate of LTCB Trust, LTCB Trust 
shall continue to hold a Commitment or Loans in a principal 
amount of not less than $15,000,000; provided that if prior to 
such assignment there has been any reduction of the Commitments 
(other than by reason of Borrowings) or any repayment or 
prepayment of the Loans, the minimum amount of the Commitment or 
the minimum principal amount of the Loans (as the case may be) 
that LTCB Trust shall be required to retain shall be the 
percentage of the aggregate amount of the Commitments or the 
aggregate principal amount of the Loans (as the case may be) then 
outstanding that $15,000,000 bears to  the aggregate amount of 
the original Commitments.  Upon acceptance and recording pursuant 
to paragraph (e) of this Section 9.4, from and after the 
effective date specified in each Assignment and Acceptance, which 
effective date shall be at least five Business Days after the 
execution thereof, (A) the assignee thereunder shall be a party 
hereto and, to the extent provided in such Assignment and 
Acceptance, have the rights and obligations of a Bank under this 
Agreement and (B) the assigning Bank thereunder shall, to the 
extent provided in such assignment, be released from its 
obligations under this Agreement (and, in the case of an 
Assignment and Acceptance covering all or the remaining portion 
of an assigning Bank's rights and obligations under this 
Agreement, such Bank shall cease to be a party hereto). 
 
        (c)   By executing and delivering an Assignment and 
Acceptance, the assigning Bank thereunder and the assignee 
thereunder shall be deemed to confirm to and agree with each 
other and the other parties hereto as follows: (i) other than the 
representation and warranty that it is the legal and beneficial 
owner of the interest being assigned thereby free and clear of 
any adverse claim, such assigning Bank makes no representation or 
warranty and assumes no responsibility with respect to any 
statements, warranties or representations made in or in 
connection with this Agreement or the execution, legality, 
validity, enforceability, genuineness, sufficiency or value of 
this Agreement, any other Loan Document or any other instrument 
or document furnished pursuant hereto; (ii) such assigning Bank 
makes no representation or warranty and assumes no responsibility 
with respect to the financial condition of the Company or any 
Subsidiary or the performance or observance by the Company of any 
of its obligations under this Agreement, any other Loan Document 



or any other instrument or document furnished pursuant hereto; 
(iii) such assignee confirms that it has received a copy of this 
Agreement, together with copies of the most recent financial 
statements delivered pursuant to Section 5.4 and such other 
documents and information as it has deemed appropriate to make 
its own credit analysis and decision to enter into such 
Assignment and Acceptance; (iv) such assignee will independently 
and without reliance upon the Agent, such assigning Bank or any 
other Bank and based on such documents and information as it 
shall deem appropriate at the time, continue to make its own 
credit decisions in taking or not taking action under this 
Agreement; (v) such assignee appoints and authorizes the Agent to 
take such action as agent on its behalf and to exercise such 
powers under this Agreement as are delegated to the Agent by the 
terms hereof, together with such powers as are reasonably 
incidental thereto; and (vi) such assignee agrees that it will 
perform in accordance with their terms all the obligations which 
by the terms of this Agreement are required to be performed by it 
as a Bank. 
 
        (d)   The Agent shall maintain at one of its offices in 
The City of New York a copy of each Assignment and Acceptance 
delivered to it and a register for the recordation of the names 
and addresses of the Banks, and the Commitment of, and principal 
amount of the Loan owing to, each Bank pursuant to the terms 
hereof from time to time (the "Register").  The entries in the 
Register shall be conclusive in the absence of manifest error and 
the Company, the Agent and the Banks may treat each person whose 
name is recorded in the Register pursuant to the terms hereof as 
a Bank hereunder for all purposes of this Agreement.  The 
Register shall be available for inspection by the Company and any 
Bank, at any reasonable time and from time to time upon 
reasonable prior notice. 
 
        (e)   Upon its receipt of a duly completed Assignment and 
Acceptance executed by an assigning Bank and an assignee together 
with the Note subject to such assignment, the processing and 
recordation fee referred to in paragraph (b) above and, if 
required, the written consent of the Company to such assignment, 
the Agent shall (subject to the consent of the Agent to such 
assignment, if required), (i) accept such Assignment and 
Acceptance, (ii) record the information contained therein in the 
Register and (iii) give prompt notice thereof to the Banks.  
Within five Business Days after receipt of notice, the Company, 
at its own expense, shall execute and deliver to the Agent, in 
exchange for the surrendered Note (x) a new Note to the order of 
such assignee in an amount equal to the portion of the Commitment 
and Loan assumed by it pursuant to such Assignment and Acceptance 
and, (y) if the assigning Bank has retained a Commitment or Loan 
or a portion thereof, a new Note to the order of such assigning 
Bank in a principal amount equal to the applicable Commitment and 
Loan retained by it.  Such new Note(s) shall be in an aggregate 
principal amount equal to the aggregate principal amount of such 
surrendered Note or Notes; such new Notes shall be dated the date 
of the surrendered Notes which they replace and shall otherwise 
be in substantially the form of Exhibit B hereto, as appropriate.  
Canceled Notes shall be returned to the Company. 
 
        (f)   Each Bank may, without the consent of the Company or 
the Agent, sell participations to one or more banks or other 
entities in all or a portion of its rights and obligations under 
this Agreement (including all or a portion of its Commitment and 
the Loan owing to it and the Note held by it); provided that (i) 
such Bank's obligations under this Agreement shall remain 
unchanged, (ii) such Bank shall remain solely responsible to the 
other parties hereto for the performance of such obligations, 
(iii) the participating banks or other entities shall be entitled 
to the benefit of the cost protection provisions contained in 
Sections 2.12 and 2.14 to the same extent as if they were Banks 
and (iv) the Company, the Agent and the other Banks shall 
continue to deal solely and directly with such Bank in connection 
with such Bank's rights and obligations under this Agreement, and 
such Bank shall retain the sole right to enforce the obligations 
of the Company relating to the Loans and to approve any 
amendment, modification or waiver of any provision of this 
Agreement (other than amendments, modifications or waivers with 
respect to any fees payable hereunder or the amount of principal 
of or the rate at which interest is payable on the Loans, or the 
dates fixed for payments of principal of or interest on the 
Loans). 
 



        (g)   Any Bank or participant may, in connection with any 
assignment or participation or proposed assignment or 
participation pursuant to this Section 9.4, disclose to the 
assignee or participant or proposed assignee or participant any 
information relating to the Company furnished to such Bank by or 
on behalf of the Company; provided that, prior to any such 
disclosure, each such assignee or participant or proposed 
assignee or participant shall execute an agreement whereby such 
assignee or participant shall agree (subject to customary 
exceptions) to preserve the confidentiality of any confidential 
information relating to the Company received from such Bank. 
 
        (h)   The Company shall not assign or delegate any of its 
respective rights and duties hereunder. 
 
        (i)   Any other provision of this Agreement to the 
contrary notwithstanding, any Bank may assign and pledge all or 
any portion of its Loan or Note to any Federal Reserve Bank as 
collateral security pursuant to Regulation A of the Board (or any 
successor regulation) and any Operating Circular issued by such 
Federal Reserve Bank.  No such assignment shall release the 
assigning Bank from its obligations under this Agreement. 
 
        SECTION 9.5.     Expenses; Indemnity.  (a) The Company 
agrees to pay all out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Agent in 
connection with the negotiation, preparation, execution and 
delivery of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents and the 
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or in 
connection with any amendments, modifications or waivers of the 
provisions hereof or thereof (whether or not the transactions 
hereby contemplated shall be consummated) or incurred by the 
Agent or any Bank in connection with the enforcement or 
protection of their rights in connection with this Agreement and 
the other Loan Documents or in connection with the Loans made or 
the Notes issued hereunder, including the fees and disbursements 
of Christy & Viener, special New York counsel for the Agent, and, 
in connection with any such amendment, modification or waiver or 
any such enforcement or protection, the fees and disbursements of 
any other counsel for the Agent or any Bank.  The Company further 
agrees that it shall indemnify the Banks from and hold them 
harmless against any documentary taxes, assessments or charges 
made by any Governmental Authority by reason of the execution and 
delivery of this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents. 
 
        (b)   The Company agrees to indemnify the Agent, each Bank 
and its directors, officers, employees and agents (each such 
person being called an "Indemnitee") against, and to hold each 
Indemnitee harmless from, any and all losses, claims, damages, 
liabilities and related expenses, including reasonable counsel 
fees and expenses, incurred by or asserted against any Indemnitee 
arising out of, in any way connected with, or as a result of (i) 
the execution or delivery of this Agreement or any other Loan 
Document or any agreement or instrument contemplated thereby, the 
performance by the parties thereto of their respective 
obligations thereunder, (ii) the use of the proceeds of the Loans 
or (iii) any claim, litigation, investigation or proceeding 
relating to any of the foregoing, whether or not any Indemnitee 
is a party thereto; provided, that such indemnity shall not, as 
to any Indemnitee, be available to the extent that such losses, 
claims, damages, liabilities or related expenses are determined 
by a court of competent jurisdiction by final and nonappealable 
judgment to have resulted from the gross negligence or wilful 
misconduct of such Indemnitee. 
 
        (c)   The provisions of this Section 9.5 shall remain 
operative and in full force and effect regardless of the expi- 
ration of the term of this Agreement, the consummation of the 
transactions contemplated hereby, the repayment of any of the 
Loans, the invalidity or unenforceability of any term or pro- 
vision of this Agreement or any other Loan Document, or any 
investigation made by or on behalf of the Agent or any Bank.  All 
amounts due under this Section 9.5 shall be payable on written 
demand therefor. 
 
        SECTION 9.6.     Right of Setoff.  If an Event of Default 
shall have occurred and be continuing and any Bank shall have 
requested the Agent to declare the Loans immediately due and 
payable pursuant to Article VII, each Bank is hereby authorized 
at any time and from time to time, to the fullest extent 
permitted by law, to set off and apply any and all deposits 
(general or special, time or demand, provisional or final) at any 



time held and other indebtedness at any time owing by such Bank 
to or for the credit or the account of the Company against any of 
and all the obligations of the Company now or hereafter existing 
under this Agreement and other Loan Documents held by such Bank, 
irrespective of whether or not such Bank shall have made any 
demand under this Agreement or such other Loan Document and 
although such obligations may be unmatured.  The rights of each 
Bank under this Section are in addition to other rights and 
remedies (including other rights of setoff) which such Bank may 
have. 
 
        SECTION 9.7.     Applicable Law.  THIS AGREEMENT AND THE 
OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS SHALL BE CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH AND 
GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK. 
 
        SECTION 9.8.     Waivers; Amendment.  (a) No failure or 
delay of the Agent or any Bank in exercising any power or right 
hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single 
or partial exercise of any such right or power, or any 
abandonment or discontinuance of steps to enforce such a right or 
power, preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the 
exercise of any other right or power.  The rights and remedies of 
the Agent and the Banks hereunder and under the other Loan 
Documents are cumulative and exclusive of any rights or remedies 
which they would otherwise have.  No waiver of any provision of 
this Agreement or any other Loan Document or consent to any 
departure by the Company therefrom shall in any event be 
effective unless the same shall be permitted by paragraph (b) 
below, and then such waiver or consent shall be effective only in 
the specific instance and for the purpose for which given.  No 
notice or demand on the Company in any case shall entitle the 
Company to any other or further notice or demand in similar or 
other circumstances.  Each holder of any of the Notes shall be 
bound by any amendment, modification, waiver or consent 
authorized as provided herein, whether or not such Note shall 
have been marked to indicate such amendment, modification, waiver 
or consent. 
 
        (b)   Neither this Agreement nor any provision hereof may 
be waived, amended or modified except pursuant to an agreement or 
agreements in writing entered into by the Company and the 
Required Banks; provided that no such agreement shall (i) change 
the principal amount of, or extend or advance the maturity of or 
any date for the payment of any principal of or interest on, any 
Loan, or waive or excuse any such payment or any part thereof, or 
change the rate of interest on any Loan, without the prior 
written consent of each holder of a Note affected thereby, (ii) 
change the Commitment or Fees (if any) of any Bank without the 
prior written consent of such Bank, or (iii) amend or modify the 
provisions of Section 2.15, the provisions of this Section or the 
definition of the "Required Banks", without the prior written 
consent of each Bank; provided further that no such agreement 
shall amend, modify or otherwise affect the rights (including, 
without limitation, rights to receive fees) or duties of the 
Agent hereunder without the prior written consent of the Agent.  
Each Bank and each holder of a Note shall be bound by any 
modification or amendment authorized by this Section regardless 
of whether its Note shall have been marked to make reference 
thereto, and any consent by any Bank or holder of a Note pursuant 
to this Section shall bind any person subsequently acquiring a 
Note from it, whether or not such Note shall have been so marked. 
 
        SECTION 9.9.     Interest Rate Limitation.  Notwithstanding 
anything herein or in the Notes to the contrary, if at any time 
the applicable interest rate, together with all fees and charges 
which are treated as interest under applicable law (collectively 
the "Charges"), as provided for herein or in any other document 
executed in connection herewith, or otherwise contracted for, 
charged, received, taken or reserved by any Bank, shall exceed 
the maximum lawful rate (the "Maximum Rate") which may be 
contracted for, charged, taken, received or reserved by such Bank 
in accordance with applicable law, the rate of interest payable 
under the Note held by such Bank, together with all Charges 
payable to such Bank, shall be limited to the Maximum Rate. 
 
        SECTION 9.10.    Entire Agreement.  This Agreement and the 
other Loan Documents and the letter agreements referred to in 
Section 2.5 constitute the entire contract between the parties 
relative to the subject matter hereof.  Any previous agreement 
among the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof is 
superseded by this Agreement and the other Loan Documents.  



Nothing in this Agreement or in the other Loan Documents, 
expressed or implied, is intended to confer upon any party other 
than the parties hereto any rights, remedies, obligations or 
liabilities under or by reason of this Agreement or the other 
Loan Documents. 
 
        SECTION 9.11.    Waiver of Jury Trial.  Each party hereto 
hereby waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, 
any right it may have to a trial by jury in respect of any 
litigation directly or indirectly arising out of, under or in 
connection with this Agreement or any of the other Loan 
Documents.  Each party hereto (a) certifies that no 
representative, agent or attorney of any other party has rep- 
resented, expressly or otherwise, that such other party would 
not, in the event of litigation, seek to enforce the foregoing 
waiver and (b) acknowledges that it and the other parties hereto 
have been induced to enter into this Agreement and the other Loan 
Documents, as applicable, by, among other things, the mutual 
waivers and certifications in this Section 9.11. 
 
        SECTION 9.12.    Severability.  In the event any one or 
more of the provisions contained in this Agreement or in any 
other Loan Document should be held invalid, illegal or 
unenforceable in any respect, the validity, legality and en- 
forceability of the remaining provisions contained herein and 
therein shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.  
The parties shall endeavor in good-faith negotiations to replace 
the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provisions with valid 
provisions the economic effect of which comes as close as 
possible to that of the invalid, illegal or unenforceable 
provisions. 
 
        SECTION 9.13.    Counterparts.  This Agreement may be 
executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall 
constitute an original but all of which when taken together shall 
constitute but one contract, and shall become effective as 
provided in Section 9.3. 
 
        SECTION 9.14.    Headings.  Article and Section headings 
and the Table of Contents used herein are for convenience of 
reference only, are not part of this Agreement and are not to 
affect the construction of, or to be taken into consideration in 
interpreting, this Agreement. 
 
        SECTION 9.15.    Confidentiality.  Any information obtained 
by the Agent or any of the Banks from the Company shall not be 
disclosed by the Agent or such Bank to any other person if such 
information is not otherwise in the public domain except (i) to 
its officers, directors, employees, agents, independent 
accountants, Affiliates and legal counsel (it being understood 
that the persons to whom such disclosure is made will be informed 
of the confidential nature of such information and instructed to 
keep such information confidential), (ii) pursuant to statutory 
and regulatory requirements or requests of regulatory 
authorities, (iii) pursuant to any mandatory court order, 
subpoena or other legal process, (iv) to the Agent or any other 
Bank, (v) pursuant to any agreement heretofore or hereafter made 
between such Bank and the Company which permits such disclosure, 
(vi) in connection with the exercise of any remedy under or 
litigation in connection with the Loan Documents or (vii) subject 
to Section 9.4(g), to any participant in or assignee of, or 
prospective participant in or assignee of, any Loan or 
Commitment. 
 
        SECTION 9.16.    Jurisdiction; Consent to Service of 
Process.  (a) The Company hereby irrevocably and unconditionally 
submits, for itself and its property, to the nonexclusive 
jurisdiction of any New York State court or Federal court of the 
United States of America sitting in New York City, and any 
appellate court from any thereof, in any action or proceeding 
arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the other Loan 
Documents, or for recognition or enforcement of any judgment, and 
each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably and unconditionally 
agrees that all claims in respect of any such action or 
proceeding may be heard and determined in such New York State or, 
to the extent permitted by law, in such Federal court.  Each of 
the parties hereto agrees that a final judgment in any such 
action or proceeding shall be conclusive and may be enforced in 
other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other 
manner provided by law.  Nothing in this Agreement shall affect 
any right that any Bank may otherwise have to bring any action or 



proceeding relating to this Agreement or the other Loan Documents 
against the Company or its properties in the courts of any 
jurisdiction. 
 
        (b)   The Company hereby irrevocably and unconditionally 
waives, to the fullest extent it may legally and effectively do 
so, any objection which it may now or hereafter have to the 
laying of venue of any suit, action or proceeding arising out of 
or relating to this agreement or the other Loan Documents in any 
New York State or Federal court.  Each of the parties hereto 
hereby irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by 
law, the defense of an inconvenient forum to the maintenance of 
such action or proceeding in any such court. 
 
        (c)   Each party to this Agreement irrevocably consents to 
service of process in the manner provided for notices in Section 
9.1.  Nothing in this Agreement will affect the right of any 
party to this Agreement to serve process in any other manner 
permitted by law. 
 
 
        IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company, the Agent and the Banks 
have caused this Agreement to be duly executed by their 
respective authorized officers as of the day and year first above 
written. 
 
 
                                    TREDEGAR INDUSTRIES, INC., 
 
 
 
                                    By    /s/ N. A. Scher            
                                      Norman A. Scher 
                                      Executive Vice President, 
                                        Chief Financial Officer 
                                        and Treasurer 
 
 
                                    LTCB TRUST COMPANY, as Agent, 
 
 
 
                                    By    /s/ John A. Krob           
                                      John A. Krob 
                                      Senior Vice President 
 
 
 
                                    The Banks: 
 
                                    LTCB TRUST COMPANY 
 
 
 
                                    By   /s/ John A. Krob            
                                      John A. Krob 
                                      Senior Vice President 
 
 
                                    SOCIETE GENERALE 
 
 
 
                                    By   /s/ Brian J. Campbell       
                                      Brian J. Campbell 
                                      Vice President 
 
 
 
                                    THE YASUDA TRUST AND  
                                      BANKING CO., LTD. 
                                    New York Branch 
 
 
 
                                    By   /s/ Neil T. Chau            
                                      Neil T. Chau 
                                      First Vice President 
 
                                                            SCHEDULE 2.1 
 



 
                               COMMITMENTS 
 
 
                                                             Percentage 
                                                               of Total 
Name and Address of Bank                  Commitment         Commitment 
 
LTCB Trust Company                     $  15,000,000        42.8571428% 
165 Broadway 
New York, New York 10006 
 
Address for Notices 
For Credit Matters: 
 
LTCB Trust Company 
165 Broadway 
New York, New York 10006 
Attn:  Mr. John A. Krob 
Telephone: (212) 335-4575 
Telecopy:  (212) 608-2371 
 
  with a copy to: 
 
The Long-Term Credit Bank 
  of Japan, Limited 
Atlanta Representative Office 
245 Peachtree Center Avenue, N.E. 
Suite 2801 
Atlanta, Georgia 30303 
Attn:  Mr. Philip A. Marsden, 
Telephone:  (404) 659-7210 
Telecopy:   (404) 658-9751 
 
For Operations Matters: 
 
LTCB Trust Company 
165 Broadway 
New York, New York 10006 
 
Attn:  Ms. Susan Feng, 
          Loan Operations 
Telephone:  (212) 335-4808 
Telecopy:   (212) 608-3081 
 
Societe Generale                       $  10,000,000        28.5714286% 
Southwest Agency 
2001 Ross Avenue 
Suite 4800 
Dallas, Texas 75201 
 
Address for Notices 
For Credit Matters: 
 
Southwest Agency 
2001 Ross Avenue 
Suite 4800 
Dallas, Texas 75201 
 
Attn:  Ms. Paige Leuschner 
Telephone:  (214) 979-2758 
Telecopy:   (212) 754-0171 
 
  with a copy to: 
 
Atlanta Representative Office 
303 Peachtree Street, N.E. 
Suite 3840 
Atlanta, Georgia 30308 
 
Attn:  Mr. Brian J. Campbell, 
       Vice President 
Telephone:  (404) 865-7400 
Telecopy:   (404) 865-7419 
 
For Operations Matters: 
 
Southwest Agency 
2001 Ross Avenue 
Suite 4800 
Dallas, Texas 75201 



 
Attn:  Ms. Paige Leuschner 
Telephone:  (214) 979-2758 
Telecopy:   (212) 754-0171 
 
The Yasuda Trust and Banking 
Company, Limited                       $  10,000,000        28.5714286% 
New York Branch 
666 Fifth Avenue 
Eighth Floor 
New York, New York 10103 
 
Address for Notices 
For Credit Matters: 
 
Atlanta Representative Office 
285 Peachtree Center Avenue, N.E. 
Suite 2104 
Atlanta, Georgia 30303 
 
Attn:  Mr. Sanjay Sinha 
Telephone:  (404) 584-7807 
Telecopy:   (404) 584-7816 
 
  with a copy to: 
 
New York Branch 
666 Fifth Avenue 
Eighth Floor 
New York, New York 10103 
 
Attn:  Mr. Neil T. Chau, 
       First Vice President 
Telephone:  (212) 373-5711 
Telecopy:   (212) 373-5799 
 
For Operations Matters: 
 
New York Branch 
666 Fifth Avenue 
Eighth Floor 
New York, New York 10103 
 
Attn:  Mr. Richard Ortiz, 
       Vice President 
Telephone:  (212) 373-5700 
Telecopy:   (212) 373-5797 
 
                                                            SCHEDULE 3.7 
 
                                                             Part 1      
 
 
 
                                 Part 1 
 
                       UNITED STATES SUBSIDIARIES 
 
                                                          Percentage of 
                                                          Common Stock 
                                                         Owned Directly 
                                                          or Indirectly 
                                                         by the Company 
 
APPX Software                                                 100% 
The William L. Bonnell Company, Inc.                          100% 
Brudi, Inc.                                                   100% 
Capitol Products Corporation                                  100% 
Fiberlux, Inc.                                                100% 
Idlewood Properties, Inc.                                     100% 
Massie Tool, Mold & Die, Inc.                                 100%      
Molecumetics Institute, Ltd.                                  100% 
Molecumetics, Ltd.                                           90.5% 
Polestar Plastics Manufacturing Company                       100% 
Tredegar Development Corporation                              100% 
Tredegar Exploration, Inc.                                    100% 
Tredegar Investments, Inc.                                    100% 
Tredegar Molded Products Company                              100% 
Virginia Techport, Inc.                                       100% 
 
                                                            SCHEDULE 3.7 



 
                                                             Part 2      
 
 
 
                                 Part 2 
 
                     NON-UNITED STATES SUBSIDIARIES 
 
                                                          Percentage of 
                                                          Common Stock 
                                                         Owned Directly 
                                                          or Indirectly 
                                                         by the Company 
 
Brudi Limited                                                 100% 
Swing-Shift Brudi Pacific Pty Ltd.                          99.99% 
Tredegar Brasil Industria De Plasticos Ltda.                  100% 
Tredegar Film Products, B.V.                                  100% 
Tredegar Foreign Sales Corporation                            100% 
 
                                                            SCHEDULE 3.8 
 
 
                               LITIGATION 
 
 
 
                                  None. 
 
                                                            SCHEDULE 6.1 
 
 
                                  LIENS 
 
 
                                  None. 
 
                                                               EXHIBIT A 
 
 
                        FORM OF BORROWING REQUEST 
 
 
LTCB Trust Company, as  
Agent for the Banks  
referred to below, 
165 Broadway 
New York, New York 10006 
 
                                         [Date] 
 
Attention: 
 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 
 
        The undersigned, TREDEGAR INDUSTRIES, INC. (the 
"Company"), refers to the Credit Agreement dated as of August 19, 
1994 (the "Credit Agreement"), among the Company, the Banks named 
therein and LTCB Trust Company, as Agent.  Capitalized terms used 
herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings 
assigned to such terms in the Credit Agreement.  The Company 
hereby gives you notice pursuant to Section 2.3 of the Credit 
Agreement that it requests a Borrowing under the Credit 
Agreement, and in that connection sets forth below the terms on 
which such Borrowing is requested to be made: 
 
(A)     Type of Borrowing: 
        (Eurodollar Borrowing or Base Rate Borrowing) 
 
(B)     Date of Borrowing:  ___________, 19__. 
        (which is a Business Day)                                        
 
(C)     Principal Amount of Borrowing1: 
 
(D)     Interest Period: 
        (If such Borrowing is to be a Base Rate Borrowing, insert 
        "90 days"; if such Borrowing is to be a Eurodollar 
        Borrowing, designate the Interest Period and the last day 
        thereof2) 
 



1 Not less than $5,000,000 and in integral multiples of 
  $1,000,000. 
 
2 Which shall be either 1, 2, 3 or 6 months and subject to the 
  other requirements of the definition of "Interest Period" in 
  the Loan Agreement. 
 
        Upon acceptance of any or all of the Loans made by the 
Banks in response to this request, the Company shall be deemed to 
have represented and warranted that the conditions to lending 
specified in Section 4.1(b) and (c) of the Credit Agreement have 
been satisfied. 
 
                                    Very truly yours, 
 
                                    TREDEGAR INDUSTRIES, INC., 
 
 
                                    By                                   
                                      Title: [Responsible Officer] 
 
                                                               EXHIBIT B 
 
 
                              FORM OF NOTE 
 
 
$                                                     New York, New York 
                                                        August 19, 1994  
 
        FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, TREDEGAR INDUSTRIES, 
INC., a Virginia corporation (the "Company"), hereby promises to 
pay to the order of ___________________ 
___________________________________ (the "Bank"), at account no. 
04203606 of LTCB Trust Company, as agent (in such capacity, the 
"Agent") at Bankers Trust Company, New York, New York, ABA # 
021001033, attention:  Loan Operations, reference: Tredegar 
Industries, Inc., in lawful money of the United States of America 
in immediately available funds (or at such other account or place 
or in such other manner as the Agent may notify the Company from 
time to time), without set-off, counterclaim or deduction of any 
kind, the principal sum of ______________________ Dollars 
($__________) on August 19, 1999 (or if such day is not a 
Business Day, as hereinafter defined, on the next preceding 
Business Day)(the "Maturity Date") or such lesser amount as shall 
equal the aggregate principal amount of all Loans (as defined in 
the Credit Agreement (as defined below)) on the Maturity Date and 
to pay interest on such principal amount from time to time 
outstanding, from the date hereof until the date on which such 
principal shall be paid in full, in like funds, at said office, 
at a rate or rates per annum and payable on such dates as 
determined pursuant to the Credit Agreement dated as of August 
19, 1994, among the Company, the Banks named therein and LTCB 
Trust Company, as Agent, (as the same may be amended, modified, 
extended or restated from time to time, the "Credit Agreement"). 
 
        The Company promises to pay interest, on demand, on any 
overdue principal and, to the extent permitted by law, overdue 
interest from their due dates at a rate or rates determined as 
set forth in the Credit Agreement. 
 
        The Company hereby waives diligence, presentment, demand, 
protest and notice of any kind whatsoever.  The nonexercise by 
the holder of any of its rights hereunder in any particular 
instance shall not constitute a waiver thereof in that or any 
subsequent instance. 
 
        All payments and prepayments of the principal of this 
Note and interest hereon and the respective dates thereof shall 
be endorsed by the holder hereof on the schedule attached hereto 
and made a part hereof, or on a continuation thereof which shall 
be attached hereto and made a part hereof, or otherwise recorded 
by such holder in its internal records; provided that any failure 
of the holder hereof to make such a notation or any error in such 
notation shall not in any manner affect the obligation of the 
Company to make payments of principal and interest in accordance 
with the terms of this Note and the Credit Agreement. 
 
        "Business Day" shall mean any day (other than a day which 
is a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday in the State of New York) 
on which banks are open for business in New York City; provided 



that, when used in connection with a Eurodollar Loan (as defined 
in the Credit Agreement), the term "Business Day" shall also 
exclude any day on which banks are not open for dealings in 
dollar deposits in the London interbank market. 
 
        This Note is one of the Notes referred to in the Credit 
Agreement which, among other things, contains provisions for the 
acceleration of the maturity hereof upon the happening of certain 
events, for optional and mandatory prepayment of the principal 
hereof prior to the maturity thereof and for the amendment or 
waiver of certain provisions of the Credit Agreement, all upon 
the terms and conditions therein specified.  THIS NOTE SHALL BE 
CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH AND GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF THE 
STATE OF NEW YORK AND ANY APPLICABLE LAWS OF THE UNITED STATES OF 
AMERICA. 
 
 
                              TREDEGAR INDUSTRIES, INC., 
 
 
                              By                                         
                                Title: 
 
                           Loans and Payments 
 
 
                                  Payments            Unpaid    Name of 
                                                     Principal  Person 
  Amount        Maturity                              Balance   Making 
 of Loan          Date      Principal    Interest     of Note  Notation 
 
 
 
                                                               EXHIBIT C 
 
 
                      Administrative Questionnaire 
 
 
                        TREDEGAR INDUSTRIES, INC. 
                            Credit Agreement 
 
NOTE TO PARTICIPANTS:    PLEASE FORWARD THIS COMPLETED FORM AS SOON 
                         AS POSSIBLE TO [NAME OF OFFICER] 
                         ____________ DEPT., LTCB TRUST COMPANY, 
                         165 BROADWAY, 49TH FLOOR, NEW YORK, NEW 
                         YORK 10006.  PLEASE TYPE ALL INFORMATION. 
 
AGENT:                   LTCB Trust Company 
                         165 Broadway 
                         New York, N.Y. 10006 
 
TELEX:                   NY:          Answerback:        
 
TELECOPIER:              (212) 608-2371        (212)    -     
 
CONTACTS:                                      (212)    -             
 
                                               (212)    -              
                                             
 
 
Full Legal Name of your Bank:                                            
 
Exact name of signing officer:                                           
 
Title of signing officer:                                                
 
Business address for delivery of  
  execution copies of credit  
  agreement (Please do not use  
  P.O. Box address; hand  
  deliveries cannot be made.):                                           
 
                                                                         
 
 
Signing officer's phone no.:                                             
 
Alternate officer contact:                                               
 



Alternate officer's phone no.:                                           
 
                       PRIMARY CONTACT INFORMATION 
 
 
  We will send all telexes to a single number (the Primary or 
  Alternate Contact numbers listed below) at the banking 
  location you designate.  These contacts are those you desig- 
  nate for critical telexes (rates, loan amounts, paydowns, 
  etc.). 
 
  1. Your bank's primary contacts for telexes: 
 
                Primary    Primary    Alternate    Alternate 
Primary Name/              Telecopier Telex No. &  TelecopierTelex No. & 
Phone Number    Department Number     Answerback   Number    Answerback  
 
 
 
                                                                         
 
 
Alternate                  Primary    Primary      Alternate Alternate 
Name/                      Telecopier Telex No. &  TelecopierTelex No. & 
Phone Number    Department Number     Answerback   Number    Answerback  
 
 
 
                                                                         
 
 
        2.    While we will send all telexes to a single telex 
              number, we can also indicate that up to two 
              additional individuals should be carbon-copied when 
              the telex arrives at your bank.  Please designate 
              the individuals and departments you would like such 
              copies to be sent to (Note: they must be at the same 
              location): 
 
                         Name                  Department 
 
              (1)                                                        
 
              (2)                                                        
 
              (If at any time any of the above information 
              changes, please advise             at (212)    -     
              and                  at (212)    -    . 
 
Hard-copy documents and notices should be sent to the following 
account officer designated by your bank: 
 
 
Officer's Name:                                                          
 
Title:                                                                   
 
Street Address (No 
P.O. Boxes please):                                                      
 
City, State, Zip:                                                        
 
 
                     GENERAL OPERATIONAL INFORMATION 
 
 
Operating Contacts:              Name                  Phone No. 
 
Loan Department:                                                         
 
Loan Administrator:                                                      
 
Telex Operator:                                                          
 
Other:                                                                   
 
 
Movement of funds:  to us: Wire Fed Funds to: 
 
                   [Name of Clearing Bank] 
                   _______________________ Department 



                   _____________________ 
                   New York, New York _____ 
                   Attention: _____________ 
                   Reference: TREDEGAR INDUSTRIES, INC. 
 
              to you:                                                    
 
                                                                         
 
                                                                         
 
                                                                         
 
Publicity:    How would you like your bank's name to appear in any 
              tombstone advertisements? 
 
 
 
                                                               EXHIBIT D 
 
                    FORM OF ASSIGNMENT AND ACCEPTANCE 
 
                         Dated __________, 19__ 
 
        Reference is made to the Credit Agreement dated as of 
August 19, 1994 (as amended and in effect from time to time, the 
"Credit Agreement"), among Tredegar Industries, Inc., a Virginia 
corporation (the "Company"), the Banks (as defined in the Credit 
Agreement) and LTCB Trust Company, as agent for the Banks (in 
such capacity, the "Agent").  Capitalized terms used herein and 
not otherwise defined shall have the meanings assigned to such 
terms in the Credit Agreement. 
 
        __________________________ (the "Assignor") and 
___________________ (the "Assignee") agree as follows: 
 
        1.    The Assignor hereby sells and assigns to the 
Assignee, and the Assignee hereby purchases and assumes from the 
Assignor, a     % interest in and to all the Assignor's rights 
and obligations under the Credit Agreement as of the Assignment 
Date (as defined below) (including, without limitation, such 
percentage interest in the Commitment of the Assignor on the 
Assignment Date and such percentage interest in the Loans owing 
to the Assignor outstanding on the Assignment Date together with 
such percentage interest in all unpaid interest with respect to 
such Loans and such percentage interest in the Note held by the 
Assignor. 
 
        2.    The Assignor (i) represents that as of the date 
hereof, its Commitment (without giving effect to assignments 
thereof which have not yet become effective) is $          and 
the outstanding balance of its Loans (unreduced by any 
assignments thereof which have not yet become effective) is 
$____________________; (ii) makes no representation or warranty 
and assumes no responsibility with respect to any statements, 
warranties or representations made in or in connection with the 
Credit Agreement or the Loan Documents or the execution, 
legality, validity, enforceability, genuineness, sufficiency or 
value of the Credit Agreement or any other instrument or document 
furnished pursuant thereto, other than that it is the legal and 
beneficial owner of the interest being assigned by it hereunder 
and that such interest is free and clear of any adverse claim; 
(iii) makes no representation or warranty and assumes no 
responsibility with respect to the financial condition of the 
Company or the performance or observance by the Company of any of 
its obligations under the Credit Agreement or any other 
instrument or document furnished pursuant thereto and 
(iv) attaches the Note held by it and requests that the Agent 
exchange such Note for a new Note payable to the Assignee in a 
principal amount equal to 
                                          , and a new Note 
payable to the Assignor in a principal amount equal to 
                                          . 
        3.    The Assignee (i) represents and warrants that it is 
legally authorized to enter into this Assignment and Acceptance; 
(ii) confirms that it has received a copy of the Credit 
Agreement, together with copies of the most recent financial 
statements delivered pursuant to Section 3.4 or 5.4 thereof and 
such other documents and information as it has deemed appropriate 
to make its own credit analysis and decision to enter into this 
Assignment and Acceptance; (iii) agrees that it will, 



independently and without reliance upon the Agent, the Assignor 
or any other Bank and based on such documents and information as 
it shall deem appropriate at the time, continue to make its own 
credit decisions in taking or not taking action under the Credit 
Agreement; (iv) appoints and authorizes the Agent to take such 
action as agent on its behalf and to exercise such powers under 
the Credit Agreement as are delegated to the Agent by the terms 
thereof, together with such powers as are reasonably incidental 
thereto; (v) agrees that it will perform in accordance with their 
terms all the obligations which by the terms of the Credit 
Agreement are required to be performed by it as a Bank; and 
(vi) agrees that it will keep confidential all information with 
respect to the Company furnished to it by the Company or the 
Assignor (other than information generally available to the 
public or otherwise available to the Assignor on a 
nonconfidential basis and other than disclosures to bank 
regulatory authorities and otherwise as required by law or in 
connection with the enforcement of the Loan Documents) and 
(vii) attaches the forms prescribed by the Internal Revenue 
Service of the United States certifying as to the Assignee's 
exemption from United States withholding taxes with respect to 
all payments to be made to the Assignee under the Credit 
Agreement or such other documents as are necessary to indicate 
that all such payments are subject to such tax at a rate reduced 
by an applicable tax treaty).1 
 
        4.    The effective date for this Assignment and 
Acceptance shall be ____________________ (the "Assignment 
Date").2  Following the execution of this Assignment and 
Acceptance, it will be delivered to the Agent for acceptance and 
recording by the Agent pursuant to Section 9.4(e) of the Credit 
Agreement. 
 
________________ 
 
1 If the Assignee is organized under the laws of a jurisdiction 
  outside the United States. 
 
2 See Section 9.4.  Such date shall be at least five Business 
  Days after the execution of this Assignment and Acceptance and 
  delivery thereof to the Agent. 
 
        5.    Upon such acceptance and recording, from and after 
the Assignment Date, (i) the Assignee shall be a party to the 
Credit Agreement and, to the extent provided in this Assignment 
and Acceptance, have the rights and obligations of a Bank 
thereunder and (ii) the Assignor shall, to the extent provided in 
this Assignment and Acceptance, relinquish its rights and be 
released from its obligations under the Credit Agreement. 
 
        6.    Upon such acceptance and recording, from and after 
the Assignment Date, the Agent shall make all payments in respect 
of the interest assigned hereby (including payments of principal, 
interest, fees and other amounts) to the Assignee.  The Assignor 
and Assignee shall make all appropriate adjustments in payments 
for periods prior to the Assignment Date by the Agent or with 
respect to the making of this assignment directly between 
themselves. 
 
        7.    THIS ASSIGNMENT AND ACCEPTANCE SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, 
AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW 
YORK. 
 
                                       [NAME OF ASSIGNOR], 
 
                                       By                                
                                         Title: 
 
 
                                       [NAME OF ASSIGNEE], 
 
                                       By                                
                                         Title: 
 
Accepted this     day 
of            , 19 
 
 
LTCB TRUST COMPANY, as Agent 
 
 



By________________________ 
  Title: 
 
EXHIBIT E 
 
 
           Form of Opinion of Corporate Counsel to the Company 
 
 
 
 
                                 [Closing Date] 
 
 
 
To the Agent and Banks listed in Schedule 2.1 
of the Credit Agreement referred to below 
In care of LTCB Trust Company, as Agent 
165 Broadway 
New York, New York 10006 
 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 
 
I am Corporate Counsel to Tredegar Industries, Inc., a Virginia 
corporation (the "Company"), and have acted as counsel to the 
Company in connection with the Credit Agreement (as the same may 
be modified, amended, extended or restated from time to time, the 
"Credit Agreement") dated as of _________, 1994, among the 
Company and the Banks named in the Credit Agreement and LTCB Tust 
Company, as Agent, providing for loans to be made to the Company 
in an aggregate principal amount up to but not exceeding 
$35,000,000.  Unless otherwise noted, terms defined in the Credit 
Agreement are used herein as defined therein. 
 
In connection with the foregoing, I have reviewed the Credit 
Agreement and the forms of the Notes.  I have also examined and 
relied upon copies, certified or otherwise authenticated to my 
satisfaction, of documents reflecting corporate action of the 
Company with respect to the Credit Agreement and certificates of 
public officials, and have reviewed such other documents and 
matters of law as I have deemed necessary to enable me to express 
the opinions set forth herein.  As to questions of fact material 
to my opinion, I have relied upon certificates of officers of the 
Company and representations in the Credit Agreement by the 
Company. 
 
I do not purport to express an opinion on any laws other than 
those of the Commonwealth of Virginia and the United States of 
America, except that I have assumed that the laws of the State of 
New York are the same as the Commonwealth of Virginia with 
respect to the opinions expressed in Paragraph 3 below. 
 
Based upon and subject to the foregoing, and to the further 
limitations and qualifications stated below, I am of the opinion 
that: 
 
           1.   Each of the Company and the Subsidiaries of the 
     Company listed on Schedule 3.7 (Part I) of the Credit 
     Agreement (the "United States Subsidiaries" and each a 
     "United States Subsidiary") (a) is a corporation duly 
     incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under 
     the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation and is 
     duly qualified to transact business in each state where the 
     failure to so qualify would have a material effect on the 
     business or financial condition of the Company and the 
     Subsidiaries taken as a whole and (b) has all requisite 
     power and authority to own its property and assets and to 
     carry on its business as now conducted and as proposed to be 
     conducted.  The Company has the necessary corporate power to 
     enter into and perform its obligations under the Credit 
     Agreement and the Notes and to borrow under the Credit 
     Agreement. 
 
           2.   The execution and delivery by the Company of, and 
     the performance by the Company of its obligations under, the 
     Credit Agreement and the Notes, the borrowings by the 
     Company under the Credit Agreement (a) have been duly 
     authorized by all necessary corporate action of the Company 
     and all requisite stockholder action, and do not and will 
     not violate any provision of the articles of incorporation 
     or by-laws of the Company or any United States Subsidiary or 



     any provision of law or regulation, including Regulations G, 
     U and X, (b) do not, to the best of my knowledge, result in 
     the breach of, or constitute a default or require any 
     consent under, or result in the creation of any Lien upon 
     any of its properties, revenues or assets pursuant to, any 
     indenture or other agreement or instrument to which the 
     Company or any United States Subsidiary is a party or by 
     which the Company or any United States Subsidiary or their 
     properties may be bound, or (c) result in the creation or 
     imposition of any Lien upon property or assets of the 
     Company or any United States Subsidiary except Liens 
     permitted by Section 6.1 of the Credit Agreement. 
 
           3.   The Credit Agreement constitutes the legal, valid 
     and binding obligation of the Company enforceable in 
     accordance with its terms, and the Notes when executed and 
     delivered for value will constitute its legal, valid and 
     binding obligations enforceable in accordance with their 
     respective terms, except, in each case, as such 
     enforceability may be limited by (a) bankruptcy, insolvency, 
     reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws of general 
     applicability affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights 
     and (b) the application of general principles of equity 
     (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in 
     a proceeding in equity or at law). 
 
           4.   To the best of my knowledge, there are no legal or 
     arbitral proceedings, and no proceedings by or before any 
     Governmental Authority, pending or threatened against or 
     affecting the Company or any properties or rights of the 
     Company that, if adversely determined, would have a material 
     adverse effect on (a) the financial condition, operations or 
     business of the Company, or (b) the ability of the Company 
     to perform any of its obligations under the Loan Documents 
     or the Transactions or any rights or remedies available to 
     the Banks under the Loan Documents. 
 
           5.   No authorizations, consents, approvals, licenses, 
     filings or registrations, with any Governmental Authority 
     are required in connection with the execution, delivery or 
     performance by the Company of its obligations under the 
     Credit Agreement or the Notes, other than those the failure 
     of which to obtain would not give rise to a Material Adverse 
     Effect. 
 
           6.   To the best of my knowledge, neither the Company 
     nor any of the United States Subsidiaries is in violation of 
     any law, rule or regulation, or in default with respect to 
     any judgment, writ, injunction or decree of any Governmental 
     Authority, where such violation or default could result in a 
     Material Adverse Effect. 
 
           7.   Neither the Company nor any United States 
     Subsidiary is (a) an "investment company" as defined in, or 
     subject to regulation under, the Investment Company Act of 
     1940 or (b) a "holding company" as defined in, or subject to 
     regulation under, the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 
     1935. 
 
I have not been asked to and do not express any opinion with 
respect to any matters except as expressly set forth above.  This 
opinion is solely for your benefit and may not be distributed to 
or relied upon by any other person, quoted in whole or in part or 
otherwise reproduced in any other document without my prior 
written consent (or that of my successor as Corporate Counsel). 
 
                                 Very truly yours, 
 
 
 
                                 Nancy M. Taylor 



Exhibit 11 - Computations of Earnings per Share 
 
                   Tredegar Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
                    (In thousands, except per-share amounts) 
                                   (Unaudited) 
 
                                          Third Quarter Ended  Nine Months Ended   
                                            September  30        September 30     
                                            1994      1993       1994     1993    
                                                               
Income (loss) from continuing operations  $  (278)   $ 1,145    $(2,297)  $   3,529  
Income from discontinued operations        26,753      1,162     37,218       5,157  
Net income before extraordinary item 
   and cumulative effect of changes in 
   accounting principles                   26,475      2,307     34,921       8,686  
Extraordinary item                              -          -          -      (1,115) 
Cumulative effect of changes in accounting 
   for postretirement benefits other than 
   pensions (net of tax) and income taxes       -          -          -         150  
Net income                               $26,475     $ 2,307    $34,921   $   7,721  
 
Earnings per share as reported: 
   Income(loss)from continuing operations$  (.02)    $   .10    $  (.21)  $     .32  
   Income from discontinued operations      2.52         .11       3.47         .48  
   Net income before extraordinary items 
     and cumulative effect of changes in 
     accounting principles                 2.50          .21       3.26         .80  
   Extraordinary item                         -            -          -        (.10) 
   Changes in accounting principles           -            -          -         .01  
   Net income                           $  2.50      $   .21    $  3.26   $     .71  
 
PRIMARY EARNINGS PER SHARE: 
Shares issuable upon the assumed exercise 
   of outstanding stock options (1)          86           14         45          34  
Weighted average common shares outstanding 
   during period                         10,590       10,895     10,735      10,895  
Weighted average common shares and 
   common stock equivalents              10,676       10,909     10,780      10,929  
Primary earnings per share (2)          $  2.48      $   .21    $  3.24   $     .71  
 
FULLY DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE: 
Shares issuable upon the assumed exercise 
   of outstanding stock options (3)         117           20        109          34  
Weighted average common shares outstanding 
   during period                         10,590        10,895     10,735      10,895  
Weighted average common shares and 
   common stock equivalents              10,707        10,915     10,844      10,929  
Fully diluted earnings per share (2)    $  2.47       $   .21    $  3.22   $     .71  
 
(1)     Computed using the average market price during the related period. 
(2)     Common stock equivalents had an immaterial dilutive effect. 
(3)     Computed using the higher of the average market price during the related period and the 
        market price at the end of the related period. 
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THE SCHEDULE CONTAINS SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION EXTRACTED FROM THE BALANCE 
SHEET FOR THE PERIOD ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 1994 AND THE STATEMENT OF INCOME FOR 
THE QUARTER ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 1994 AND IS QUALIFIED IN ITS ENTIRETY BY 
REFERENCE TO SUCH FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. 
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